Exploring the emotional experience of organizational change over time: The case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals

### Preface and acknowledgements

This PhD project was carried out at the Department of Psychology at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), but funded by Trondheim Business School (TBS). Data access to the research case was granted through participation in the research programme "Effective Introduction of Information and Communication Technologies in Hospitals" at the Department of Industrial Economics and Technology Management (IOT) in NTNU in the early phase of this PhD project. Throughout this PhD project I also, on two occasions, spent some time as a visiting student at The School of Management and Organizational Psychology, Birkbeck, University of London. These visits were funded by TBS and the international section at NTNU.

First of all, thanks to my supervisor, Per Øystein Saksvik, for being supportive throughout this process; and to my second supervisor, Endre Sjøvold, for including me in his research programme and for facilitating data access to the research case. I would also like to thank Rob Briner for facilitating my stay at Birkbeck, for reading several drafts of my work, and for showing me around all the great places to eat in London! Thanks to Ragnhild Hellesø for reading numerous versions of the second paper, for endlessly providing me with nursing references, and for being so kind and encouraging. Furthermore, thanks to all the nurses who contributed to this research and especially to two individuals in particular, whose identity cannot be revealed in order to ensure the promised anonymity, who were always helpful and made time to respond to all my questions in their busy schedules. Thanks also to everyone at "The Norwegian Electronic Health Record Research Centre" (NSEP), where I spent some time at the beginning of the project, who may not work in the same research area, but who always made me feel at home and invited me to some great parties!

Secondly, I would also like to thank my colleagues and friends at TBS; in particular Tor Busch, without whose encouragement to apply for the PhD scholarship I do not think I would have ended up in a Business School, and Ove Gustafsson, who is possibly the most flexible and supportive Head of School I have ever come across. Thanks also to Grete and Erlend; but most of all to Tina for all the chats and coffee breaks when I was fed up and bored with work.

Finally, and most importantly, thanks to Jostein, who knows all too well the emotional experience of doing a PhD.

# Abstract

This thesis aimed to explore employees' emotional change-experiences from a contextual, and bottom-up, point of view as they evolved over time, from anticipation to retrospection; as well as to explore specific negative emotional change-experiences in depth. This followed the identification of two limitations which pointed to the limited acknowledgement of context in the organizational, managerial and change literature. The two limitations were: "a one-sided and biased perspective on negative emotional experiences" and "emotional experiences portrayed as predictable reactions that occur in distinct stages over time". Furthermore, the present thesis also emerged out of the fact that there is a shortage of contributions in this literature that have empirically investigated the emotional anticipation of change and/or the evolving emotional change-experience from anticipation to retrospection.

A qualitative study, informed by the theoretical perspective of Lazarus (1991), was carried out to explore the emotional change-experiences of nursing staff facing the introduction of electronic care plans (ECPs), as well as some organizational re-structuring, at their ward. In addition to some participant observation at the ward, a selected group of nursing staff was interviewed one month prior to implementation (anticipation) and then re-interviewed twice: three months after implementation and one year after implementation (retrospection).

The findings of this study were presented in three papers that were guided by the following set of research questions:

- "What kinds of emotional responses were reported in the context of anticipating organizational change, and what were the perceived causes of the emotional responses being reported?" (Paper 1);
- "Which negative emotional experiences were reported in the context of experiencing organizational change, and what were the perceived causes of the negative emotional experiences being reported?" (Paper 2);
- 3. "How did the emotional experiences in the two contrasting perspectives of anticipating and retrospectively looking back on change compare, and how could the ways in which the emotional experiences evolved from anticipation to retrospection be explained in the local context of change?" (Paper 3).

The findings reported in the first paper indicated that the emotional experience of anticipating organizational change was highly multifaceted, involving positive, negative, ambivalent and hesitant emotional experiences, both between as well as within individuals. Furthermore, the respondents reported that they experienced their emotional experiences as very much an ongoing process. There was no indication of resistance, and the emotional experiences were found to revolve around different aspects of the envisioned change process, maintaining professional standards in the future, and their everyday work situation following the anticipated change.

The second paper presented the negative emotional experiences that were reported three months after the changes had been introduced. It was evident that, although a wide range of different and specific negative emotional experiences were reported (e.g. fear, hatred, and sadness), none of these seemed to indicate resistance to change, but related to poor managerial planning with regards to the changes and the ways in which the change process was handled. Furthermore, the respondents reported a range of negative emotional experiences in relation to struggling to maintain already established professional standards following change. In relation to this, it was also evident that the respondents adopted strategies, such as working unpaid overtime, in order to uphold professional standards, rather than overtly objecting to a difficult change situation.

The third paper found that, although a range of different emotional experiences were reported at the anticipative versus the retrospective point in time, there were also a range of similarities, indicating that no clear pattern could be detected from anticipation to retrospection. At the same time there was a continued, and to some extent increasing, presence of negative emotional experiences, as well as a sense of resignation, at the retrospective point in time. This could be explained by aspects of the local change process (e.g. feeling let down by management) as well as wider societal trends (e.g. the perception that technological innovations and change are inevitable).

In conclusion, the findings of the present thesis showed, firstly, that emotional changeexperiences were highly multifaceted (e.g. positive, negative, ambivalent, and hesitant) both prior to (anticipation) and after (retrospection) change had been introduced; something which indicated that they did not evolve according to a fixed pattern over time. Secondly, it was found that negative emotional change-experiences, when explored in depth prior to, during and after change had occurred, did not reveal a general unwillingness to change. Both of these findings were further supported by the fact that emotional change-experiences at all three points in time were found to relate to quite specific aspects of the particular change context, as well as to wider societal trends. Hence, it is suggested that both future change interventions and empirical studies should be more open to the potential range and complexity of emotional change-experiences, and focus more upon the particular change-context.

# List of papers

#### Paper 1

Giæver, F. (2007). 'Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change: The case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals', *International Journal of Work Organization and Emotion*, 2, pp. 49-70.

#### Paper 2

Giæver, F. & Hellesø, R. (submitted). 'Negative experiences of organizational change from an emotions perspective: A qualitative study of the Norwegian nursing sector'.

#### Paper 3

Giæver, F. (submitted). 'Looking forwards and back: The evolving emotional change-experience'.

# Table of contents

P	reface	and acknowledgements	I			
A	bstrac	t	II			
L	List of papers Table of contents					
T						
F	Figures and tablesVIII					
1		roduction				
	1.1	A one-sided and biased perspective on negative emotional experiences				
	1.2	Emotional experiences portrayed as predictable reactions that occur in distinct				
	stages	over time				
	1.3	Aims and contributions of the study	8			
2	Tei	minology and theoretical perspective of the thesis	10			
	2.1	Emotional experiences defined	10			
	2.2	Theoretical perspective on emotional change-experiences	12			
	2.3	Positive and negative emotional change-experiences	15			
	2.4	Anticipative and retrospective emotional change-experiences	16			
3	Res	search questions	18			
4	Me	thods	20			
	4.1	Methodological perspective	20			
	4.1	1 Some implications for reliability and generalization	21			
	4.2	Research strategy	21			
	4.3	The research context (case)	23			
	4.4	The changes at Ward A and their rationale				
	4.5	Data collection methods				
	4.5					
	4.6	Data material and analysis in the different papers				
	4.7	Ethical considerations				
	4.8	Methodological challenges				
	4.8					
	4.8					
5		dings				
3						
	5.1	Summary of field notes	40			

5.2	Findings from paper I						
5.3	Findings from paper II						
5.4	Findings from paper III						
6 Ger	eral discussion						
6.1	Discussion of the findings						
6.1.	1 Multifaceted emotional experiences over time						
6.1.	2 Negative emotional experiences over time and their content						
6.2	Theoretical considerations						
6.2.	1 The concept of emotional experiences						
6.2.	2 The construct of appraisal						
6.3	Implications and further research						
Referen	ces						
Papers.	Papers						
Paper	Paper I						
Paper II91							
Paper	III						
Append	X						
Letter	from co-author						

# Figures and tables

Table 1 Summary of data collection activities	28
Table 2 Summary of data material that contributed to the three papers	31

### **1** Introduction

Today's organizations increasingly seem to be characterized by ongoing, parallel and overlapping change to meet the challenges of globalization and to keep up with the constant development of technological innovations (Albert et al., 2000). It has, however, been claimed that up to only 30 per cent of major change projects are successful, and that most change projects do not proceed as planned (Beer & Nohria, 2000; Saksvik et al. 2007); something which has led to a recurring interest in trying to understand why. In relation to this, a great deal of attention has been paid to human factors, or the role played by the responses or actions of the employees in the organization (Burke, 2002). One example is the implementation of new technology in hospitals, where unsuccessful change projects have been understood to be caused by employees' inherent tendency either to fight or flight change (Lorenzi et al., 1997), their negative attitudes (Lowry, 1994; Murphy et al., 1994), misconceptions (Malato & Kim, 2004), or resistance to change (Lorenzi & Riley, 2000a; 2000b). Following the interest in trying to understand employees' responses and actions as the causes of unsuccessful change projects, there has in recent years been an increased focus on employees' affective or emotional experiences in particular. It has, for instance, been assumed that emotions surface more frequently, and that they are more intense, during change as opposed to non-change situations (Huy, 1999). As a consequence, managers have been warned that the mapping of 'emotional data' is as important as understanding operational and numerical variables in order to manage change in an effective way (Duck, 2001).

The present thesis emerged out of the assumption that the situation of continuous and ongoing organizational change in today's organizations has important consequences for employees' emotional experiences, not only in the present, but also as they both anticipate and look back on change(s) in retrospect; and that emotional change-experiences are likely to feed into one another over time. Furthermore, this thesis proceeds from the observation that there are at least two limitations to the ways in which employees' emotional change-experiences have been, directly or indirectly, dealt with and understood, and the assumptions that have been made in the organizational, managerial, and change literature. By 'indirectly', it is implied that the topic of emotions is still relatively new and developing in the organizational literature (Ashkanasy et al., 2002), and that many contributions within this literature still do not seem to demonstrate a full grasp of the psychology of emotion. Hence, emotional content is often only assumed or indirectly dealt with (please see section 2.1. for a definition of emotion).

The two identified limitations were:

- 1. A one-sided and biased perspective on negative emotional experiences;
- 2. Emotional experiences portrayed as predictable reactions that occur in distinct stages over time.

The first limitation has already been pointed out by Kiefer (2005; 2002a; 2002b). However, the focus of the present thesis is that both of these limitations point to the fact that the role played by context has not been properly acknowledged. Context has been defined in several ways (see e.g. Johns, 2006; 2001; Cappeli & Sherer, 1991; Mowday & Sutton, 1993), but the general idea is that human beings are assumed to relate intentionally and actively to external events, situations, and relationships (context). However, in this particular thesis, context is not viewed as some kind of external stimulus that has a separate identity from, and in turn affects, human experiences, responses, and behaviour from the outside in; but is rather seen as part and parcel of, and hence something that gives meaning to, individual experiences and responses (Jaeger & Rosnow, 1988; Bhaskar, 1983).

The two identified limitations, and the ways in which they point to the lacking or limited acknowledgement of context, will be elaborated in the following two sections. This will be followed by a presentation of the aims and intended contributions to the literature of the empirical study to be presented in the present thesis.

# 1.1 A one-sided and biased perspective on negative emotional experiences

This limitation is twofold. On the one hand, it points to the fact that the majority of the contributions to the organizational and change literature tend, directly or indirectly, to focus mainly on employees' negative emotional change-experiences, ignoring the occurrence and potential role of positive emotions. On the other hand, it also points to the concepts that are being adopted and the ways in which negative experiences are typically explored. These two issues are somewhat related, and the ways in which they point to the lacking or limited acknowledgement of context will be discussed below.

There are several examples from the literature, e.g. the concern with employee stress (Cartwright & Cooper, 1992), survivor sickness (Marks & Mirvis, 1992), and resistance (Kotter & Schlesinger, 1992; Oreg, 2003), which point to the one-sided focus on employees' negative experiences of, and responses to, organizational change. There may be several reasons why the role played by positive emotions has almost been ignored, but one explanation may be the somewhat simplistic but common assumption that negative emotions have more negative consequences for the organization during change than positive emotions (Kiefer, 2002b), and that they should therefore be particularly focused upon.

Another related explanation that appears when exploring popular concepts in the managerial and change literature in depth is that it is almost taken as a premise that employees are bound to feel negatively about change. This follows on from the assumption of most of the contributions to the resistance literature that resistance is to do with people's tendencies to react in a certain way, their biological dispositions, and/or their inherent personality type (Dent & Goldberg, 1999). In the managerial and change literature it has for instance been argued that "*it seems to be part of the human makeup to be most comfortable with the status quo unless it is actually inflicting discomfort*" (Lorenzi & Riley, 2000b, p. 165); and that resistance "*may be experienced internally within the individual for no obvious reason*" (Bovey & Hede, 2001, p. 536). Furthermore, it has been suggested that resistance is due to employees not understanding what the changes are about and/or that they have a low tolerance for change (Kotter & Schlesinger, 1992), and that the tendency to resist is due to an individual disposition (Oreg, 2003).

However, it is still seen as the job of the manager to guide and control employees' emotions from the top-down so that change can proceed as planned (Lorenzi & Riley, 2000a; 2000b; Grensing, 1991); something which appears rather contradictory considering that emotions are fundamentally understood not to be very susceptible to circumstantial influence following their intra-psychic nature. Inherent to this strand of thinking is the notion that emotional experiences in general are some kind of private and irrational phenomena, and hence that they represent a disturbance, and negative consequences, to the rational arena of work, where the main purpose is to obtain set goals and maximize profit (Fineman, 2000). Acting in a 'businesslike' manner is, for instance, very often equated with keeping emotions at bay.

Both of these explanations point to the fact that the role played by context or circumstantial factors has almost been ignored due to an overemphasis on the intra-psychic dimensions of the individual. Recent contributions have, however, argued that it may be more reasonable to expect that employees' emotional change-experiences will be mixed, as well as likely to unfold over time, depending upon the continuously changing circumstances of the local work situation and of the specific change process (Fineman, 2004). In some cases, such as when current work conditions are unfavourable and when change represents a hope for a better future, employees may feel positively about change at work. Furthermore, some empirical studies of employees' emotional change-experiences in particular have also found that employees experienced positive and negative as well as ambivalent emotions in the event of organizational change; and that negative emotions during change do not necessarily have negative consequences for the organization/individual (Kiefer, 2002a; 2002b).

In line with this, it has also been argued that the continuous adoption of a concept such as resistance can actually undermine potential insight into specific emotional experiences and the ways in which they can be explained in the context of change. This follows the argument that concepts such as resistance are too broad and general, and hence not specific enough to capture the richness and complexity of employees' actual experiences and how they link to specific occurrences in their work environment:

"Resistance can encompass anything and everything that workers do which managers do not want them to do, and that workers do not do that managers wish them to do. It can take in both collective and individual actions; it can embrace actions that are specifically designed to thwart management, and those which may not be" (O'Connell Davidson, 1994, p. 69).

This issue becomes particularly prevalent when considering that, in the wider psychological literature, where more specific conceptualizations of negative emotions have been adopted, it has been found that the nature and consequences of negative emotional experiences are possibly more complex than is assumed in the managerial and change literature. It has, for instance, been maintained that negative emotions have some important functions because they can tell us a lot about what individuals care about, their concerns, and what they consider to be important (Landman, 1996). Empirical studies have also found that negative moods can lead to more attentive, careful and analytic processing (Alloy & Abramson, 1979), and hence

represent some positive consequences. Furthermore, although there are not many empirical studies from an organizational change context, the studies of Kiefer (2005; 2002a; 2002b) indicated that negative emotional experiences did not express resistance, or represent an obstruction to change, but emerged as a consequence of not being able to do one's job properly, and the extra hassle involved in maintaining already established standards for work following organizational change.

With regards to the top-down managerial perspective typically adopted in the managerial and change literature, and the undermining of the role played by context, it has recently also been argued that the persistent adoption of intra-psychic explanations (e.g. the understanding that it is part of human nature to resist change) may also be seen as the reflection of some kind of managerial agenda, where the general idea is that management needs someone (employees) to blame when change projects fail, or do not proceed as planned (Piderit, 2000); something which obscures the role that managerial actions play in initiating changes that may not be constructive or in creating a problematic change process. In relation to this, recent accounts have argued that the reciprocal relationship between employees and managers should not be ignored, as management may themselves provoke experiences, responses, and actions in employees (Smollan, 2006). It is possible that employees who were initially positive about change, but are blamed by managers for problems occurring during its implementation, turn against the change project as a strategy to get even with management. In this way, managers may provoke resistance that was not there in the first place, and that is not about the change initiatives themselves.

# 1.2 Emotional experiences portrayed as predictable reactions that occur in distinct stages over time.

When it comes to the ways in which emotional experiences have been understood to occur over time, they have typically been depicted in rather predictable and distinct stages by the managerial and change literature. In this literature, emotional experiences and responses are, explicitly or implicitly, assumed to follow some kind of emotional curve; where the initial news of change is experienced negatively (e.g. resistance), followed by an additional 'dip' characterized by an increased frequency and intensity of negative experiences/reactions and decreased work performance, and finally a sense of normality, growth and increased efficiency being resumed as change is eventually embraced by employees (Elrod & Tippett, 2002).

The notion of 'emotional curves', 'stage models' or 'change curves' is largely inspired by the literature on death and dying (Kübler-Ross, 1969; Fink, 1967), where it is assumed that individuals faced by organizational change go through very much the same emotional experiences as when facing some kind of crisis such as bereavement or the news of terminal illness. In the bereavement literature it is maintained that the grieving process involves the stages of shock/denial (as the news of loss is received), anger, bargaining/attempts to postpone the inevitable, depression, and acceptance (Kübler-Ross, 1969); or shock, defensive retreat, acknowledgement, and adaptation and change (Fink, 1967). Here a central notion is that each stage has to be worked through in order to reach the next stage(s), and that although the experience of death and dying may represent a profound crisis, associated with pain and anxiety, this experience may after a while, as the different stages are worked through, also represent an opportunity for growth and the chance of reaching a profound positive life experience.

There are several examples of the ways in which these ideas have been transferred to the context of organizational change. Deal and Kennedy (1982) suggested that managers should initiate certain rituals to recognize the loss involved in organizational change, and it was argued that that this was essential in order for employees to overcome the loss and to move forward and embrace the new situation. On the other hand, Bridges (1986; 2003) claimed that organizational change fails or succeeds on the basis of whether employees go through the different emotions associated with the stages or phases of ending and letting go, going through the 'neutral zone', and making a new beginning. Here the different stages are assumed to be associated with experiences and emotions such as denial, anger, disorientation, anxiety (ending and letting go); increased anxiety, decreased motivation, loss ('neutral zone'); and a sense of new understanding/identity, relief, and ambivalence (new beginning).

It can be argued that these models or curves show lacking or limited attention to the role played by context in at least four ways. Firstly, one may ask whether it is really feasible to draw a comparison between experiences of bereavement, loss of a loved one, or dying and the experience of organizational change. Although work may be very important to people, and fill their lives with meaning and a sense of purpose, it can after all be expected that the frequency and intensity of negative emotions is higher in the event of, say, the death of a spouse or facing incurable cancer compared to the event of organizational change. Hence, the experience of death and dying may not necessarily be transferred directly to other contexts, such as the context of work.

Secondly, it can be argued that, in the real world, consisting of messy and complex relationships, emotional experiences do not emerge as 'one-off' phenomena, consisting of neat and clear-cut reactions that follow an almost recipe-based predictable curve. Negative emotional experiences may take on an accelerating nature and become toxic (Frost, 2007) depending on the ways in which they are handled by management throughout a change process.

Thirdly, stage models also seem to adopt a very narrow perspective on change, where change is depicted to be an objective phenomenon with a clear beginning and end that employees are affected by or respond to in rather passive ways. This ignores the fact that employees may also be seen as active creators of the work environment they inhabit, as well as of change processes, through their interpretations and actions (Isabella, 1990; Wrzesniewski & Dutton, 2001). The anticipation of change, and the expectations involved, may have some important consequences for how the actual change process is experienced. According to Fineman (2004), emotions may not only be seen as the outcome of organizational change, but will also "*shape the anticipation, the experience and the aftermath of change*" (p. 120).

Fourthly, stage models can also be criticized for being too simplistic and optimistic (Jick, 1990; Burke, 2002). These models or curves seem to assume, implicitly or explicitly, progress where change is generally viewed as being for the better. Here employees' emotions are assumed to change from negative to positive as they understand the inherent possibilities in the change and embrace it, regardless of what this change really is and/or what it involves under the specific local circumstances.

Finally, it is also worth mentioning that there are very few studies that have actually investigated employees' emotional change-experiences over time empirically. Furthermore, empirical studies have typically focused attention on employees' emotional experiences after change has already occurred (e.g. Kiefer, 2002a; 2002b), not explicitly accounting for the emotional anticipation of organizational change and the ways in which this emotional

anticipation may affect the change process and feed into subsequent emotional experiences. One exception is Fugate et al. (2002), who examined how employees were coping over the four stages of a merger: at an anticipatory stage (where no changes had yet taken place), at the initial change stage, at the final change stage, and at an aftershock stage. The research took place over a period of approximately one year. Here it was hypothesized that the frequency and intensity of negative emotions would increase throughout the change process, but this hypothesis was not supported, as there were no significant changes in negative emotions over the four investigated stages of change.

#### 1.3 Aims and contributions of the study

The empirical study of the present thesis intended to contribute to the literature outlined above, and, following the two identified limitations, had two aims. The first aim was to explore employees' emotional experiences of organizational change through adopting a theoretical perspective and a methodological approach that allowed for the exploration of specific emotional experiences and the ways in which they relate to the context surrounding the individual experiencing the emotion. This followed from the fact that the concepts that have typically been employed in the literature to explore employees' emotional changeexperiences, e.g. resistance, have tended to be very broad and general, with emotional content only being allowed to appear somewhat indirectly; meaning that specific emotional experiences have not been fully explored. Furthermore, these concepts have seemed to focus mainly on the inherent features of the individual, underemphasizing the role played by specific events, situations and relationships (context). Through adopting a more contextuallyoriented perspective, the study intended to open up to the fact that organizational change might be experienced positively as well as negatively, and to explore the content of negative emotional change-experiences in depth (please see also section 2.3). Finally, it was intended for the present study to build on the studies of Kiefer (2002a; 2002b), as these studies represent relatively rare contributions to the literature when it comes to exploring employees' specific emotions, as well as their causes and potential consequences from the bottom-up in a particular change context. Considering that the specific emotional change-experiences of employees from a contextual point of view has not been the subject of much research, it is both important, and interesting to see whether the findings of existing studies transfer to other contexts of work and organizational change, and to explore potential similarities and differences.

The second aim was to adopt a theoretical and methodological approach that allowed for a contextually-oriented exploration of specific emotional experiences as they evolve over time throughout a change process from anticipation (prior to a shift in actual circumstances) to retrospection (after changes have occurred). Here the aim was to explore potential differences and similarities between the different perspectives of emotionally anticipating and retrospectively looking back on change, as well as the ways in which anticipative and retrospective emotional change-experiences feed into one another over time (please see also section 2.4). This aim develops the studies of Kiefer (2002a; 200b), which adopted a retrospective perspective where employees' emotional change-experiences were explored after change had occurred. It also flows on from the fact that 'stage models', or the notion of 'emotional change curves' have neither acknowledged the role played by context (taking into account both past and anticipated events and the ways in which these are bound to affect emotional experiences in the present at any point in time) nor been the subject of much empirical research.

## 2 Terminology and theoretical perspective of the thesis

The following sections will provide a definition of the term 'emotional experiences', and the theoretical perspective that was adopted to explore employees' emotional change-experiences in the empirical study to be presented in this thesis. Furthermore, the concepts of positive versus negative and anticipative versus retrospective emotional change-experiences will be explored and defined, as these terms were central to the focus and research aims of the present thesis/study.

#### 2.1 Emotional experiences defined

The term 'emotions', and what it implies, is familiar in everyday language; but is still very often only vaguely understood, and has been approached in several different ways (Callahan & McCollum, 2002). The following section is therefore an attempt to define what is meant by emotions, and to clarify the ways in which the phenomenon of emotions was understood and employed in this particular thesis/study through the adoption of the term 'emotional experiences'.

When it comes to understanding, exploring, and classifying emotions there are two main approaches: to focus on common underlying dimensions (e.g. positive versus negative emotions), or to focus on discrete emotions such as pride, anger, and joy (Pekrun & Frese, 1992). Both approaches are associated with certain advantages and disadvantages. It has, for instance, been argued that the dimensional approach provides conceptual economy, and hence provides more of an overview; while the discrete emotions approach remains closer to the factual emotional life of individuals.

The characteristics of discrete emotions may best be described through comparing discrete emotions to other related affect terms such as moods and emotionally-laden judgements, as there seems to be no universally agreed definition of what discrete emotions really are (Briner, 1999; 1997). Whereas moods are typically slow-changing, moderate in intensity, and do not necessarily relate to something in particular, discrete emotions are more intense, change more rapidly, and are directed at something specific, such as an event or situation (see Parkinson et al., 1996). Feeling mildly depressed or sad on a Monday morning at work, for

instance, one may be unable to link this experience to one particular happening or cause; however, this experience may still be seen as a backdrop which has the capacity to colour the ways in which work tasks are approached throughout the whole day. Hence, moods can provide information about the current state of the person experiencing the mood, but not necessarily about the current state of a situation, as discrete emotions can.

Furthermore, discrete emotions are assumed to hold a range of specific components (see e.g. Parkinson, 1995; Lazarus, 1991; Frijda, 1993; Pekrun & Frese, 1992), including: an immediate subjective experience, where the person becomes aware of feeling something; a physiological dimension (e.g. increased heart rate); a cognitive dimension or evaluation of the situation, involving finding a reason for the emotion; an emotional expression (e.g. a smile); and finally a tendency to react or behave in relation to the emotion. When referring to emotionally-laden judgements (Briner, 1997), the individual's thoughts, perceptions, evaluations or cognitions are assumed to stand out as more significant. One example may be to feel disrespected; an experience which does not indicate a specific mood or emotion as such, but which may better be seen as a relatively broad and general term that can be associated with a range of different and specific moods and emotions (e.g. anger, shame, and a gloomy mood).

The present thesis/empirical study adopted a combination of the two main approaches (dimensional and discrete) for understanding, exploring, and classifying emotions, following the focus, aims, and research questions. The adoption of a dimensional approach was relevant with regards to the exploration of positive versus negative and anticipative versus retrospective emotional change-experiences (for a detailed outline of what is meant by these terms, please see sections 2.3 and 2.4). The adoption of a discrete approach, on the other hand, was particularly relevant with regards to the argument that discrete emotions provide more in-depth insight into employees' emotional change-experiences, and their contextual circumstances, than earlier accounts in the literature have typically provided. However, the present study decided to adopt a broader conceptualization of emotions than the discrete approach indicates; hence the use of the term 'emotional experiences' rather than 'emotions'. Here the conceptualization of 'emotional experiences' included wider affect terms, such as moods and emotionally-laden judgements, in addition to discrete emotions.

There were at least two reasons for choosing to adopt a broad conceptualization. Firstly, the different terms, such as emotions and moods, share many similarities, and may partly be seen as overlapping phenomena (Gray & Watson, 2001). Secondly, in this particular study, a broad conceptualization was considered to have some methodological advantages (for a thorough elaboration, please see the methods chapter, particularly sections 4.5.1, 4.8.1 and 4.8.2). It has been pointed out that there is a common sense and intuitive understanding among laypeople that emotional experiences are internal, private and irrational psychological states (Parkinson, 1995; Fineman, 2000). As a consequence, potential respondents may feel unable to and/or uncomfortable with expressing their emotional experiences in a very explicit way. It may for instance be the case that, when it comes to certain aspects of change, employees have not really ruminated on what kinds of specific feelings are involved; or that they feel unwilling to express negative emotions in a very direct manner due to a fear of the consequences. Hence, a broad conceptualization, where general emotion terms are not omitted, but included in addition to discrete emotions, may help to capture a wider range of emotional experiences among potential respondents.

#### 2.2 Theoretical perspective on emotional change-experiences

Following the aim of exploring specific emotional change-experiences from a contextual point of view, as outlined in section 1.3, the theoretical perspective of Lazarus and colleagues (e.g. Lazarus, 1999; 1991; Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) was considered to be particularly appropriate.

A central feature of this perspective that appeared particularly applicable following the aims of this thesis is the notion of relatedness or transactions between the individual and surrounding events, situations, and social relationships (context). Lazarus and colleagues initially developed this idea to explain the phenomenon of psychological stress and coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), but it was later also applied to explain the phenomenon of emotions (Lazarus, 1991). The fundamental idea of a relational or transactional theory is that the person and the environment are joined in such a way that they can no longer be considered individually, so that their co-joining results in an emergent condition on a different level of abstraction.

"Transaction implies a newly created level of abstraction in which the separate person and environment elements are joined together to form a new relational meaning. In interaction, particularly in statistical analyses that fractionate the variances of cause-and-effect sequence (as in analysis of variance) the interacting variables retain their separate identities. From a transactional perspective, the characteristics of the separate variables are subsumed" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 294).

This entails that emotions can never be understood to occur solely as either the outcome of features of the individual (e.g. 'he is an angry person') or the surroundings from which they emerged (e.g. 'he is angry because X and Y happened'), but rather that both the individual's perspective and his/her surroundings have to be considered at the same time.

According to this theoretical perspective it is postulated that the link between the individual and his/her surroundings is established through cognitive appraisal. This entails that emotions are assumed to arise as a consequence of an evaluation of a current or impending transaction between the individual and his/her surroundings. Here Lazarus (1999; 1991) distinguished between two interdependent kinds of cognitive appraisal: primary and secondary. 'Primary appraisal' refers to whether a situation is perceived to be of relevance or significance to personal well-being. This entails that something has to be at stake for the individual in a given situation in order for an emotion to emerge. 'Secondary appraisal', on the other hand, refers to an evaluation of what, if anything, can be done to change an experienced situation (coping). Primary and secondary appraisal indicate that emotions are not only of motivational relevance through providing information about what the individual cares about, but also help to ensure adaptation and adjustment to a given situation.

Furthermore, the individual's cognitive evaluation of his/her surroundings is assumed to comprise a continuous and endless process, something which means that the emotional experiences are never the same. "*No two emotional encounters are ever identical, either between individuals or within an individual, under different environmental conditions and at different times*" (Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001, p. 53). The fact that emotions are assumed to emerge as the outcome of a process also involves the assumption that the history (previous experiences) and anticipated future of an individual play a major part in the forming of emotions, in addition to the characteristics of the present emotional encounter. The

perspective of Lazarus and colleagues (Lazarus, 1999; 1991; Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001) does however also indicate a theory of discrete emotions, where the distinctive pattern of primary and secondary appraisal is assumed to account for the range of different emotions; with the implication that emotions are presumed to follow, and emerge as the consequence of, a certain rationality and logic.

Primary appraisal is assumed to consist of two components particularly relevant in provoking and explaining different emotions: goal congruence/incongruence and type of ego involvement. 'Goal congruence/incongruence' refers to whether the conditions of a transaction either facilitate or hinder the person's wants or needs. 'Type of ego involvement' has to do with the role played by goals associated with social and self-esteem; moral values; ego ideals; meanings and ideas; other persons and their well-being; and life goals that may affect the shaping of an emotion. Pride may, for instance, emerge as a consequence of enhancing social and self-esteem.

In relation to secondary appraisal (coping), there are three components that are of particular importance: blame and credit, coping potential, and future expectations. 'Blame and credit' refers to a hot or emotional judgement about who, or what, is responsible for a harm, threat, challenge, or benefit (e.g. anger when blaming and pride when taking credit). 'Coping potential' relates to the conviction that something can or cannot be done to improve a situation or eliminate harm or threat, or to realize a challenge or benefit. Finally, 'future expectations' refer to the experience that something can be done to change a person-environment relationship for the better or for the worse.

Lazarus and colleagues also argued that the distinctive pattern of primary and secondary appraisal associated with each particular emotion could be summarized in terms of a prototypical core relational theme (e.g. sadness being represented by the theme of irrevocable loss or helplessness about such loss).

To conclude, the theoretical perspective of Lazarus and colleagues was considered to be particularly relevant for exploring employees' emotional change-experiences following the premise that emotional experiences relate to something in the surroundings of the individual experiencing the emotion(s); and hence that it is possible to link the emotional experiences experienced by the individual to various quite specific events, situations and social relationships (e.g. relating to organizational change). In relation to the exploration of the context of organizational change in particular, it has also been argued that the activation of emotions actually hinges on interruption (Ben-Ze'ev, 2001; Cox, 1997), following the theory that emotions are assumed to be generated when something disturbs, or improves, a smoothly flowing situation. In other words, emotions are believed to be generated when there is a deviation in the level of stimulation that has been experienced for a long time, which signals that something needs to be attended to because of its novelty. However, in this particular thesis, this is not assumed to suggest that the event, situation, or social relationship represents interruption in itself (objectively), and hence provokes an emotional experience, but rather that it must be interpreted by the individual as interruptive in order for an emotional experience to emerge. This entails that emotional change-experiences are assumed to emerge only when an event is perceived to represent change or interruption, and is at the same time evaluated to be significant, critical, and/or substantial by the individual experiencing it.

#### 2.3 Positive and negative emotional change-experiences

This thesis was concerned with positive versus negative emotional change-experiences, following the aim of exploring the diversity of ways in which organizational change might be experienced as well as examining the content of negative emotional change-experiences in depth.

In line with the perspective of Lazarus (1991), the difference between positive and negative emotions can be understood on the basis of goal congruence/incongruence. This implies that negative emotions are more likely to occur when the individual experiences that his/her values, needs, and goals are being put in danger; and that positive emotions are more likely to occur when his/her values, needs, and goals are experienced as being enhanced or facilitated. For instance, if conditions are favourable or beneficial to the individual, positively-charged emotions such as happiness/joy, pride, love/affection, and relief may occur; whereas if the individual's wants are obstructed following harmful or threatening events, negatively-charged emotions such as anger, fright/anxiety, guilt/shame, sadness, envy/jealousy, and disgust are more likely to follow.

However, it has also been pointed out that one should not make too much out of the contrast between positively and negatively toned emotions (Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001).

Labelling an emotion as 'negative' may obscure the fact that positively-charged emotional experiences are often an integral feature of, and accompany, negatively-charged emotional experiences; and that affective tone in each individual case depends on the individual experiencing the emotion and the specific transaction between the individual and an event. Lazarus (1991) pointed out that there existed a common understanding that negative emotions have more powerful impacts upon subjective well-being and adaptation in general, and that this understanding was misleading. Kiefer (2005; 2002a; 2002b) similarly contradicted the assumption of a linear causal relationship between negative emotions and negative consequences for the individual as well as the organization in the context of organizational change, and emphasized that there are numerous factors in the individual's surroundings influencing the link between emotions and responses/behaviour.

Therefore, in this thesis, the intention was not to come up with a sharply distinguished categorization of negative emotional experiences as opposed to positive emotional experiences, but to explore the valence of emotional experiences from the point of view of the individual experiencing them and his/her evaluations of antecedent conditions.

#### 2.4 Anticipative and retrospective emotional change-experiences

This thesis was also concerned with exploring anticipative versus retrospective emotional change-experiences, following the aim of exploring the ways in which the individual's present emotional experiences are formed by both his/her history and anticipated future in the event of organizational change. The notion of anticipation and retrospection is also maintained in the theoretical perspective of Lazarus (1991), where an individual's previous and expected experiences are assumed to play a major part when evaluating a situation in the present. For example, when experiencing positive expectations, such as looking forward to an event, one may be more likely to be disappointed when the event occurs, and vice versa for negative expectations. As a consequence, emotional retrospections and anticipations are closely intertwined with the actual experience of present and/or anticipated events and situations.

However, it may also be argued that, although the experience of anticipating an event is closely intertwined with the experience of that event and with the ways in which the event is viewed in retrospect, anticipations may also, hypothetically, be associated with a set of emotional experiences that are different to retrospective emotional experiences. Lazarus (1991) argued that anxiety may be labelled as a typical anticipatory emotion because it emerges as a response to possible future harm, whereas relief typically occurs as a consequence of events that have already happened and that turned out better than expected. It has also been argued that anticipations adopt a more ongoing and inquiring nature, whereas in retrospections the sense-making process has had a chance to come to an end somewhat, with the consequence that global evaluations have been formed (Fredrickson, 2000).

This thesis has therefore been concerned with exploring potential differences/similarities between anticipative versus retrospective emotional change-experiences, as well as the ways in which they could be understood as interlinked following the ways in which emotional experiences evolve over time in relation to the circumstances of the change process. In this thesis/study, the term 'anticipative emotional change-experiences' was adopted to refer to the imagination of a future situation or scenario at work where a change event has occurred, and the present emotional experience being associated with the envisioning of how this event will impact upon one's everyday work situation. The term 'retrospective emotional change-experiences', on the other hand, was adopted to refer to the emotional experience associated with the evaluation of how one's present work situation is believed to be affected by a change event(s) that has already occurred.

## **3** Research questions

The research aims outlined in section 1.3 were developed into a set of research questions that were in turn responded to in the three respective papers.

The first paper focused particularly upon the emotional anticipation of organizational change. This followed on from the fact that the emotional experiences at the anticipatory stage of a change process have not been explored to a wide extent in the literature. Furthermore, this perspective was adopted in order to explore the ways in which employees will necessarily have to draw on their past experiences to make sense of circumstances that have yet to emerge. The following research questions were posed: what kinds of emotional responses were reported in the context of anticipating organizational change, and what were the perceived causes of the emotional responses being reported?

In the second paper, the major concern was to explore employees' negative emotional experiences in depth through adopting a contextually-informed theoretical and methodological approach in order to investigate specific emotional experiences from a contextual and bottom-up point of view. This followed on from the fact that the perspectives and concepts that have typically been adopted in the literature to explore negative emotional change-experiences were found to be prejudiced in assuming that employees generally do not want change, having explored emotional experiences only on a general and somewhat superficial level. Two research questions informed this paper: which negative emotional experiences were the perceived causes of the negative emotional experiences being reported?

The third paper intended to explore the emotional experience of anticipating versus retrospectively looking back on organizational change, and the ways in which the expectation of organizational change feeds into the evaluation of changes in retrospect as the change process evolves over time. This followed the assumption that employees inevitably, and at any point in time, hold histories and anticipated futures; something which has been ignored in previous contributions to the literature, where it has been assumed that employees' emotional change-experiences over time evolve according to a predetermined and relatively static emotional curve. The paper was guided by the following two research questions: how did the

emotional experiences in the two contrasting perspectives of anticipating and retrospectively looking back on organizational change compare, and how could the ways in which the emotional experiences evolved from anticipation to retrospection be explained in the local context of change?

# 4 Methods

This chapter outlines the methodological perspective of the present study. This will be followed by a description of the research context, and the ways in which the study was carried out, as well as an outline of ethical considerations. Finally, there will be a discussion of some of the methodological challenges experienced when conducting the study.

#### 4.1 Methodological perspective

A general principle in research is that the methodological perspective should follow from the purpose of the study, the theoretical perspective that informs the study, and the research questions which one wants to answer (Manstead & Semin, 1988). Since the present study was concerned with exploring employees' emotional change-experiences from a contextual and bottom-up point of view, it was decided to employ a qualitative methodological approach; as this is particularly suited to obtaining an in-depth account of individuals' perspectives and unique experiences, and does more justice to the complexity of the phenomenon of emotions (Robson, 2002; Fineman, 2005). However, as qualitative methods may simply be understood as an umbrella term including a range of different frameworks and techniques that are grounded in different basic assumptions and premises (Flick, 2006), it was decided to adopt a research strategy that was compatible with the basic assumptions of a contextualist epistemology, or theory of knowledge (Madill et al., 2000). This was particularly relevant following the contextually-oriented theoretical position of the study. The methodological epistemology of contextualism assumes that all knowledge is local, situation-dependent, and adopts a temporary character (Jaeger & Rosnow, 1988). This entails that it is not only important to adopt a research strategy that does justice to the ways in which the individual being researched relates to context, but also to acknowledge the notion of researcher subjectivity; something which implies that the researcher is not seen as a disinterested observer of objective reality, but as an active participant in the construction of meaning.

#### 4.1.1 Some implications for reliability and generalization

When adopting a contextualist epistemology, it is assumed that there are always multiple interpretations to be made of a phenomenon; and furthermore that interpretation inevitably depends on the position of the researcher, his/her analytic style, previous training, and research interests (Madill et al., 2000; Charmaz, 1995). Hence, a difference in interpretation, say between two researchers analyzing the same material, is not considered to represent bias or a threat to reliability; rather, both are seen as justifiable and as adding to a complete understanding of a phenomenon (Madill et al., 2000). It has, however, still been advised that the researcher should be explicit about his/her position, the research process, and the ways in which the data material was collected and analyzed, in order to obtain a high level of transparency (Fog, 2004).

When it comes to generalization the aim of research, from a contextualist point of view, is not to capture an objective reality 'out there'. This entails that, although there may be some regularity to a phenomenon, it is assumed that the outcome of research will always be relative and incomplete due to the complexity surrounding that phenomenon (Jaeger & Rosnow, 1988). However, following the notion of transferability as a replacement for the concept of generalization, it may still be argued that the findings and/or interpretations being made should be relevant and resonate with individuals or groups who are familiar with the phenomenon being researched or who belong to a similar context (Thagaard, 1988). In relation to this, it has been advised that the researcher should make a case for his/her research findings through "*persuading that it is reasonable for the results to generalize, with arguments that the group studied, or setting, or period is representative in that it shares certain essential characteristics with other groups, settings or periods"* (Robson, 2002, p. 72); something which can be obtained through providing a "thick description" of the context under study.

#### 4.2 Research strategy

It has been maintained that when adopting a contextual epistemology no one method of inquiry is thoroughly adequate to deal with the complexities of human action (Jaeger & Rosnow, 1988). This follows the fact that approaches that may highlight the conditions that gave rise to an individual's experiences or action tend to be poorly suited to capture the individual's thoughts, reflections, and intentions, and vice versa. Hence, the present study

utilized a pluralism of methods. This involved carrying out a case study where different tools for data collection and analysis were employed throughout the different phases of the research project.

The term 'case study' has been understood and adopted in various ways (Stake, 2005), but for the purpose of the present study a case study is understood as a research strategy attempting to answer 'how' and 'why' questions (Yin, 2003); where the aim is to carry out a detailed investigation of a phenomenon within its context, through the adoption of data collected via multiple methods over a longer period of time (Hartley, 2004). In other words, the present study deliberately and actively applied insight into contextual circumstances in order to illuminate and provide a rich picture of the phenomenon being studied (emotional changeexperiences); and a wide range of data collection techniques (e.g. participant observation, interviews, and the reading of official documents) were applied to obtain this insight.

As I entered the case study organization I did not have very clear propositions or hypotheses to be 'tested'. This was particularly following the explorative and inductive nature of the research aims and questions and the fact that I, as a researcher, was not very familiar with the particular context being researched. In the first phase of the research project I was therefore particularly inspired by, and to some extent followed, the principles of grounded theory when collecting and analyzing data (please see section 4.5. below for a description of the different phases of the research project).

Grounded theory, initially developed by Glaser and Strauss (1967), attempts to provide new insight into phenomena through observing how these phenomena emerge in context, rather than by relying on already established theoretical frameworks to understand them. As there has been some controversy regarding grounded theory, arising from its basis in the two contrasting theoretical and methodological positions of positivism and symbolic interactionism (Heath & Cowley, 2004), the position of constructivist grounded theory developed by Charmaz (2005) was considered to sit more comfortably within a contextual epistemology, and hence represent a better fit to the methodological position of the present study. This is particularly following the fact that constructivist grounded theory does not assume the existence of a pre-existing reality 'out there', or of 'pure' data existing independently of the researcher, but assumes that reality is made real by and through the researcher. Hence, the researcher's ideas, pre-knowledge, and to some extent also theoretical

knowledge are assumed to stimulate theoretical sensitivity and attune the researcher to the nuances and complexities of the world of the participants being researched. However, in this study the advice not to read too much about the phenomenon being studied was followed in the first phase of the research project in order to allow relevant themes and issues to emerge from the respondents, while at the same time attempting to avoid the pitfalls of 'naïve empiricism' (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 1994).

When it came to utilizing grounded theory in the present study, two of the distinguishing characteristics of grounded theory, following the summary provided by Charmaz (1995), were particularly emphasized: a simultaneous involvement in data collection and analysis, and the creation of analytic codes and categories developed from data, not from preconceived hypotheses (for a detailed description of data collection and analysis activities, please see sections 4.5. and 4.6.)

The principles of grounded theory were not directly utilized in the second phase of the research project. However, the outcome of a grounded theoretical-oriented research strategy continued to influence the research process overall in a somewhat indirect manner, following the fact that the data material and findings that emerged in the first phase of the research project informed the more focused data collection and analysis activities that were carried out in subsequent phases of the research project (please see sections 4.5 and 4.6).

#### 4.3 The research context (case)

The research project took place in a large Norwegian hospital over a period of two years (2004-2006), and focused particularly on a major change project taking place in one of the wards (Ward A). This specific change project involved the introduction of electronic care plans (ECPs) in nursing.

However, the present study started out with a rather general and overarching perspective, focusing on one of the wider change projects going on at this hospital. This change project involved the gradual introduction of different modules of electronic patient records (EPRs) as a replacement for paper-based records. Here, one of the main targets of the hospital was to 'go paperless' by the end of 2007, and it was anticipated that the introduction of the EPR would imply numerous efficiency and quality improvements (please see section 4.4. for a detailed

description of the changes and their rationale). Each of the different modules of the EPR are to be utilized separately by the different professional groups performing independent medical treatment or examination (e.g. doctors, nurses, physiotherapists, etcetera). One of the modules in the EPR is the electronic care plan (ECP) that is designed specifically for the documentation of nursing work. In December 2004 it was decided by the nursing management at Ward A to introduce the ECP module, and this became the change project on which the present study particularly focused. Ward A is relatively large, employing 120 nurses and 40 nursing assistants, consists of five relatively independent sections, and was the first ward at this hospital to introduce the ECP module.

#### 4.4 The changes at Ward A and their rationale

The adoption of ECPs involves the computer-mediated provision of structured and compressed nurse-related problems, combined with relevant measures, as a replacement for day-to-day unstructured pen and paper reports. Following ECP introduction some additional changes were also made in order to utilize the inherent qualities and benefits of the new ECP system. This involved some organizational re-structuring at the ward, where nurses and nursing staff had to collaborate more closely across professional boundaries in smaller work teams according to a more holistic system for care (primary care), and also meant that doctors' rounds had to be organized differently. In addition, the time spent on verbal reports was diminished in favour of reading and writing on the computer. Nursing staff experienced a gap of up to three months between training and implementation (please see section 5.1. for a more thorough elaboration of this issue).

Several reasons have been stated for developing and introducing tools such as the ECP in hospitals. According to many sources in the nursing literature and elsewhere, devices such as the ECP have emerged following the trend of new public management (Glouberman & Mintzberg, 2001), where they have been viewed as a way to improve the efficiency of everyday nursing work because they save time and paper (Lee et al., 2002); particularly given the potential for ECPs to diminish the necessary time needed for verbal shift reports, as well as for the reading and writing of written reports. As a consequence, the introduction of ECPs has resulted in many conflicts between nurses and managers as well as within the nursing profession, following the idea that managerialism distorts the professional ideals associated

with the nursing record, and that care plans in general are difficult to integrate with practical work on the wards (Allen, 2004; 1998). However, on the other hand, the introduction of care plans has also been seen as a way to improve the quality of documentation, and hence the quality of care (Allen, 1998). In addition, the development of new ways of documenting has been seen as a strategy for nurses to increase their general occupational status through making their unique contribution to the health care team more visible (Dingwall et al., 1998).

Finally, the decision to adopt technological devices as a replacement for pen and paper can also partly be explained on the basis of the general technological development in society, where it is often implicitly assumed that the adoption of technology in itself leads to improvements in quality and efficiency (see e.g. The National Health Plan, 2007-2010, for a detailed outline with regards to the situation in the Norwegian hospital sector).

As the change project at Ward A progressed, a range of other changes were introduced at the hospital overall, as well as at Ward A in particular; all of which were somewhat unrelated to ECP implementation, but still represented a contextual backdrop. These changes, which were more or less expected at the point in time at which it was decided to implement ECPs, included moving into new buildings following a major construction and refurbishment project at the hospital, the extended adoption of outpatient clinics as a replacement for traditional wards, and a range of cost-saving strategies following the ways in which the financial situation of the hospital developed over time.

#### 4.5 Data collection methods

The collection of data proceeded in two phases, and a combination of methods was adopted for various purposes. As already outlined in section 4.2, the first phase was characterized by the adoption of principles of grounded theory; hence this phase could be characterized as more explorative and bottom-up compared to the second phase.

In the first phase of data collection, I first made contact with the EPR project group at the hospital in which constituted this research case. There were at least two reasons for this. Firstly, it was well known from the media and elsewhere that a range of different and overlapping changes were going on at this hospital, particularly related to the EPR project. Secondly, my participation in the research programme "Effective Introduction of Information

and Communication Technologies in Hospitals" gave me a unique opportunity to gain access to this particular change project as a research case. At an early stage I therefore started out focusing on the EPR project overall. This led to a range of preliminary data collection activities where I tried to familiarize myself with the hospital context in general, focusing on the changes that EPR introduction represented to the hospital overall and to clinical staff in particular.

Throughout this time I was also looking for a more specific change project where I could follow an implementation process from the planning stage onwards, as I wanted to explore employees' emotional anticipation of change as well as follow their experiences over time. The preliminary data collection activities involved various meetings with EPR project workers in the hospital, the reading of organizational documents in relation to the EPR project (e.g. minutes and memos), and one week of participant observation at a random ward (Ward B) at the hospital (see Table 1 below). Participant observation at Ward B involved following a group of newly-employed nurses throughout induction week, attending verbal nursing handovers between shifts and meetings between nurses and doctors, as well as socializing with staff during breaks.

Through my contact with the EPR project, I incidentally came across the ECP project that was planned at Ward A through my participation in meetings with the EPR project group. Following this I participated in a couple of meetings where the introduction of ECPs was discussed among nursing managers at Ward A. From then onwards, data collection activities became more focused and followed a more detailed plan as I decided to concentrate on the changes at Ward A in particular. However, the research outlook still remained relatively explorative and the principles of grounded theory, as outlined in section 4.2, were followed. It was formally agreed with management at Ward A that I was to participate as a researcher throughout the change process at their ward. This involved participation in information meetings for staff and in formal and informal meetings for nursing managers, as well as participation in some of the ECP training sessions being organized for staff at the ward.

In addition, a group of nursing staff (fourteen nurses and six nursing assistants) were interviewed one month prior to the implementation of ECPs at their ward. Prior to these interviews a local gatekeeper (Nurse X) had helped to identify and approached potential respondents, providing information about my research project and asking them to participate

in interviews (some of them declined to participate). The help of Nurse X was essential for several reasons (please see section 4.8.1 for a detailed elaboration). This person was part of nursing management at the ward and a central member of the ECP project group. In addition, Nurse X had worked at the ward for several years and held considerable rapport with nursing staff; something which meant that Nurse X knew the professional, and sometimes also personal, history of most of the staff at the ward (please see also section 5.1). On several occasions Nurse X shared this knowledge with me and provided valuable information that was somewhat 'off the record'.

Through actively applying the information provided by Nurse X, and thoroughly communicating the research aims of the present study to Nurse X, purposive sampling was attempted (Silverman, 2005). It was, for instance, ensured that a wide age group was represented, and that both nurses and nursing assistants were included in the sample in order to be able to capture a wide range of emotional change-experiences, both positive and negative, and to be able to explore negative experiences in depth. This particularly followed the fact that the nursing assistants were more likely to belong to the oldest age group (and hence were more likely to be computer illiterate), and that they were generally unfamiliar with documentation work and therefore more likely to experience ECP implementation in a negative way.

Finally, I did some participant observation at one section of Ward A throughout the first week of ECP implementation. This involved dressing in a nursing uniform and following several nurses around at different work shifts, helping out with practical work, where possible, as well as socialising with staff in coffee and lunch breaks. I also attended nursing report meetings between shifts and meetings between nurses and doctors.

In the second phase of data collection the same respondents, as identified above, were reinterviewed twice: first at three months and then at one year after the implementation of ECPs at their ward. Unfortunately, only eleven respondents were able to participate in the third and final interview due to a range of reasons outside my control, such as nurses having quit their job, moved to another ward, retired, or being on long-term sick leave. The sample of eleven respondents participating in the third interview consisted of eight nurses and three nursing assistants, and a wide age group was still represented. During and after participation in meetings and observation field notes and/or brief summaries were written up; however the main intention was not to obtain ethnographic data, but to gain a thorough insight into the research context (Spradley, 1980), as well as to aid the construction of context-sensitive interview questions and analysis of the interview material. However, although field notes aided interpretation, only the interview material was formally analyzed. In the field notes I particularly emphasized practical information around the changes (e.g. how does the ECP work, what does this change imply for everyday work); information about the particular ward being studied (Ward A); how the changes appeared to be perceived, planned, and handled by nursing managers; and finally, and most importantly, the perceptions, experiences, and reactions of nursing staff in relation to these changes.

	Timeframe	Activities (preliminary)			
First phase of data collection	AugDec. 2004	Participation in meetings with EPR project workers + reading or organizational documents.			
	Sept. 2004	Participant observation at Ward B.			
	NovDec. 2004	Participation in meetings with nursing management in Ward A.			
	Activities (Ward A)				
	JanJune 2005	Participation in meetings with EPR project workers + reading of organizational documents.			
	Jan. 05-June 06	Various informal conversations with Nurse X.			
	Jan. 05-April 06	Participation in various information meetings for staff at Ward A.			
	Jan. 05-April 06	Participation in various meetings for nursing managers at Ward A.			
	Jan. 2005	Participation in a selection of training sessions being organized at			
		Ward A.			
	JanApr. 2005	First interview round.			
	April 2005	Participant observation in one section of Ward A, one week into			
		implementation.			
Second phase	May-July 2006	Second interview round.			
of data collection					
	May-June 2006	Third interview round.			

Table 1 Summary of	data collection activities
--------------------	----------------------------

#### 4.5.1 The interviews

The interviews lasted between 30 and 60 minutes, depending upon the current work commitments of the respondent, particularly given the unpredictable nature of nursing work and the fact that interviews were carried out during work hours. As a consequence I had to be flexible when it came to the timing and duration of the interviews, especially considering that I wanted to interview the same respondents three times and had to rely on the respondents' goodwill. This meant that on some occasions the interview had to end a little earlier than initially planned due to the sudden worsening of the condition of a patient. All of the interviews were recorded and transcribed. After each interview a very brief summary was written up on the circumstances of the interview situation and how the responses of the interviewee were perceived overall by me as an interviewer (e.g. if the respondent appeared to hold something back, indirect expression of emotional experiences through body language, etcetera). This was to allow for a more in-depth interpretation of the interview data.

The first interview was particularly guided by the principles of simultaneous involvement in data collection and analysis, and the creation of analytic codes and categories from data rather than from preconceived hypotheses, following the notion of grounded theory (Charmaz, 1995). This involved the employment of an interview guide consisting of very few and general issues/questions, following the bottom-up methodological approach where I wanted to remain as open as possible to emerging emotional experiences and themes/issues relevant to the particular respondent/context being investigated. These issues/questions revolved around the respondents' previous career history; their previous and current work situation at the hospital/ward; previous and current situations of organizational and technological change and their experiences in association with these; and finally their present situation of anticipating the introduction of electronic care plans in particular, what the anticipated changes involved, and how they felt about them.

However, as data collection and analysis were parallel processes, the interview questions became increasingly specific and focused as the different interviews proceeded in the first interview round. This resulted from the fact that I transcribed the interviews, and thoroughly read through each interview transcript, making notes of emerging themes/issues and emotional experiences prior to conducting the next interview, and so on. For instance, I

actively questioned the fifth respondent about themes and emotional experiences that had appeared to be particularly prevalent in the first, second, third, and fourth interviews.

In the second interview I attempted to steer the interview questions more specifically in the direction of emotional experiences and to pick up on specific themes and issues that were particularly prevalent overall in the first interview round. This entailed that during this interview the respondents were presented with a list providing a summary of emotional experiences (both positive and negative) and recurring themes/issues expressed overall in the sample three months earlier. This was mainly adopted as a practical strategy to steer the conversation towards emotional experiences, and to give the respondents an opportunity to reflect more profoundly on their present experiences with regards to the changes that had been introduced at the ward in comparison with the experiences reported in the sample overall three months ago when the changes had yet to occur (please see also section 4.8).

In the third interview the respondents were asked to reflect on the changes that had already occurred at the ward, as well as at the hospital overall, and their emotional experiences in relation to these changes over time. They were also asked about their present, in comparison to their previous, situation/emotional experiences, both from a general and an individual point of view. This involved asking them about the general atmosphere at the ward as well as confronting them with their individual views and emotional experiences expressed in the first and the second interviews (e.g. asking "I remember you said X and Y one year ago; how do you feel about this now?").

## 4.6 Data material and analysis in the different papers

A specification of the data material that was directly (interview material) and indirectly (field notes) applied to respond to the research questions in the three respective papers is provided in Table 2 below.

	Timeframe	Activities (preliminary)	Paper 1	Paper 2	Paper 3
First phase	AugDec.	Participation in meetings with EPR project	X	X	X
of data	2004	workers + reading of organizational documents.			
collection					
	Sept. 2004	Participant observation at Ward B.	X	X	X
	NovDec.	Participation in meetings with nursing	X	X	X
2004		management in Ward A.			
		Activities (Ward A)			
	JanJune	Participation in meetings with EPR project	X	X	X
	2005	workers + reading of organizational documents.			
	Jan. 05-June	Various informal conversations with Nurse X.	X	X	X
		various miormai conversations with Nurse X.	Δ	Δ	Α
	06				
	Jan. 05-	Participation in various information meetings for	X	X	X
	April 06	staff at Ward A.			
	Jan. 05-	Participation in various meetings for nursing	X	X	X
	April 06	managers in Ward A.			
	Jan. 2005	Participation in a selection of training sessions	X	X	X
		being organized at Ward A.			
	JanApr.	First interview round.	X		X
	2005				
	April 2005	Participant observation in one section of Ward A	X		X
		one week into implementation.			
Second	May-July	Second interview round.		X	
phase	2006				
of data					
collection	May-June	Third interview round.			X
	2006				

#### Table 2 Summary of data material that contributed to the three papers

As outlined above, the principles of grounded theory were only adopted in the first phase of data collection and analysis as the research focus gradually became more specific. This meant that in the first paper the creation of analytic codes and categories was to a large extent developed from the data, although a formal grounded theoretical analysis was not conducted; whereas template analysis (King, 2004) was adopted in the second and third papers. Detailed descriptions of how the data was analyzed are given in the three respective papers.

#### 4.7 Ethical considerations

Data access was granted through the research programme "Effective Introduction of Information and Communication Technologies in Hospitals" at NTNU, of which my PhD project was a part, as well as through the EPR project manager who worked as a gatekeeper in the very first stages of my project.

Prior to commencing any research activity the hospital's patient confidentiality form was signed, as a major concern for the hospital was to secure the absolute anonymity of the patients. Here it should also be emphasized that, although I 'moved around' in an environment occupied by patients, my research focus was always on staff and not patients. This entailed that in none of the field notes did I refer to the patients, their conditions and/or views, or to situations, but consistently focused on staff. Furthermore, when conducting participant observation at the ward, I always attempted to 'blend' into the environment in order not to make the patients uncomfortable. I always wore a nursing uniform, and was followed by another nurse who introduced me to patients as an assistant where this was necessary and/or appropriate. In situations where the nurses felt it was inappropriate that I followed them I would typically be asked to wait outside the patient's room.

Written approval to conduct research at Ward A was obtained from the medical superintendent at the ward, where anonymity and confidentiality of respondents and facilities were promised. Respondents were also, prior to interviews, assured of the anonymity of their responses, and it was stated that they could withdraw from the interview at any time, as well as refuse to be recorded. Any indications of the identity of respondents and facilities were eliminated from interview transcripts, and actual recordings were deleted as soon as they had been transcribed.

#### 4.8 Methodological challenges

One way to make the researcher more 'visible' and to shed some light on the ways in which the position of the researcher affected the outcome of the research is to outline some of the challenges or problems that emerged in the research process. This section will therefore address and discuss some of these challenges, focusing upon the related issues of sampling and the relationship with a local gatekeeper, and trust and expressing emotional experiences in the interview situation, as these two issues turned out to be particularly prevalent in the present study.

## 4.8.1 Sampling and the relationship with a local gatekeeper

As already outlined in section 4.5, I relied heavily on the help of a local gatekeeper (Nurse X) in the collection of data, and there were several reasons for this. Firstly, Nurse X helped me to gain access to the ward through helping to obtain permission from the medical superintendent to conduct research at the ward. Given that I was to 'move around' in a hospital environment, and the absolute anonymity of patients is a major concern, it would have been very difficult to be granted access to this environment unless going through an 'insider'. It was also absolutely essential to have Nurse X arrange for nursing staff to take time out of the ward to participate in interviews, as constant shortage of staff was a recurring issue.

Secondly, Nurse X had worked at the ward for several years, and hence knew the conditions and circumstances of the ward, as well as its staff, particularly well. As the ward consisted of a large number of nursing staff (160), and there were several departments where they were working in related but still quite different areas of nursing, it was necessary for me as a researcher to cooperate with a person who had a sufficient overview of the ward in order to find and recruit the 'right' respondents and ensure that the sample would be broad enough to capture a wide range of emotional change-experiences among staff. This was especially important considering the time limits of conducting a PhD project and the fact that I, as a researcher, was entirely new to the nursing context and unfamiliar with the issues and concerns that were typical of this context.

Thirdly, throughout the data collection process the necessity and importance of 'cooperating' with a person from the 'inside' was further confirmed, as I experienced some problems in my initial attempts to arrange and carry out interviews, and had to rely more heavily on the help of Nurse X than initially anticipated. For instance, it turned out that, for the individuals who were particularly anxious about the expected changes (e.g. older nursing staff who had not previously undertaken documentation work, and who were computer illiterate), the prospect of being interviewed was experienced as particularly stressful; and if they had not been aware of my relationship with Nurse X, they would have been more likely not to trust me, and hence to be unwilling to participate in interviews. This would have meant that their experiences

would not have been captured in the study. It was also evident that nursing staff were generally reluctant to interact with people from 'the outside' (e.g. people who were not staff members or who were not in the clinical profession), and sceptical of the prospect of 'being researched'. Furthermore, potential respondents appeared to be particularly concerned about the subject of my study (emotional experiences), as well as my psychology background; something which made them 'suspicious' that I was interested in revealing their inner emotional problems on a personal level.

Through my initial contact with the EPR project, through participation in meetings and training sessions in Ward A and through general observation of the relationship between Nurse X and staff in general, I had learnt that Nurse X was a trusted person on whom nursing staff relied. My relationship with Nurse X was therefore absolutely essential in order to build trust in the respondents and to help unravel potential misunderstandings. Despite the fact that Nurse X was a part of ward management and in the ECP project group, nursing staff did not seem to see this person, or management in general, as the 'real' initiator of ECP implementation, as the general perception at the ward seemed to be that ECP implementation was inevitable anyway. Moreover, some of the staff seemed to express genuine gratitude about the support and encouragement of Nurse X in an otherwise difficult time.

However, despite the fact that it was Nurse X who approached the respondents and made interview arrangements, although some of the nurses were keen to participate, there were also other members of staff who either declined to participate or who withdrew from the project on the day for which the interview was scheduled and I was to meet them at the ward. There was, for instance, one respondent who was absent on two occasions when the interview was scheduled, and who eventually withdrew from the study on the third appointment.

This is something that may have been to do with the fact that Nurse X also belonged to the management at the ward and was a central member of the project group that initiated, planned and implemented the ECP. As a consequence, some of the nursing staff may have been anxious about my role in relation to the ECP project and concerned that I, in one way or the other, had some kind of managerial interest in interviewing nursing staff about their views in relation to the change project; despite the fact that it was communicated on several occasions, by Nurse X and myself, that my role was that of an independent researcher.

It could also have something to do with the fact that the recruitment process and the conducting of interviews were carried out in parallel, whereby recruitment was followed by interviews and then further recruitment of new respondents, and so on. This could possibly have entailed that the recruitment process was negatively affected by the nature of the interview situation, as rumours about the interview setting and questions may have spread to those who were next to be recruited to participate in interviews, hence causing potential respondents to decide not to accept the invitation to participate in interview situation). On the other hand, the experience with the interview setting may also have had a positive effect on recruitment, as many of the interview participants said that they experienced that the interview went a lot better than expected, and that they were relieved about the ways in which it turned out considering their prejudices about psychologists.

It may also be the case that potential respondents felt so overwhelmed by the coming change process that they felt that participation in interviews represented an extra burden; or alternatively that information about the research topic (emotional change-experiences), as well as of the extent of the commitment involved in interview participation was inadequate. This was particularly given that it was Nurse X, and not I, who approached potential respondents, providing information about my project and asking them if they would volunteer to participate in interviews following the problems that were experienced in the recruitment process. It may be the case that Nurse X misinterpreted some of the information that I gave her, and hence communicated some misleading information to potential respondents that I was unaware of.

As a consequence, I decided to write a letter with information about myself and the research project that I would personally circulate to potential respondents who had already been approached by Nurse X, but prior to the scheduled interview. This was both in order for the respondents to be properly informed prior to participating in interviews and for them to get a chance to meet me personally prior to the scheduled interview; something in which was assumed to help build trust in the respondents. The letter was written with the help of Nurse X as well as another nurse (who did not work at the ward being researched) in order to make sure that the letter was written in a way that was easily understood by nurses through the adoption of 'nursing language', and to formulate the letter in ways that were believed to build trust in this particular group of professionals. This very much turned out to be a successful

strategy, as problems with recruitment drastically diminished after the letters had been circulated.

The reciprocal relationship between the sampling process and my relationship with Nurse X, and the interview setting, will be further elaborated in relation to the other problem area that was defined; namely the issue of trust and expressing emotional experiences in the interview situation.

# 4.8.2 Trust and expressing emotional experiences in the interview situation

During the first five to ten interviews in the first interview round I experienced some problems in relation to building rapport with the respondents; a phenomenon which has been labelled as 'non-contact' (Fog, 2004). This meant that the interviewees' responses were very brief, and it was difficult to get them go into any depth about their emotional experiences and the themes/issues that emerged in the interview situation. Sometimes the conversation came to a halt for a while, and it felt necessary to talk about something else (e.g. about trivial issues such as the weather) before returning to talk about the interview topics again. The respondents appeared somewhat withdrawn and there was a nervous atmosphere in the interview situation.

There may be several reasons why this was so. It could have been due to the fact that I, as a researcher, was very inexperienced when it came to conducting interviews, and that my own tension and nervousness transferred to the respondents. It was also the case that I often, in the beginning, felt overwhelmed by the scope and complexity of the research context and struggled to understand the present situation of the respondents, what the changes involved, and what their consequences were to the everyday work situation of nursing staff. This meant that I sometimes struggled to pose the 'right' questions, or to phrase them in a way which encouraged the respondents to discuss the issues I wished to address in a thorough manner. In relation to this it can be argued that an interviewer who was more confident as well as familiar with the nursing context would have been better able to deal with this situation and obtain more thorough and accurate information about the situation of the respondents through addressing the 'right' topics and asking the 'right' questions. On the other hand, it may also be argued that there are some advantages associated with being a 'stranger' or an 'outsider',

because one can adopt the role of a naive observer and adopt a less biased view of the situation and the respondents' responses.

However, the interview situation may also have been directly affected by the sampling process, where some of the respondents may have initially been unwilling to participate in the interview, but felt somewhat 'pressured' to take part as a consequence of being recruited by an 'insider' at the ward (Nurse X) rather than an 'outsider' whose invitation to participate would be more easily rejected. Hence, the reason why the respondents seemed somewhat withdrawn could have been that they were not so motivated to participate in the interview.

On the other hand, it seemed on several occasions that, rather than being bored or unmotivated in the interview setting, the respondents had some difficulty, or showed unwillingness, when it came to expressing their emotional experiences. This meant that the respondents appeared as if they did not know what they felt about a certain topic or issue, or that they were unable or unwilling to express their emotional experiences in a direct manner. For instance, when I asked them "what/how do you feel about this?" they sometimes appeared as if they did not really understand my question or did not know what to say. Statements about their emotional experiences such as "it made me feel really angry" were very rare, and the respondents would typically express their emotions in an indirect manner; for instance through referring to their emotional experiences on a collective level (e.g. by saying "we feel..." rather than "I feel") or by referring to themselves in third person (e.g. by saying "it makes you feel..."). It was also sometimes evident that the respondents revealed their own emotional experiences through the ways in which they described the situation and the emotional experiences of other people (e.g. indirectly expressing compassion and anger through the ways in which the situation of an employee who was struggling with the new system was described) as well as through body language (e.g. a shivering voice when discussing certain topics).

There could be several reasons for this. For instance, as pointed out earlier, it may be that they suspected that I in some way or other represented management, and was employed by them to evaluate the general atmosphere and mood at the ward for the purpose of identifying the most appropriate ways of implementing the changes. As a consequence, the respondents may have felt under surveillance and therefore refused to express their views in a very direct manner. I therefore tried to assert on independent occasions that my role was that of an independent

researcher and that I did not, in any way, stand in a direct relationship with management and/or have an influence on the change initiatives and the change process; although this did not always appear to help. On the other hand, the fact that I was sometimes viewed as an extension of management, despite efforts to repel this misconception, sometimes had a positive effect on the respondents' willingness to voice their concerns, as some respondents seemed to hope that I could do something about their situation and were therefore extremely open about the negative as well as positive aspects of their everyday work situation.

The respondents may also have been reluctant to express their emotional experiences owing to the misconception that I was a clinical psychologist who was interested in revealing their inner emotional problems and traumas on a personal level; and hence that my interest in the change process only served to disguise my real agenda. As this was experienced as a persistent problem I therefore decided to adopt several strategies to build trust in the respondents. As mentioned above, I wrote a letter to be circulated to the respondents prior to the interviews. However, as I intended to interview the same respondents three times, I also aimed to build trust in the respondents for the purpose of the second and third interviews. During participant observation one week into the implementation process, I attempted to become more familiar with the interview respondents in particular, joining lunch breaks etcetera. I also, on purpose, tried to be of as much help at the ward as possible (e.g. relieving nursing staff of practical tasks) and in this way communicate to staff that I respected and was interested in learning about and relating to their work situation; a strategy that certainly resulted in the respondents opening up more in the second and third interviews.

Furthermore, the fact that the respondents seemed reluctant or unable to express their emotional experiences in a direct manner may also have been due to a range of cultural factors. As pointed out earlier, work is traditionally not an arena where the presence of emotions are acknowledged or admitted to. On the other hand, it may be argued that emotions are likely to play a central part in the work role of nurses owing to the caring nature of nursing work; and hence that it could be expected that the group of nursing staff was particularly conscious of, and well-acquainted with, expressing their emotions.

However, the nursing culture is also very much a collective culture, where the individual nurse is typically not used to standing alone, but relies heavily on group membership (Hamran, 1992; Elstad & Hamran, 1995); something which may have caused the respondents

to feel somewhat threatened in an interview situation where they were required to express their experiences and views on an individual level. In relation to this it may be argued that a group interview (Steyaert & Bouwen, 2004) would have been better suited to capture a wide range of emotional experiences and to allow the exploration of these experiences in depth. On the other hand, this may have caused some of the more sensitive issues, which the respondents would have been unwilling to reveal in a group interview, to have remained unexplored. For instance, one of the respondents told me that she sometimes used to go down to the basement to cry, but that this was something which she did not tell anyone out of fear of revealing to staff and management that she was not handling the change situation very well; an issue that might not have been revealed in a group interview.

Finally, the respondents being somewhat unconscious of their emotions and/or not knowing exactly how they felt about certain issues could also be due to not having, or being acquainted with using, the language to express their emotional experiences. The list that was introduced in the second interview was therefore partly a strategy to alleviate this potential problem, and facilitated shifting the focus of the interview in a more emotional direction.

However, despite attempting several strategies to facilitate the more direct and explicit expression of emotional experiences, the problem persisted, and hence affected both data analysis and the categorization of emotion terms in the present study. This meant that I was very often unable to identify many clear and unambiguous emotional experiences, and often had to rely on implicit statements (e.g. irony) and to interpret the respondents' statements in association with body language. In relation to this it may, however, be argued that the endeavour to reveal authentic and 'real' emotions may after all be an illusion. The fact that emotions are closely intertwined with the social context in which they emerge means that it is very hard, even impossible, and possibly meaningless to distinguish between authentic and displayed emotion, and the emotions of an individual and those of a group in a social context (Sturdy, 2003; Fineman, 2000). Hence the identification of authentic individual emotions may be seen as merely an academic exercise. The theoretical and methodological implication of this is that one may rather focus on the different ways in which emotion or emotional experiences are brought alive (Sturdy, 2003). For example, the emotions expressed in an effort to 'look good' in front of the interviewer are not false, but are rather an authentic part of individuals in the construction of meaning, and bring to life something important about the respondents' emotional experiences to the interviewer.

# 5 Findings

In this section, a summary of field notes from participant observation will be provided in order to present the contextual information that aided and to some extent also informed the interpretation of the interview data. This will be followed by a brief presentation of the main findings being reported in the three respective papers. For a detailed presentation of the findings, please see the three respective papers.

#### 5.1 Summary of field notes

As mentioned in section 4.3, the particular ward under study (Ward A) was the first ward at the hospital to introduce ECPs, and several reasons were provided by nursing managers, and the project group, when it came to justifying the somewhat hasty ECP implementation. Three aims were particularly emphasized, and two of these aims were clearly communicated to staff during information meetings. Firstly, there was the aim of 'going paperless', or of only documenting electronically; following the fact that the adoption of electronic tools for documentation (as a replacement of pen and paper) was considered to be part of an unavoidable technological development. It was therefore argued by nursing managers that being quick to implement the ECP (being the first ward) was a strategy to stay ahead of this (inevitable) development. This issue was further reinforced by the fact that some of the sections of the ward were expected to move into new buildings where there would be less room for the storage of papers following the construction and refurbishment project that was simultaneously going on, in concurrence with the EPR project, at the hospital. The second aim was to improve the quality and safety of work through making the availability and accuracy of information better.

Finally, there was also a third, somewhat unofficial, aim associated with a quick ECP implementation that was not so openly communicated to staff. Ward A had been known to receive limited attention and funding from the hospital as well as from elsewhere (e.g. from charitable organizations). It was therefore believed by nursing managers, and the ECP project group, that being the first ward to implement ECPs could somewhat ameliorate this situation, as being a pioneering ward was anticipated to be associated with considerable attention and prestige. Hence, partly due to limited funding to facilitate the change project and partly due to having to act quickly and introduce ECPs before any of the other wards decided to do the

same thing, there was not much time for pre-planning when it came to the actual changes (e.g. how the ECP should be adopted in relation to particular issues at the ward) and the implementation process. It was openly discussed and admitted at managerial meetings that this project was something which they "threw themselves into", and that potential problems would have to be dealt with on an ad hoc basis. As a consequence of this situation, three problems emerged.

Firstly, as implementation was about to commence, it became clear that some additional, and unanticipated, organizational re-structuring was necessary in order to facilitate ECP implementation; following the holistic system for care underlying the structure of the care plan as outlined in section 4.4 above. Since these additional changes involved the challenging of professional relationships (e.g. between nurses and nursing assistants and nurses and doctors) this led to some turbulence at the ward (e.g. doctors openly criticizing the new system).

Secondly, it turned out that many unanticipated flaws in the existing documentation system (on paper) became more visible and had to be dealt with as a consequence of ECP implementation. This led to increasing frustration among nursing staff as they perceived that there were no clear guidelines for how to utilize the new system, following the lack of managerial pre-planning, and felt left alone to deal with practical problems at the ward level.

Finally, it was planned that the whole group of 160 nursing staff were each to receive three hours of formal ECP training throughout a period of six weeks. However, due to many factors not being accounted for by nursing managers (e.g. absence and many nurses needing more training than predicted due to being computer illiterate or unfamiliar with documentation work in general), the allocated time for training turned out to be too short. This meant that the period of six weeks set aside for training was insufficient. As a consequence, due to problems of logistics, the experience of many of the staff was that training could not be followed directly by implementation in their section of the ward. Hence, some of the staff experienced a gap of up to three months between training and implementation; something which meant that most of what had been learned at the training session was forgotten by the time of implementation. As a result, many of the staff were frustrated as implementation finally commenced.

It was noted during observation that there was not much room for reflection and contemplation, as critical comments from nursing staff were typically ignored by managers and/or trainers. Instead, managers/trainers seemed to focus on communicating the positive aspects of the new system, as well as the inevitability of implementation following general technological development. However, conversations with Nurse X also revealed that the inevitability of the technological development was not only adopted as an argument in front of staff, or as a strategy to justify the changes and the somewhat rushed implementation process. It appeared that the nursing management themselves also seemed to feel victims of the inevitable, and therefore to some extent imposed, technological change; while at the same time also genuinely seeming to believe in the potential of the new technology with regards to increasing the quality and efficiency of nursing work. Furthermore, it was also noted that, despite nursing managers leaving it up to staff to solve many of the practical problems that emerged, and ignoring their critical comments, nursing managers in the change project group and many of the trainers also showed a lot of care and compassion for staff. For instance, two of the project group members (including Nurse X) worked up to eighteen hours a day (on both day and night shifts) two weeks into the implementation process in all the five different sections of the ward, in order to help out at the ward in this critical phase. This work was done in addition to taking care of their clerical work, and all the extra hours were unpaid overtime.

Nursing staff were generally not very explicit about their emotional experiences and reactions in relation to the changes (especially negative experiences/reactions), but to a large extent the respondents seemed to experience both positive and negative emotions in association with ECP implementation; and what the emotional experiences were and what they were about varied between groups of individuals. Here, the group of older nursing assistants particularly stood out as being more anxious about, and feeling threatened by, the changes. This group perceived their computer skills to be low and was particularly unfamiliar with documentation work, despite the Norwegian Health Legislation of 1999 (Helsepersonnelloven, 1999), where it was stated that every health worker is obliged to document their work. Traditionally, documentation work has been considered to be a typical nursing task because of the responsibility involved in documenting aspects of the patients' conditions (e.g. in the case of a law suit), and nursing assistants have typically continued to 'escape' this kind of work through communicating verbally to nurses who then documented in their name, despite the new legislation. However, with ECP implementation, the Health Legislation was further enforced, and nursing assistants were clearly instructed by managers to start documenting their work. In addition, it had been decided at the hospital that they would no longer employ new nursing assistants in the future, making this group feel somewhat 'unwanted', and fearful for their future job situation. They were therefore particularly vulnerable at the prospect of organizational change, and felt a strong pressure to prove their indispensability and to handle the changes in a successful way.

While some of the staff were sceptical about the changes, there was overall a tendency to believe in the future through acknowledging that, although they might experience the situation in a negative way prior to, and throughout, implementation (for instance due to difficulties learning the new system), they expected to see the situation in a more positive light in the future. This especially related to the perception that the technological development was inevitable, while at the same time also representing progress; albeit they were sometimes uncertain in what ways. This meant that not only were they positive about the future, they also felt that they had no choice but try to stay positive and hope that the future might surprise them. The respondents also seemed to rely on management in assuming that they followed a well thought-through plan, and hence saw advantages with the new system that were still unclear to nursing staff, but that would eventually become clear in the future as they got into the new system.

Finally, as a consequence of the additional changes being introduced at the hospital overall alongside ECP implementation, as mentioned in section 4.4., there was an increasing fear of job loss not only in the group of nursing assistants, but among nursing staff in general, that somewhat affected the experience of ECP implementation as well.

## 5.2 Findings from paper I

This paper reported the emotional experiences of nursing staff as they were interviewed one month prior to the anticipated introduction of ECPs and the associated organizational restructuring. It was evident that a wide range of positively and negatively toned emotional experiences could be identified, not only between but also within individuals. This entailed a tendency to express mixed or ambivalent emotional experiences. On the one hand, the respondents were unable to decide how they really felt, and experienced their emotional state to be very much an ongoing process as they acknowledged that future events or situations might make them feel differently. On the other hand, the respondents expressed different emotional experiences (both positive and negative) in relation to different aspects or dimensions of the anticipated changes. In an attempt to explore what the emotional experiences were about, three overall themes were synthesized from the data: envisioning the change process, meeting professional standards in the future, and the everyday work situation following anticipated change. None of the respondents reported only negatively toned emotional experiences and there was no indication that the respondents were generally unwilling to change; they were mainly concerned with continuing to work according to high professional standards without too much of an extra burden to their everyday work situation following the anticipated changes.

#### 5.3 Findings from paper II

This paper reported the emotional experiences of nursing staff three months after ECPs, and associated organizational re-structuring, had been introduced at the ward, and focused particularly on the negative emotional experiences being reported. This does not mean that only negatively-charged emotional experiences were being expressed at this point in time, but that the aim of the analysis was to explore negative emotional experiences in depth. A wide range of specific negative emotional experiences relating to the changes that had been implemented were reported (e.g. insecurity, fear, worry, sadness, and hatred). On one level, these emotional experiences related to poor managerial pre-planning, where the respondents felt that managers were not really in control of the changes and their implications, and that they had left it up to the respondents to sort out potential problems on the ward level, and not taken their share of responsibility with regards to these problems. On another level, the respondents experienced a range of negative emotional experiences in relation to struggling to maintain the professional quality of their work following change. However, despite this, the respondents did not resist the changes, but did their best to deal with them through adopting strategies, such as working unpaid overtime, to keep up with the changes and maintain professional standards at the same time.

## 5.4 Findings from paper III

In this paper the emotional experiences of anticipating versus retrospectively looking back on ECP implementation one year later were contrasted and compared to explore the process whereby the expectation of change(s) feeds into the evaluation of these changes in retrospect.

A wide range of different (positive and negative), ambivalent, and hesitant (e.g. uncertainty and 'wait and see') emotional experiences were reported at both points in time; something which indicates that there was no clear and systematic pattern from anticipation to retrospection. At the same time there was a continued, and to some extent increasing, presence of negative emotional experiences, as well as a sense of resignation, at the retrospective point in time. These emotional experiences related to quite specific and local aspects, situations, and relationships associated with the changes and the change process (e.g. the dynamic between the respondents' expectations and managerial actions over time), as well as to wider societal trends relating to the specific change project (e.g. the experience of technological change being inevitable); and there was nothing to suggest that the respondents actively resisted or sabotaged the changes.

# 6 General discussion

This section discusses the main findings of this thesis. In addition, some theoretical considerations will be elaborated. Finally, there will be a section on the implications of the study as well as suggestions for future research. The main methodological issues that were particularly prevalent in the present thesis have already been discussed in sections 4.8.1 and 4.8.2.

## 6.1 Discussion of the findings

With regards to the two identified limitations of the literature: "a one-sided and biased perspective on negative emotional experiences" and "emotional experiences portrayed as predictable reactions that occur in distinct stages over time", and the aim of exploring employees' emotional change-experiences from a contextual point of view, at least two points arise when considering the findings of the present study. Firstly, emotional change-experiences were highly multifaceted (e.g. positive, negative, and ambivalent) both prior to (anticipation) and after (retrospection) change had been implemented; something which indicated that they did not evolve according to a clear pattern over time. Secondly, it was found that there was a persistent, and to some extent increasing, presence of negative emotional change-experiences over time.

However, when negative emotional change-experiences were explored in depth at all three points in time (prior to, during, and after implementation), they were not found to reveal a general unwillingness to change. In relation to both of these points, the study found that the respondents' emotional change-experiences were about, and evolved over time in relation to, quite specific contextual circumstances, and illuminated what these circumstances were. The two points will be discussed on a general level below. For a thorough elaboration of the different emotional experiences being reported in the study, and what they were found to revolve around, please see the three respective papers.

#### 6.1.1 Multifaceted emotional experiences over time

The study showed that positive, negative, and mixed emotional experiences were being reported; not only between but also within individuals. Furthermore, this tendency was prevalent both prior to (anticipation) and after (retrospection) change had been implemented. The respondents in this study to a large extent looked forward to the changes, and expressed optimism, at an anticipative stage. Furthermore, negative emotional experiences were for the individual respondent typically balanced by positive emotional experiences as a consequence of feeling differently about different aspects of the changes/change process.

These findings are in line with Kiefer (2002a; 2002b), who also found that employees reported a range of positive emotional experiences in association with change. Hence, the present study contributes to strengthening further the argument that, although phenomena such as employees' stress (Cartwright & Cooper, 1992), negative attitudes (Lowry, 1994), and resistance (Kotter & Schlesinger, 1992) may be relevant to understanding employees' change-experiences, they only partially describe these experiences, since they follow the direct or indirect assumption that employees' change-experiences are mainly negative. This is especially true considering that not only did the respondents report positive emotional experiences after the changes had been introduced, when they had potentially had a chance to see the benefits of the changes, but they also expressed positive emotions at the mere prospect of change (anticipation). Quite contrary to what is assumed in relation to resistance for instance, where it is assumed that change is unwanted on a general level, the present study found that the respondents seemed to believe that change represented a better future, even prior to its introduction, following the notion of technological progress. Hence, on one level, change was viewed to be generally for the better, and was not seen as something unwanted.

However, the present study also showed, to a larger extent than the studies of Kiefer (2002a; 2002b), that the respondents took into account that their emotional experiences would evolve over time depending upon the future circumstances of their situation. In relation to this it was particularly conspicuous to note not only that the emotional change-experiences being reported at the anticipative and retrospective points in time were to a large extent similar, but also that the respondents seemed to put their emotional experiences on hold somewhat (e.g. uncertainty/'wait and see'); being unable to form global evaluations at both points in time. When exploring the reasons why the respondents to some extent seemed unable to form

global evaluations with regards to the changes, even one year after they had been introduced at the retrospective point in time, this could be explained on the basis of a range of contextual circumstances and the ways in which they evolved over time. It was, for instance, evident that their ambivalent and hesitant emotional change-experiences at the retrospective point in time could be tied to the poor managerial planning with regards to the actual changes which became evident during implementation; something which in turn led to a continued confusion among the respondents over time with regards to the ways in which the ECPs should be employed on an everyday basis.

However, the respondents' ambivalent and hesitant responses could also be explained on the basis of wider societal trends (e.g. the notion of technological progress) where change, for instance, was generally seen to be for the better; albeit the respondents remained uncertain as to in what ways. In relation to this, several contributors to the literature have pointed out that today's modern society, as well as organizations, are increasingly characterized by uncertainty, complexity, and diversity; something which leads to a pluralism of meanings and generates a sense of confusion and/or a situation whereby individuals typically are unable to tell whether something is this or that (ambiguity) and experience mixed feelings (ambivalence) (Karakas, 2009; Weigert, 1991). It can also be argued that this uncertainty, complexity, and diversity, coupled with the idea that change was inevitable, may have contributed to making the respondents somewhat passive, where they possibly felt that there was no point in making an effort to ruminate too much over their current situation and come up with very clear conclusions and statements with regards to how they really felt about it.

On the other hand, the persistent ambivalent and hesitant emotional change-experiences of the respondents may also have something to do with the nature of the specific change context of the present study. It has been argued that public organizations are inherently more complex than private organizations because they are the site of a continuous contestation of public purposes (Hoggett, 2006); something which may have made it difficult to come up with very clear-cut evaluations of the situation. Furthermore, and in relation to this, the hospital sector is increasingly facing the sometimes contradictory aims of simultaneously increasing both efficiency and quality of work following new public management policies (Pollitt & Bouckaert, 2000). In addition, it has also been claimed that improved information access, and the new information technology that supports it, is the driving force for the situation of

increased complexity in health care (Clancy & Delaney, 2005); something which may presumably also lead to an increased sense of uncertainty and confusion.

The expression of ambivalent and hesitant responses, even one year after the changes had been introduced, can also be explained by the fact that the respondents adopted learned responses that are particularly applicable to the nursing context (please see also section 4.8.2, where some of the methodological challenges associated with the expression of emotional responses were discussed). It is well known that hospital environments are typically characterized by unequal power relationships, where nurses are used to being told what to do and to follow orders from doctors and other individuals higher up in the hierarchy (Mantzoukas & Jasper, 2004), whilst simultaneously being part of a very collectively-oriented culture (Hamran, 1992; Elstad & Hamran, 1995); hence nurses are not acquainted with, or possibly fear the consequences of, voicing their individual concerns very clearly and explicitly. As a consequence, the respondents may have found it more sensible, or necessary, to communicate their concerns in somewhat unclear or concealed ways.

Since a wide range of different (positive and negative), ambivalent, and hesitant (uncertainty/'wait and see') emotions was reported at both the anticipative and retrospective points in time, it was evident that the respondents' emotional change-experiences did not evolve according to a very clear pattern over time. Hence, the present study did not support the assumptions being made in 'stage models' or 'emotional change curves' (e.g. Bridges, 2003), where it is maintained that emotional change-experiences occur in predictable and distinct stages, and that the initial news of change is experienced negatively, but that change will finally be embraced by employees as they understand that it is after all for the better. With regards to the present study, it can however be argued that there is a chance that the findings would have been different if the respondents had been followed over an even longer period of time, especially considering all the additional, and somewhat unexpected, changes that were introduced. The respondents may after all not have been ready to embrace the new changes fully given the present chaotic and unsettled situation. On the other hand, it may be argued that most change processes may be viewed as complex, and hence characterized by a range of uncertainties, following the increasing pace and scope of change in today's organizations (Albert et al., 2000); and hence that 'emotional change curves' show only limited applicability to the change context of today's organizations.

#### 6.1.2 Negative emotional experiences over time and their content

When exploring the negative emotional experiences being reported in this study in depth, it was evident that they did not relate to the changes in themselves or reflect a general unwillingness to change; something which is explicitly or implicitly assumed in the resistance literature (e.g. Lorenzi & Riley, 2000a) and in 'stage models' or 'emotional change curves' (e.g. Bridges, 2003). This was not only evident in that negative emotional experiences were typically coupled with positive emotional experiences, as pointed out above. When explored from the respondents' point of view, negative emotional experiences were found to revolve around quite specific aspects of the change context, such as the ways in which the changes, and the ways in which the professional quality of work was affected. These findings were very similar to the findings reported in Kiefer (2005; 2002a; 2002b), and resonated with the fact that negative emotional experiences were not irrational, but followed a certain reasonable logic (Lazarus, 1991).

However, it may also be argued that the lack of overt complaints or resistance in the present study could have been due to the particular aspects of the nursing context, such as typical power relationships in hospitals implying that nurses are used to following orders without questioning decisions that have already been made (Mantzoukas & Jasper, 2004). It can also be argued that the professional arguments being adopted by the respondents were intended as a covert strategy for indirectly expressing hostility to the changes (Timmons, 2003); something which may not have been captured in the present study. In relation to this it may also be pointed out that the adoption of professional rhetoric may possibly also be viewed as a more effective strategy for avoiding change than overt objection, considering the powerful nature of arguments involving the well-being of patients and the fact that managers would experience great problems with publicly justifying changes that could be potentially harmful to patients.

In the present study it was also striking to note that the respondents adopted rather 'extreme' strategies to uphold the level of professionalism over time throughout the change process. There were for instance examples of nurses who started working nightshifts only, as well as unpaid overtime, in order to be able to simultaneously keep up with the pace and scope of the changes and maintain professional quality. They did this rather than objecting to the

unreasonable change situation, despite the fact that this resulted in a rather unbearable situation for the respective employees. This is also something which may be interpreted to be specific to the particular context of nursing. First of all there is the nature of nursing work. The potential downgrading of professional standards are likely to have far more serious consequences for nurses compared to the consequences involved for employees in clerical jobs where the well-being of other individuals, who are in a vulnerable position following illness, is not at stake. It has also been pointed out that nurses typically tend to individualize organizational or structural problems (Hamran, 1992), something which may mean that nurses set their own needs and wants aside for the sake of the patient.

The lack of resistance may also be explained on the basis of the particular situation of the respondents in the present study. For instance, the respondents may have particularly feared the consequences of raising their concerns in negative ways considering that they were worried about the prospect of job loss following the ways in which the change situation had developed over time. It can also be argued that, given that change was perceived to be inevitable in the present study, it did not really make sense to object to the changes.

The present study also found that negative emotional change-experiences were not only present in the early phases of the change project, but persisted, and to some extent increased, as the change process progressed over time from anticipation to retrospection. This finding is contrary to what could be expected on the basis of 'stage models' or 'emotional change curves' (e.g. Bridges, 2003), where the emotional experience of change is assumed to go from negative to positive over time.

The ways in which the negative emotional change-experiences evolved over time could partly be explained on the basis of the continuous dynamic between managers and employees, in line with Smollan (2006); where the lack of managerial pre-planning with regards to the actual changes gradually became more apparent to the respondents, and where they increasingly felt let down by managers throughout the change process. In relation to this it may be argued that, when considering the nature of leadership, where managers are bound to reach unpopular decisions from time to time, employees will inevitably experience negative emotions without this being unusual or problematic. However, as was evident in the present study, it was not necessarily the negative emotions per se that were problematic, but the ways in which they were dealt with over time; or alternatively the fact that they were not dealt with

at all, but rather ignored. According to Frost (2007), negative emotions may actually prove toxic if not dealt with appropriately by 'toxin handlers'. In the present study, it was evident that the negative emotions were to some extent buffered or neutralized by the support from colleagues who turned out to be 'toxin handlers' at the anticipatory stage of the change project. However, as the change project progressed, it is not difficult to imagine that the support from colleagues was no longer sufficient and that attention, empathy, and understanding from managers were required.

On the other hand, the persistent tendency to experience negative emotions over time could also be tied to the fact that the respondents were facing a situation increasingly characterized by continuous and overlapping changes and change processes. In relation to this, Kiefer (2005) found that the more changes were experienced at work, the more negative emotions were reported. As elaborated in the previous section (section 6.1.1), it is not difficult to imagine that the respondents of the present study felt overwhelmed by the increasingly uncertain and complex nature of their current work situation, and that this not only led to ambiguous and ambivalent emotional experiences as argued above, but also to respondents being increasingly negatively affected by the strain and pressure that this situation represented over time.

#### 6.2 Theoretical considerations

In this section the concept of emotional experiences and the theoretical construct of appraisal will be briefly discussed. This follows the adoption of the term 'emotional experiences' in the present study and the premise that people's emotional experiences are assumed to relate to something in their surroundings (e.g. organizational change), and hence emerge as the outcome of more or less conscious evaluations where appraisals cause emotions.

#### 6.2.1 The concept of emotional experiences

To some extent the critique that was outlined in the introduction with regards to the general concepts being adopted in the existing literature, and their indirect coverage of specific emotions due to the adoption of global concepts with unclear relations to emotions as such (e.g. as in the case of the concept of resistance), also applies to the present study. This follows on from the adoption of a fairly broad conceptualization of emotional experiences, including

not only discrete emotions, but also other affect terms such as moods and emotion-laden judgements, due to a range of methodological considerations and challenges that have already been identified in the methods section (please see sections 4.8.1 and 4.8.2). In relation to this, it may be argued that an even deeper understanding of the emotional change-experience within the context of this study could have been obtained if a wider range of distinct and specific emotions, along with their perceived causes, had been allowed to be captured. Many of the experiences reported in this study can be seen as only reflecting somewhat neutral judgments (e.g. 'feeling ok' and 'positive feeling'), where it is not certain to what extent they really reveal emotional content; or alternatively that the level of emotional intensity remains unclear.

However, on the other hand, it may be argued that, although a broad conceptualization was adopted, an attempt was made at the same time to explore the respondents' emotional experiences from a contextual and bottom-up point of view; something which meant that the broader picture of the respondents' statements was considered. As outlined in the methods section, the respondents were not very explicit about their emotional experiences, but when taking the wider context of nursing into account, as well as methodological considerations (e.g. aspects of the sampling process and interview situation), a wide range of sometimes intense emotional experiences could be seen in the respondents, although they were implicitly or indirectly expressed. This meant that categories such as 'positive feeling' and 'feeling ok' were not drawn out of the data material unless they could be 'justified' as emotional based on contextual information (e.g. the observation of body language or information about the situation at the ward).

#### 6.2.2 The construct of appraisal

There has been considerable debate in the literature with regards to the theoretical construct of appraisal (see e.g. Roseman & Smith, 2001, for a summary). A central issue which applies specifically to the premise of this thesis, that an individual's emotional experiences relate to something in his her/surroundings (e.g. organizational change), is whether emotions are really caused by appraisals, or if they may better be seen as components or consequences of emotional responses. According to the view of Parkinson (2001; 1997), the causal link between an event and an emotional experience as a response to that event is not necessarily that clear. It may be the case that an emotion emerges as a consequence of the actual

experience of the emotion, whereby the evaluation comes after the emotion has occurred. One example is when an individual's experience of anger prompts him/her to blame an event or incident, whereby the blaming of this event is caused by being angry and not vice versa. Furthermore, emotions may also be seen to emerge out of a social process where emotions are expressed as an act of communication (Parkinson, 2001; 1997). As already discussed in section 4.8.2, one may for instance say that one feels a certain way, or communicate an appraisal, in order to obtain something (e.g. comfort and understanding) from the person (e.g. the interviewer) to whom the emotion or appraisal is communicated, without there being a prior cognitive conclusion of something that has happened (e.g. an event) being involved.

According to this argument it may be impossible, or not even desirable or meaningful, to try to link emotional experiences to specific events and happenings (e.g. organizational change). However, it may still be argued that it is worthwhile to explore the different ways in which emotional experiences are 'brought alive' (Sturdy, 2003) within the specific context of organizational change. The present study did not intend to uncover causal links between emotional experiences and events and situations on an objective level, but to explore the different ways in which emotional experiences emerged within the specific change context; and therefore focused on the respondents' evaluations of what these emotional experiences were about. Hence the main intention was to explore what the respondents felt their emotional experiences were about, or alternatively what they wanted to communicate that they were about.

## 6.3 Implications and further research

Following the findings of the present study it is argued, in line with Kiefer (2002a; 2002b), that general assumptions and 'recipe-based' models are not applicable to, and unlikely to be helpful for, understanding and dealing with employees' emotional change-experiences. These assumptions/models do not account for the role played by specific contextual circumstances, and hence provide very simplified representations of reality which fail to take into account the complexity involved in the change process, as well as in the emergence of emotional experiences.

In relation to this, it may be argued that managers and practitioners should apply alternative, and more contextually- and 'bottom-up'-oriented perspectives in order to understand and deal

with employees' emotional change-experiences; and/or that already existing perspectives/approaches in the managerial and change literature should be reframed to fit the 'new reality' of the globalized, knowledge-intensive, and complex world of which today's organizations are a part.

This may involve not only the in-depth understanding of the 'reason' behind emotions, but also the fostering of a culture of emotional awareness in organizations in order to manage change in an emotionally intelligent way (Härtel & Zerbe, 2002). A culture of emotional awareness is suggested to ensure that managers should continuously pay as much attention to employees' emotional states as they do to their skills. This may be particularly important in today's organizations, which are presumably part of a more complex world, where it for instance can no longer be expected that managers automatically have the needed breadth of outlook on a situation, as was suggested by Grensing (1991). Furthermore, Härtel & Zerbe (2002) suggested that managers should attempt to help employees develop awareness of their emotional states, as well as of emotional processes in the organization, and suggest beneficial ways for employees to deal with these emotions.

Given that not many studies in the literature have adopted contextually-oriented and bottomup approaches/perspectives in order to explore and understand employees' emotional changeexperiences, particularly over time and taking the emotional anticipation of change into account, more empirical research is needed in this area. It would be particularly interesting to explore employees' emotional change-experiences in other contexts of change in order to see how they contrast and compare. When it comes to exploring emotional change-experiences over time, it is particularly suggested that future studies should rely more heavily on research methods that enable a closer observation of emotional encounters in real time, such as participant observation or a daily diary study, in order to be better able to capture the ebbs and flows of emotions than the present study, where the main data collection method consisted of repeated interviews at isolated points in time.

## References

Albert, S., Ashforth, B.E. and Dutton, J.E. (2000). 'Organisational identity and identification: Charting new waters and building new bridges', *Academy of Management Review*, 25, pp. 13-17.

Allen, D. (2004). 'Re-reading and re-writing practice: Towards an empirically based reformulation of the nursing mandate', *Nursing Inquiry*, 11, pp. 271-283.

Allen, D. (1998). 'Record-keeping and routine nursing practice: The view from the wards', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 27, pp. 1223-30.

Alloy, L.B. & Abramson, L.Y. (1979). 'Judgement of contingency in depressed and nondepressed students: Sadder but wiser?', *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 108, pp. 441-85.

Alvesson, M. & Sköldberg, K. (1994). *Tolkning och reflektion. Vetenskapsfilosofi och kvalitativ metod*, Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Ashkanasy, N.M., Härtel, C.E.J., & Daus, C.S. (2002). 'Diversity and emotion: The new frontiers in organizational behaviour research', *Journal of Management*, 28, pp. 307-338.

Beer, M. & Nohria, N. (2000). 'Cracking the Code of Change', *Harvard Business Review*, 78, pp. 133-141.

Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2001). The Subtlety of Emotions, London: The MIT Press.

Bhaskar, R. (1983). 'Beef, structure and place: Notes from a critical naturalist perspective', *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, 13, pp. 81-97.

Bovey, W.H. & Hede, A. (2001). 'Resistance to organizational change: The role of defence mechanisms', *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 16, pp. 534-548.

Briner, R.B. (1999). 'The neglect and importance of emotion at work', *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8, pp. 323-346.

Briner, R.B. (1997). 'Beyond stress and satisfaction: Alternative approaches to understanding psychological well-being at work', in *Proceedings of the British Psychological Society Occupational Psychology Conference*, Leicester, UK: British Psychological Society, pp. 229-234.

Burke, K. (2002). Organisation Change, Theory and Practice, London: Sage Publications, Ltd.

Bridges, W. (2003). *Managing Transitions: Making the Most of Change*, USA: Da Capo Press.

Bridges, W. (1986). 'Managing organisational transitions', *Organisational Dynamics*, 15, pp. 24-34.

Callahan, J.L. & McCollum, E.E. (2002). 'Conceptualizations of emotion research in organizational contexts', *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 4, pp. 4-21.

Cappelli, P. & Sherer, P.D. (1991). 'The missing role of context in OB: The need for a mesolevel approach', *Research in Organizational Behaviour*, 13, pp. 55-110.

Cartwright, S. & Cooper, C.L. (1992). *Mergers and Acquisitions: The Human Factor*, Oxford: Butterworth.

Charmaz, K. (2005). 'Grounded theory in the 21<sup>st</sup> century: Applications for advancing social justice studies', in Denzin, N.K. & Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*, California: Sage Publications, Inc., pp. 507-535.

Charmaz, K. (1995). 'Grounded theory', in Smith, J.A., Harré, R. & Langenhove, L. (eds.), *Rethinking Methods in Psychology*, London: Sage Publications, Ltd., chapter 3.

Clancy, T.R. & Delaney, C.W. (2005). 'Complex nursing systems', *Journal of Nursing Management*, 13, pp. 192-201.

Cox, J. (1997). 'Manufacturing the past: Loss and absence in organisational change', *Organisation Studies*, 18, pp. 623-654.

Deal, T. & Kennedy, A. (1982). Corporate Cultures, Reading MA: Addison-Wesley.

Dent, E.B., & Goldberg, S.G. (1999). 'Challenging 'resistance to change'', *The Journal of Applied Behavioural Science*, 35, pp. 25-41.

Dingwall, R., Rafferty, A.M. & Webster, C. (1998). An Introduction to a Social History of Nursing, London: Routledge.

Duck, J.D. (2001). The Change Monster, New York: Three Rivers Press.

Elrod, P.D. & Tippett, D.D. (2002). 'The 'death valley' of change', *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 15, pp. 273-291.

Elstad, I. & Hamran, T. (1995). *Et kvinnefag i moderniseringen. Sykehuspleien mellom fagtradisjon og målstyring*, Oslo: Ad Notam Gyldendal AS.

Fine, G.A. (1996). 'Justifying work: Occupational rhetorics as resources in restaurant kitchens', *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41, pp. 90-115.

Fineman, S. (2005). 'Appreciating emotion at work: Paradigm tensions', *International Journal of Work Organisations and Emotion*, 1, pp.4-19.

Fineman, S. (2004). Understanding Emotion at Work, London: Sage Publications, Ltd.

Fineman, S. (2000). 'Emotional arenas revisited' in Fineman, S. (ed.), *Emotion in Organizations*, London: Sage Publications, Ltd., pp. 1-24.

Fink, S.L. (1967). 'Crisis and motivation: A theoretical model', *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 48.

Flick, U. (2006). An Introduction to Qualitative Research, London: Sage Publications, Ltd.

Fog, J. (2004). *Med samtalen som udgangspunkt. Det kvalitative forskningsinterview*, København: Akademisk forlag.

Fredrickson, B.L. (2000). "Extracting meaning from past affective experiences: The importance of peaks, ends, and specific emotions", *Cognition and Emotion*, 14, pp. 577-606.

Frijda, N.H. (1993). 'Moods, emotion episodes and emotions', in Lewis, M. & Haviland, J.M. (eds.), *Handbook of Emotions*, New York: Guildford Press, pp. 381-403.

Frost, P.J. (2007). *Toxic Emotions at Work and What You Can Do About Them*, Boston, Massachusetts: Harvard Business School Press.

Fugate, M., Kinicki, A.J. & Scheck, C.L. (2002). 'Coping with an organisational merger over four stages', *Personnel Psychology*, 55, pp. 905-928.

Glaser, B. & Strauss, A. (1967). *The Discovery of Grounded Theory*, New York: Aldine Publishing Company.

Gray, E. & Watson, D. (2001). 'Emotion, mood and temperament: Similarities, differences and a synthesis', in Payne, R.L. & Cooper, C.L. (eds.), *Emotions at Work*, New York: Guildford Press, pp. 157-172.

Glouberman, S. & Mintzberg, H. (2001). 'Managing the care of health and the cure of disease - Part I: Differentiation', *Health Care Management Review*, Winter, pp. 58-71.

Grensing, L. (1991). 'Managers must plan changes', Office Systems, 8, pp. 44-47.

Hamran, T. (1992). Pleiekulturen. En utfordring til den teknologiske tenkemåten, Oslo: Gyldendal Norsk Forlag.

Härtel, C.E.J. & Zerbe, W.J. (2002). 'Myths about emotions during change', in Ashkanasy, N.M., Zerbe, W.J. & Härtel, C.E.J. (eds.), *Managing Emotions in the Workplace*, London: M.E. Sharpe, Inc., pp. 70-76.

Hartley, J. (2004). 'Case study research', in Cassell, C. & Symon, G. (eds.), *Essential Guide* to *Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research*, London: Sage Publications, Ltd., pp. 323-333.

Heath, H. & Cowley, S. (2004). 'Developing a grounded theory approach: A comparison of Glaser and Strauss', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 41, pp. 141-150.

Helsepersonnelloven (1999) http://www.lovdata.no/all/tl-19990702-064-008.html.

Hoggett, P. (2006). 'Conflict, ambivalence, and the contested purpose of public organizations', *Human Relations*, 59, pp. 175-194.

Huy, Q.N. (1999). 'Emotional capability, emotional intelligence and radical change', *Academy of Management Review*, 24, pp.325-345.

Isabella, L.A. (1990). 'Evolving interpretations as a change unfolds: How managers construe key organizational events', *Academy of Management Journal*, 33, pp. 7-41.

Jaeger, M.E. & Rosnow, R.L. (1988). 'Contextualism and its implications for psychological inquiry', *British Journal of Psychology*, 79, pp. 63-75.

Jick, T.D. (1990). 'The Recipients of Change' (teaching materials), Boston, Harvard Business School, in Burke, K. (2002), *Organisation Change, Theory and Practice*, London: Sage Publications, Ltd.

Johns, G. (2006). 'The essential impact of context on organizational behaviour', *Academy of Management Review*, 31, pp. 386-408.

Johns, G. (2001). 'In praise of context', Journal of Organizational Behaviour, 22, pp. 31-42.

Karakas, F. (2009). 'New paradigms in organization development: Positivity, spirituality, and complexity', *Organization Development Journal*, 27, pp. 11-26.

Kiefer, T. (2005). 'Feeling bad: Antecedents and consequences of negative emotions in ongoing change', *Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, 26, pp. 875-897.

Kiefer, T. (2002a). 'Understanding the emotional experience of organizational change: Evidence from a merger', *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 4, pp. 39-61.

Kiefer, T. (2002b). 'Analysing emotions for better understanding of organizational change: Fear, joy and anger during a merger', in Ashkanasy, N.M., Härtel, C.E.J. & Zerbe, W.J. (eds.), *Managing Emotions in the Workplace*, New York: M.E. Sharpe, pp. 45-69.

King, N. (2004). 'Using templates in the thematic analysis of text', in Cassell, C. & Symon,G. (eds.), *Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research*, London: SagePublications, Ltd.

Kotter, J.P. & Schlesinger, L.A. (1992). 'Choosing strategies for change', in Gabarro, J.J. (ed.), *Managing People and Organizations*, Boston: Harvard Business School, pp. 395-409.

Kübler-Ross, E. (1969). On Death and Dying, London: MacMillan.

Landman, J. (1996). 'Social control of "negative" emotions: The case of regret', in Harré, R. & Parrot, W.G. (eds.), *The Emotions: Social, Cultural and Biological Dimensions*, London: Sage Publications, Ltd., pp. 90-116.

Lazarus, R.S. (1999). Stress and Emotion: A New Synthesis, UK: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.

Lazarus, R.S. (1991). Emotion and Adaptation, New York: Oxford University Press.

Lazarus, R.S. & Cohen-Charash, Y. (2001). 'Discrete emotions in organizational life', in Payne, R.L. & Cooper, C.L. (eds.), *Emotions at Work*, New York: Guildford Press, pp. 157-172.

Lazarus, R.S. & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, Appraisal and Coping,* New York: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.

Lee, T.T., Yeh, C.H. & Ho, L.H. (2002). 'Application of a computerized nursing care plan system in one hospital: Experiences of ICU nurses in Taiwan', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 39, pp. 61-67.

Leonardi, P.M. & Jackson, M.H. (2004). 'Technological determinism and discursive closure in organizational mergers', *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 17, pp. 615-631.

Lorenzi, N.M., & Riley, R.T. (2000a). 'Managing change: An overview', *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 7, pp. 116-124.

Lorenzi, N.M., & Riley, R.T. (2000b). 'Informatics and organizational change', in Ball, M.J., Hannah, K.J., Newbold, S.K. & Douglas, J.V. (eds.), *Nursing Informatics: Where Caring and Technology Meet*, New York: Springer Publishing Company, Inc., pp. 163-177.

Lorenzi, N.M., Riley, R.T., Blyth, A.J.C., Southon, G. & Dixon, B.J. (1997). 'Antecedents of the people and organizational aspects of medical informatics: Review of the literature', *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 4, pp. 79-93.

Lowry, C.H. (1994). 'Nurses' attitudes toward computerised care plans in intensive care. Part 2', *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 10, pp. 2-11.

Madill, A., Jordan, A. & Shirley, C. (2000). 'Objectivity and reliability in qualitative analysis: Realist, contextualist and radical constructionist epistemologies', *British Journal of Psychology*, 91, pp. 1-20.

Malato, L.A., & Kim, S. (2004). 'End-user perceptions of a computerized medication system: Is there resistance to change?', *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, *Summer*, pp. 34-55.

Manstead, A.S.R. & Semin, G.R. (1988). 'Methodology in social psychology: Turning ideas into actions', in Hewstone, M., Stroebe, W., Codol, J.P. & Stephenson, G.M. (eds.), *Introduction to Social Psychology*, Oxford: Basil Blackwell Ltd., pp. 60-85.

Mantzoukas, S. & Jasper, M.A. (2004). 'Reflective practice and daily ward reality: A covert power game', *Issues in Clinical Nursing*, 13, pp. 925-933.

Marks, M. & Mirvis, P. (1992). 'Rebuilding after the merger: Dealing with survivor sickness', *Organizational Dynamics*, 2, pp. 18-32.

Mowday, R.T. & Sutton, R.I. (1993). 'Organizational behaviour: Linking individuals and groups to organizational contexts', *Annual Review of Psychology*, 24, pp. 195-229.

Murphy, C.A., Maynard, M. & Morgan, G. (1994). 'Pre-test and post-test attitudes of nursing personnel toward a patient care information system', *Computers in Nursing*, 12, pp. 239-244.

O'Connell Davidson, J. (1994). 'The sources and limits of resistance in a privatized utility', in Jermier, J.M., Knights, D. & Nord, W.R. (eds.), *Resistance and Power in Organizations*, London: Routledge, pp. 69-101.

Oreg, S. (2003). 'Resistance to change: Developing an individual difference measure', *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, pp. 680-693.

Parkinson, B. (2001). 'Putting appraisal in context', in Scherer, K.R., Schorr, A. & Johnstone,
T. (eds.), *Appraisal Processes in Emotion: Theory, Methods, Research*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 173-186.

Parkinson, B. (1997). 'Untangling the appraisal-emotion connection', *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 1, pp. 62-79.

Parkinson, B. (1995). Ideas and Realities of Emotion, London: Routledge.

Parkinson, B., Totterdell, P., Briner, R.B. & Reynolds, S. (1996). *Changing Moods: The Psychology of Mood and Mood Regulation*, London: Longman.

Pekrun, R. & Frese, M. (1992). 'Emotions in work and achievement', in Cooper, C.L. &
Robertson, I.T. (eds.), *International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology* 1992, Volume 2, Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., pp. 153-200.

Piderit, S.K. (2000). 'Rethinking resistance and recognising ambivalence: A multidimensional view of attitudes toward an organisational change', *Academy of Management Review*, 25, pp. 783-794.

Pollitt, C. & Bouckaert, G. (2000). *Public Management Reform: A Comparative Analysis*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Robson, C. (2002). *Real World Research: A Resource for Social Scientists and Practitioner-Researchers*, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers Ltd.

Roseman, I.J. & Smith, C.A. (2001). 'Appraisal theory: Overview, assumptions, varieties, controversies', in Scherer, K.R., Schorr, A. & Johnstone, T. (eds.), *Appraisal Processes in Emotion: Theory, Methods, Research*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 3-19.

Saksvik, P.Ø., Tvedt, S.D., Nytrø, K., Buvik, M.P., Andersen, G.R., Andersen, T.K. & Torvatn, H. (2007). "Developing criteria for healthy organizational change", *Work & Stress*, 21, pp. 243-263.

Silverman, D. (2005). Doing Qualitative Research, London: Sage Publications.

Smollan, R.K. (2006). 'Minds, hearts and deeds: Cognitive, affective and behavioural responses to change', *Journal of Change Management*, 6, pp. 143-158.

Spradley, J.P. (1980). Participant Observation, New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc.

Stake, R.E. (2005). 'Qualitative case studies', in Denzin, N.K. & Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*, California: Sage Publications, Inc., pp. 443-466.

Steyaert, C. & Bouwen, R. (2004). 'Group methods of organizational analysis', in Cassell, C.
& Symon, G. (eds.), *Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research*, London: Sage Publications, Ltd., pp. 140-153. Sturdy, A. (2003). 'Knowing the unknowable? A discussion of methodological and theoretical issues in emotion research and organizational studies', *Organization*, 10, pp. 81-105.

Thagaard, T. (1998). Systematikk og innlevelse. En innføring i kvalitativ metode, Bergen: Fagbokforlaget.

TheNationalHealthPlan(Nasjonalhelseplan)(2007-2010):http://www.regjeringen.no/upload/HOD/Sykehus/Nasjonal\_helseplan\_Sartrykk.pdf

Timmons, S. (2003). 'Nurses resisting information technology', *Nursing Inquiry*, 10, pp. 257-269.

Weigert, A.J. (1991). *Mixed Emotions: Certain Steps Toward Understanding Ambivalence*, New York: State University of New York Press.

Wrzesniewski, A. & Dutton, J.A. (2001). 'Crafting a job: Revisioning employees as active crafters of their work', *Academy of Management Review*, 26, pp. 179-201.

Yin, R.K. (2003). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*, California: Sage Publications, Inc.

# Papers

# Paper I

Giæver, F. (2007). 'Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change: The case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals', *International Journal of Work Organization and Emotion*, 2, pp. 49-70.

## Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change: the case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals

## Fay Giæver

Department of Psychology, NTNU (Norwegian University of Science and Technology), 7491 Trondheim, Norway E-mail: fay.giaver@svt.ntnu.no

**Abstract:** This study aimed to address the range and complexity of emotions involved in the anticipation of change at work through adopting a contextual approach to understanding emotions and change. A qualitative study was conducted to explore nurses' emotional responses towards the anticipated introduction of electronic care plans. Emotional responses revolved around three issues in particular: Envisioning the change process, meeting professional standards in the future, and everyday work situation following anticipated change. None of the respondents reported only negative emotion terms, and they both experienced and expected that their emotional experiences would continuously evolve over time.

Keywords: anticipated change; emotion; context; nursing.

**Reference** to this paper should be made as follows: Giæver, F. (2007) 'Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change: the case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals', *Int. J. Work Organisation and Emotion*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp.49–70.

**Biographical notes:** Fay Giæver is a PhD student in Psychology at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). Her project is funded by Trondheim Business School, Norway where she also holds a range of teaching responsibilities. Her current research interests include emotion, organisational change and the employment of information and communication technologies at work.

#### 1 Introduction

Employees in different areas of work are not only increasingly experiencing changes at work (Albert et al., 2000), but they are also anticipating changes that have not yet happened but that are expected to take place in the near future. One example of this is nurses in the Norwegian hospital sector anticipating the implementation of new technologies and work routines intended to increase quality and efficiency of work.

This paper will focus on the anticipation of electronic nursing care plans in particular and has two aims: firstly, to identify and describe emotional responses reported in the anticipation of change and, secondly, to explore the perceived causes of emotional responses expressed in the anticipation of change. A contextual framework will be

Copyright © 2007 Inderscience Enterprises Ltd.

adopted. Context refers to past, present and (envisioned) future situations, events and relationships that are associated with and give emotional responses their meaning. In this paper, the nursing context will be drawn upon in order to understand and interpret emotional responses. The focus on change as anticipative and the perspective taken on emotions will be outlined and elaborated below.

#### 1.1 Anticipated change and emotional responses

Organisational change is seen as constituted by individuals' perceptions, interpretations and actions (Isabella, 1990), rather than as an objective event with a clear beginning and end (such as conceptualised by, e.g., Lewin, 1958). This suggests that individuals are not merely being affected by organisational change; they continuously contribute to the process of change through their perceptions, interpretations and lastly their actions. One way that individuals may contribute to the forming of, as well as being formed by, organisational change is through their expectations and anticipations of change. Anticipated change refers to the imagination of a future situation or scenario at work where changes occur and the envisioning of how these changes will impact upon one's everyday work situation. Emotional experiences and expressions remain central to this imagination of the future, because emotions will be triggered when change is perceived to be substantial and critical (Cox, 1997).

Emotions reported in the anticipation of change are important to investigate because "emotions will shape the anticipation, the experience and the aftermath of change. They are not just the consequences of a change event" (Fineman, 2004, pp.120). In other words, emotions reported in the anticipation of change may prove an important indicator of how the change process will actually happen. This also has some important management implications, suggesting that managers may want to focus their time and energy on understanding employees' emotional responses prior to actually implementing organisational change, rather than trying deal with employee emotions after the change has been implemented. Finally, because individuals have histories and futures, at the same time (Briner et al., 2004), anticipative accounts of change may also prove to be useful at a more evaluative phase of the change process, because responses to an actual shift in material circumstances are better understood in the light of past experiences and events.

However, despite this insight, employees' emotional experiences of change have only been indirectly discussed in the literature, or a limited perspective has been adopted to address organisational change and/or emotions. When it comes to describing the emotional experience of anticipating change, two groups of literature seem to be prevalent.

Firstly, there is the literature in which emotional responses are assumed to occur in stages and escalate as organisational change proceeds. Here, a rather traditional understanding of change is being applied. Change is assumed to be markedly distinct from non-change and emotions are, therefore, believed to be more frequent and intense during change when comparing to non-change situations (Huy, 1999). Emotional reactions of individuals undergoing change have, for instance, been linked to the stages that people go through when they are faced with death and dying (Burke, 2002, Kübler-Ross, 1969). It is being argued that people go though a set of pre-defined and distinct stages and that each stage has to be worked through properly in order to reach the next stage(s). Kübler-Ross (1969) suggested five stages: shock/denial, anger,

#### Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change

bargaining/attempts to postpone the inevitable, depression and acceptance. Bridges (1986), on the other hand, developed a sequence framework directly applied to change. He distinguished between change and transition and argued that whereas change was something distinct with a clear beginning, end transition was an irrational psychological process. Bridges (1986) argued that transition during change involved moving through three phases: ending and letting go, going through the 'neutral' zone and making a new beginning.

Although an explicit distinction between the anticipation and actual experience of change is not being made, the emotional experience of anticipating change is indirectly assumed to differ from the experience of change. Furthermore, change is largely seen as being associated with emotional responses of a more intense and negative character when compared to non-change situations. However, it may not necessarily be the case that negative emotions appear more frequently in change compared to other phases, situations etc. (see Kiefer, 2005) such as in the anticipation of change. The anticipation of change may be as emotional as any other phase of the change process. Stage models have also been criticised for being too simplistic and optimistic in the sense that they work from the assumption that people will eventually embrace change (Jick, 1990; Burke, 2002). Another final point is that stage models do not allow for the fact that emotions are contextually embedded and unfold over time, as people are emotionally anticipating future events through looking backwards into their past experiences.

A second area of literature has dealt with managers' assumptions regarding employees' likely emotional responses to planned change (e.g., Armenakis et al., 1993; Kotter and Schlesinger, 1992), rather than looking into employees' own accounts of anticipating change. Typically, clusters of negative emotions and pre-defined emotion-laden constructs such as resistance to change are employed. From a managerial perspective, one is expecting employees to fear change in general, as if this is a biological disposition, or a dimension of their personalities (see Dent and Goldberg, 1999) and positive experiences of change are to a large extent ignored. However, when adopting this perspective, resistance among employees may become a self-fulfilling prophecy, whereby managers themselves are a major source of resistance (Smollan, 2006). Furthermore, this literature seems to be based on the idea that there exists an almost linear relationship between employees' experiences/expressions of negative emotions and detrimental consequences for the organisation and/or the individual (see Kiefer (2002a) for a similar argument). Hence, negative emotions are viewed as irrational elements within the organisation that need to be managed carefully (Fineman, 2000; Piderit, 2000) in order for change to be implemented successfully. It has, for instance, been claimed that employees' undesirable emotional responses may be held at bay by management through ambiguous communication about forthcoming change events (Conlon and Shapiro, 2002). Kiefer (2002a, 2002b) addressed the limitations of the traditional management and change literature and argued that employees' actual emotional experiences should be explored in a bottom-up approach, in order to avoid the pitfalls of stereotypical and simplistic assumptions. Through looking into concrete and specific emotions, their locally situated causes and consequences, she found that change was linked to diverse and positive emotional experiences. However, the anticipation of possible futures and their emotional connotations were not explicitly addressed because the framework was retrospective.

Only a few studies have empirically investigated employees' reactions, as they were awaiting change (e.g., Conlon and Shapiro, 2002; Fugate et al. 2002). Fugate et al. (2002), for example, examined how employees coped over four stages of a merger. In line with stage model for understanding reactions to change, it was hypothesised that a cluster of pre-defined negative emotions would increase from the anticipatory stage to the initial change stage following a merger. It was argued that this was due to the fact that the consequences of change would gradually sink in. Interestingly, negative emotions did not change across any of the stages of change. However, the authors did find that perceived control was lower at the anticipatory stage compared to later stages, where it increased. They argued that this was due to the uncertainty involved in awaiting change that had not happened yet. The employees had not yet learned how the merger affected them personally.

Because many of the theoretical positions adopted to understanding anticipated responses to organisational change are somewhat limited in their approach and because there are only a few empirical studies explicitly addressing the anticipation of change, we have little in-depth knowledge about employees' emotional experiences of anticipating change at work. Finally, we do not know a lot about how these emotional experiences can be explained in different and diverse contexts of change. After all, it is the context of change that underpins many of the emotional responses evoked during a change process (Smollan, 2006).

The present study, therefore, seeks to explore emotional experiences of anticipating change, within one particular change context, namely nurses anticipating the introduction of electronic care plans at work, in order to get a deeper understanding of emotional responses towards anticipated change.

#### *1.2 A contextual approach for understanding emotional responses to anticipated change*

In the present study, emotional responses are conceptualised as moods (Parkinson et al., 1996) and cognition-related affect terms, such as emotion-laden judgements (Briner, 1999), as well as discrete emotions (Lazarus and Cohen-Charash, 2001). Whereas discrete emotions may change rapidly, are intense and relate to specific occurrences, moods are relatively slow changing, are weak in intensity and do not necessarily relate to specific events or situations. Some cognition-related affect terms differ from discrete emotions and moods in the sense that cognitive elements stand out as more significant. These are not emotions as such but refer to perceptions and thoughts that may be associated with a range of discrete emotions. In this paper, all of these labels will be applied interchangeably, as they share many similarities and can be seen as overlapping phenomena (Gray and Watson, 2001). Furthermore, emotions, moods and cognition-related affect terms are seen as both being shaped by and shaping change, because affective phenomena inhabit action tendencies (Frijda, 1986).

In this study, it is assumed that emotional responses are contextually embedded and are a source for stakeholders to socially negotiate their own perspectives (Fineman, 2005). This means that emotions are not viewed as the result of individual characteristics alone but as closely interlinked with surrounding events, situations and social relationships.

#### Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change

Lazarus (1991) and Lazarus and Folkman (1984) offered a framework where the contextual dimensions of emotions were seen as essential. In their transactional approach, cognitive appraisal was seen as crucial to establish the emotional meaning of events and situations. However, the surrounding context and social relationships were seen as part and parcel of individual emotional responses. As a consequence, people can not be expected to respond emotionally in general and consistent ways across contexts and situations, rather they must be assumed to develop complex and changing representations of things around them through sophisticated sense-making (Briner et al., 2004).

Following a contextual approach to understanding emotional responses to the anticipated introduction of nursing care plans, two research questions were posed:

- What kind of emotional responses were reported in the context of anticipating the introduction of electronic nursing care plans?
- What were the perceived causes of emotional responses reported in the anticipated introduction of electronic nursing care plans?

#### 2 Methods

I was made aware of the planned introduction of electronic care plans at a large Norwegian hospital and several key persons at one of the wards were contacted. It was agreed that I was to participate as a researcher throughout the change process.

#### 2.1 Research context and background

Communicating information about patients across work shifts is essential in order for nurses to carry out their work properly. Traditionally, information about patients has been transferred across shifts verbally and in day-to-day unstructured written reports. Care plans, on the other hand, involve the provision of a more structured and compressed overview of probable nurse-related problems, combined with relevant measures.

Electronic care plans are being introduced in Norwegian hospitals for several reasons. One reason is the trend towards developing and implementing new modules for nursing documentation to be integrated into the already existing electronic patient records (Hellesø and Ruland, 2001). It is often emphasised within the Norwegian hospital context that the technological development in itself (on an abstract level) is inevitable. Therefore, being quick to implement technical solutions is generally seen as a way to stay ahead of the technological development. Furthermore, Norwegian hospitals are very hierarchical organisations, where decisions regarding the implementation of new technology are reached far away from the clinical context. This involves that managers, as well as nurses, referred to in this study are to some extent 'victims' of imposed change.

Finally, both the international nursing literature (e.g., Allen, 1998; Devers et al., 2003) and the Norwegian policy documents (KITH, 2003) have pointed at two potential benefits of adopting nursing care plans, both paper based and electronic: They improve efficiency as well as quality of nursing work.

This entails that, from a managerial perspective, care plans are believed to stimulate greater hospital competition and to reduce costs (Devers et al., 2003). For instance, it is assumed that electronic care planning will take up less time than traditional day-to-day documentation, reduce redundancy and simplify documentation work through quickly

providing more accessible and up-to-date information (Hellesø and Ruland, 2001). At the particular hospital in this research context, this was also coupled with strategies to treat patients faster and to avoid hospitalisation such as through an extended adoption of out-patients' clinics.

From a clinical perspective, care plans are expected to improve the quality of documentation work and hence the quality of care (Allen, 1998). In addition, the development of new ways of documenting can also be seen as a strategy to increase the general occupational status of nurses. One goal has been to make nurses' unique contribution to the healthcare team more visible and to establish a domain of autonomous practice (Dingwall et al., 1988). However, from a practical nursing perspective, it has been reported that care plans are difficult to integrate with everyday practical work at the wards (Allen, 2004).

The particular ward investigated in this study was the first ward at this hospital to implement electronic care plans.

#### 2.2 The anticipated changes: the introduction of electronic care plans and organisational re-structuring

Nurses/nursing assistants were informed, through meetings arranged at their ward, that they were to undergo some major changes at work following the expected introduction of electronic care plans. During these meetings, the inevitability of the technological development in hospitals tended to be emphasised and it was stated by management and several nurses involved in this project at this ward that they could make sure that they stayed ahead of this development through being the first ward to implement electronic care plans. Furthermore, nurses/nursing assistants were also informed about the quality and efficiency benefits of the new system. Finally, they were told that they were to undergo some organisational re-structuring at their ward so that the efficiency and quality potential inherent in the new system could be enabled. This involved that nurses/nursing assistants would collaborate in new work arrangements and be responsible for fewer patients according to a more holistic system for care (primary care), as well as the undertaking of some new work tasks (e.g., nursing assistants taking on some traditional nursing tasks such as removing stitches).

The nurses received three hours of formal training prior to implementation, despite the fact that the changes were generally expected to be overwhelming. Computer illiteracy at the ward was prevalent, especially among older nurses/nursing assistants. Furthermore, nursing assistants were, to a large extent, unfamiliar with any documentation work (both paper and electronically based). However, a large group of nurses were already familiar with using the computer for documentation purposes, but not care plans.

#### 2.3 Data-acquisition and sample

A qualitative approach was adopted because it is particularly suited to obtain an in-depth account of individuals' perspectives and unique experiences (Robson, 1993). Furthermore, interpretive approaches do more justice to the complexity of emotion (Fineman, 2005). Therefore, this research consisted of participant observation, the reading of organisational documents, such as e-mails and minutes, as well as semi-structured interviews.

Participant observation involved attending meetings between head nurses where the planned changes were discussed and taking part in five out of the 28 training sessions that were organised at the ward. On these occasions, I was introduced by a local gatekeeper (Nurse X) as a researcher interested in employees' experiences in relation to change at work. My role at the training sessions tended to be more active and participative (compared to the meetings), as I was allocated my own computer and attempted to learn the electronic care planning system alongside the other nurses/nursing assistants. My impression was that my presence at the training sessions was not experienced as problematic, except from one of the training sessions where only nursing assistants with particularly low computer skills were present. On this occasion, I left after one hour because I felt uncomfortable in the situation and perceived that my presence disturbed the performance of the nursing assistants. Training sessions also became an occasion to talk to Nurse X and to ask questions.

Although field notes were written up after meetings, training sessions and conversations with Nurse X, the main purpose of participant observation was not to obtain ethnographic data but to serve as a descriptive phase (Spradley, 1980). Participation helped me learn some of the relevant 'nursing language' and to get 'a feel' for what it means to be and work as a nurse. This further helped aid the construction of appropriate and context-sensitive interview questions and to communicate more easily with nurses/nursing assistants during interviews. Finally, participation at training sessions and conversations with Nurse X provided me with valuable information about nurses/nursing assistants' concerns and emotional responses that later steered interpretation of interview data. Therefore, a brief summary of what I learned from training sessions and conversations with Nurse X will be provided in the beginning of the results section.

Twenty interview respondents were selected and recruited to participate in my research project through the help of Nurse X. Nurse X's role at the ward cannot be revealed in order to grant the promised anonymity. My relationship with Nurse X was essential for three reasons: Firstly, it was evident from previous experiences and interaction with the nursing context that nursing staff in general were reluctant to interact with people (e.g., researchers) from 'the outside'. Secondly, the subject of my study turned out to be problematic, as potential respondents were worried that I was just a psychologist interested in revealing their inner emotional traumas and problems on a personal level. Nurse X helped unravel this misunderstanding. Finally, Nurse X arranged for nurses to take time out from the ward to participate in interviews, as this was a major problem due to constant shortage of staff at the wards.

However, I tried to ensure purposive sampling (Silverman, 2005) through thoroughly communicating the aims and methodological considerations of my project to Nurse X. The sample consisted of 14 nurses and six nursing assistants and a wide age group was represented. The youngest nurse was in early 1920s, whereas the oldest was 60 years old. Unfortunately, it was only possible to recruit one male nurse.

The interviews were conducted after information meetings and training sessions had taken place at the ward to ensure that nurses/nursing assistants had obtained an understanding of what the changes might imply. During the interviews, nurses/nursing assistants were asked to give prospective accounts of how they thought the introduction of electronic care plans and change of routines would affect them in their future (e.g., "How do you think electronic care plans will affect your everyday work situation in the future?"). Following a contextual approach to understanding emotional

responses towards anticipated change interview questions also revolved around the respondents' past (depending upon length of service) and present experiences and how they envisioned their future in light of these experiences (e.g., "how did you experience the situation before compared to now?" Or "how are your expectations for the future different from how you experience(d) the situation now (before) and why?"). This allowed for both a vertical and a horizontal level of analysis (Pettigrew, 1990), where organisational/contextual and individual dimensions of the respondents' experiences were allowed to emerge simultaneously, as well as the sequential interconnectedness among phenomena over time.

When adopting this approach, the respondents' emotional experiences very often emerged spontaneously; however, the respondents were also followed up with questions concerning their emotions where this was felt to be appropriate (e.g., "how do you feel about this?" or "how did this make you feel?"). Finally, after each interview, a summary was made on the respondents' emotional responses that were perceived, their non-verbal signs of emotion, etc. On an average, interviews lasted 30 minutes and were tape-recorded and transcribed by the author.

#### 2.4 Data analysis

The study was, in its first stage, inspired by the principles of grounded theory established by Strauss and Corbin (1990). This was following the lack of theoretical frameworks for understanding emotional responses to anticipated change in the literature. Following a contextual approach, the aim of the study was to obtain an as open description as possible and to take into account a broad range of emotional responses and social/contextual factors specific to nursing. Field notes and transcripts of interviews were read through and a wide set of themes and issues were allowed to emerge. However, a formal grounded theoretical analysis of the data was not carried out; rather a hybrid between suggestions in Rubin and Rubin (1995) and grounded theory was adopted. This was mainly to do with the fact that coding throughout was informed and refined by continuous reading of existing theory and literature. The NVivo software (Richards, 2005) was applied to assist analysis.

Analysis of the interview material was conducted in three stages. In the first stage, paragraphs in the transcripts where the respondents related to and reflected upon their own perceptions and responses of the expected changes were isolated. In the second stage, emotional responses were identified as codes. As much as possible of the thoughts, perceptions, etc., surrounding the emotional responses were retained for the purpose of the third stage of the analysis. In the third stage, a selection of themes and concepts were drawn out to try to identify what the different emotional responses were about. I particularly looked for concepts and themes interviewees frequently mentioned, concepts and themes indirectly revealed and concepts and themes that emerged from comparing interviews (Rubin and Rubin, 2005, pp.210, 211). An attempt was made to understand the emotional responses from a nursing perspective, through integrating knowledge obtained through all the phases of the data collection and insights from the nursing literature.

## **3** Findings and discussion

In this section, I will first provide a summary of field notes from training sessions and conversations with Nurse X, in order to provide contextual information that aided my interpretation of the interview data and that may potentially help explain findings. Then I will present the interview data, firstly, by giving an overview of emotional responses reported in the anticipation of electronic care plans. Secondly, the perceived causes of emotional responses will be elaborated from a contextual point of view. The findings will be discussed throughout this section; however, this section will be followed by a general discussion where the main findings, limitations and possibilities for future research will be discussed.

# 3.1 Summary of field notes from training sessions and conversations with Nurse X

During training sessions, nurses'/nursing assistants' affective experiences largely revolved around the technical aspects of handling the computer/the new programme as well as issues related to the clinical principles behind the nursing care plan. To a large extent, nurses/nursing assistants were unfamiliar with the nursing care plan and perceived their computer skills to be low (particularly older nursing assistants). One of the older Nursing Assistants (NA2) did, for instance, claim that the assistant had been 'dreading' the training session for days and was 'unable to sleep' the night before training because of the lacking computer skills. The older assistant even admitted about considering to 'call in sick' on the day of training but felt too 'committed' in the work to do so. However, such overt expressions of negative attitudes and emotions were relatively rare. Generally, negative experiences tended to remain 'hidden' in the sense that negative emotional experiences could only be observed indirectly through nurses/nursing assistants' body language. There were, for instance, several occasions where I saw that nurses/nursing assistants' hands were shaking as they were working on the computer, they were unable to sit still or sat very still and they did not say a word and/or had a blank expression in their face.

Despite this, nurses/nursing assistants' emotional experiences overall were not exclusively or distinctly negative. A group of middle-aged nurses (not due to retire for several years) who were quite experienced with handling the computer, but not the care plan, did, for instance, seem particularly positive, enthusiastic and excited. However, I also noted that they appeared as if they wanted the implementation phase over and done with as quickly as possible, coming up with statements such as: "there is nothing to wait for" and "better start right now". They seemed to want the implementation out of the way and to avoid too much critical reflection and contemplating.

Furthermore, there were occasions when nurses/nursing assistants' emotional experiences appeared to shift from negative to positive throughout training sessions, because they had underestimated their own computer skills. One example was one of the older nurses (N12) who arrived at the training session appearing worried, nervous and overwhelmed. Looking at the course material in front the nurse said thing such as: "Do we really have to learn all this? Is it that much?" The nurse also avoided sitting in front of a computer after arriving and jokingly said about hoping that the nurse did not have to use it. However, after getting started, the nurse appeared to cope well with the

computer and the programme and after a while you could see that the nurse was smiling and appeared happy, enthusiastic and gradually more self-confident.

I also noted that teachers on training sessions tended to emphasise and seemed to believe in, the inevitability of the anticipated changes and to ignore critical comments. Typically, teachers would say things such as: "It's natural to feel this way now, but in 2-3 months you probably will not even think about it".

During conversations with Nurse X, it became evident that Nurse X was generally very concerned with the technological development in hospitals and how they did not have a choice about the introduction of electronic care plans at their ward because "*this is the future*". Nurse X genuinely seemed to believe that there was no other solution to but to implement electronic care plans at their ward, in order to stay ahead of the development and the sooner the better. Nurse X was optimistic about the potential of new technology, because even if they did not see the benefits of the new technology at present they would probably see them more clearly in the future.

However, conversations with Nurse X also revealed two other issues: the situation of nursing assistants in particular and the general situation at the ward. The first issue was related to the decision, taken by management, that new nursing assistants would no longer be employed at this particular hospital. However, it had been promised that none of the already employed nursing assistants would be made redundant. A major problem was according to Nurse X that the nursing assistants did not really trust this and were in a situation of not feeling needed at the hospital. Furthermore, nursing assistants do not have a lot of other employment alternatives that are as attractive and well paid as hospital work. Another problem was that computer illiteracy was particularly widespread within the nursing assistant group (particularly older nursing assistants). In addition, nursing assistants were generally unfamiliar with documentation work. This situation was further complicated by the fact that the relatively recent law regulating the behaviour of medical personnel (The Norwegian Health Legislation, 1999) states that every health worker (including nursing assistants) is now required by law to document their work. Nursing assistants were, therefore, facing a particularly demanding situation, at the same time as they felt a strong pressure to prove their indispensability and to show they could keep up with the anticipated changes (because of the fear of loosing their jobs).

The second issue was related to the constant issue of lacking resources and attention to this particular ward. Nurse X claimed that the situation at their ward was either ignored by management, the general media, etc. (their work was made '*invisible*') or focused on in a negative way. Changes to be implemented at the ward, therefore, evoked suspicion among staff in general and nurses/nursing assistants questioned whether the changes were introduced for their benefit. However, Nurse X claimed that after all she (and many others) remained optimistic about the prospect of being the first ward to introduce electronic care plans because Nurse X hoped that this could work as a strategy to make their ward and nursing work in general, more '*visible*' and to shed some positive light on their work.

#### 3.2 Interview transcripts

In response to the second research question, "what kinds of emotional responses were reported in the context of anticipating the introduction of electronic nursing care plans?", a range of cognition-related affect terms, moods and emotions were reported during interviews. Emotion terms reported in the anticipation of nursing care plan

#### Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change

implementation included 'negative feelings', 'positive feelings', 'insecurity', 'fear', 'resignation', 'dissatisfaction', 'not feeling needed', 'worry', 'excitement', 'compassion', 'joy', 'feeling cared for', 'scepticism', 'feeling of being a burden', 'hope', 'aversion', 'wait and see', 'pride' and 'pessimism'.

The anticipation of change was clearly a very emotional experience; however, this experience was highly multifaceted. Different individuals would often express different emotional responses. Furthermore, none of the respondents expressed emotional responses that were only negatively charged. The same individual would typically express emotional responses that were clearly mixed and ambivalent. This was evident in at least two ways: First of all, there was a tendency for the respondents to appear as if they were unable to make up their minds globally on how they felt about the expected changes.

N1: "Well I think, think it's a good idea to try, hem ... I always find new things exciting, so I enjoy being the first ward [to implement electronic care plans], although this means that we will not get the opportunity to learn from other wards ... but well, it's part of the development, the technology, so really, it's only natural ... so uh.. I'm not dreading it, I rather find it exciting. But at the same time, being a good nurse, using it as a tool as you were saying, maybe even becoming a better nurse, for the patients, that's what we want. So yes, I think it will be great ... but we're a bit worried, what if the computer crashes? And things like that of course ... we're kind of used to having our papers, signing everything and [laughter]. Yes I enjoy it, enjoy being a part of it. It's exciting. A bit like, yes we can be proud of what we're doing now, trying to do.. Hmm ..."

This may be caused by the fact that the respondents struggled to create meaning and that their emotions were still experienced as ongoing, indicating that they held their global viewpoints somewhat tentatively (Fredrickson, 2000). When anticipating change, changes have not happened yet and therefore the future may still be perceived as open and uncertain. A lot of the respondents in this sample did, for instance, open up for the possibility that future events/situations might still surprise them, with the consequence that their emotions would evolve and change in different ways in the future. Secondly, emotional responses were mixed and ambivalent in the sense that the respondents felt differently about different elements/dimensions of their anticipated future at work following change. Both of these points, the evolving of emotions over time and feeling differently about different elements of change, will be addressed when responding to the second research question.

In response to the second research question, "what were the perceived causes of emotional responses reported in the anticipated introduction of electronic care plans?", three overall themes were synthesised from the data for the sake of clarity and simplicity:

- envisioning the change process
- meeting professional standards in the future
- everyday work situation following anticipated change.

A range of emotional responses concerned the actual process of changing. Furthermore, respondents' emotional responses also tended to revolve around how they believed their future at work would look like. There were two dimensions to this: One was how the anticipated changes were envisioned to affect the professional quality of their work;

the other was how nurses anticipated they would experience their everyday work situation following anticipated change. The three themes will be elaborated below.

#### 3.2.1 Envisioning the change process

A lot of nurses/nursing assistants expressed a range of negative emotional responses in relation the anticipated change process, because they dreaded the prospect of having to confront their own and others' lacking computer skills. As a consequence of this, the implementation process was believed to be chaotic. Furthermore, the respondents were worried because they expected that learning how to use the new system would come on top of their everyday work tasks (such as 'hands on' patient care), because they anticipated that their work situation would not be adjusted to the additional demands associated with learning the new system. A few of the nurses were worried that the patients would suffer as a consequence of this. There was also a tendency for respondents to feel that changes were being imposed upon them at a too high speed and to fear that they would not be given the appropriate support at the ward throughout implementation.

NA2: "I've been feeling a version against it [the computer]."

N2: "I'm just afraid that it will take a long time until we get into it. I think it will turn out to be pretty chaotic in the beginning. Because nursing assistants, they're supposed to write reports and they've never had anything to do with computers before and some of them are quite old ..."

NA1: "I'm afraid it will take up too much time in the beginning, that ... if we spend too much time on this we might experience problems, in our relationship with the patients, taking care of the patients [...] the way I see it now, the future looks grim, yes, but I still sleep at night, but the future looks grim, cause you could say, we only received training once and then months pass by [..] And what I learned months ago I've forgotten now."

Interviewer: What do you think about the introduction of electronic care plans at your ward?

NA3: "Well it's fair enough, as long as you get enough training, an opportunity to sit down and try, but you do not, it's a disgrace, the situation is way too bad, you get this 'forced down your throat' while the rest is ...[...] there is no opportunity to sit down, you cannot just sit down, that's what they're saying, but it's not as simple as that. If you can not sit down and try for quite a long while there is no point in even trying ...[...] then it's pretty hard to get this 'forced down your throat'."

However, negative experiences were balanced by the support they felt from colleagues and individual managers on the ward. They also acknowledged the role of their own efforts in trying to stay positive about the implementation phase.

NA2: "I'm delighted I have Nurse X around me, because I'm not so afraid to ask for help."

N3: "Speaking for myself I do not feel the future looks grim, even if I'm middle aged and did not grow up with computers, no I do not. [...] I feel there is patience, understanding and encouragement at the ward. But you have to commit yourself, you cannot be afraid to try. You have to stay positive about this."

NA4: "But, but at the same time, you have to try you know, it's not that I'm negative about this, because you just cannot sit down and say that you do not want to be a part of this, no I do not think so."

The respondents also believed that the change process was just a difficult phase that they would eventually 'get over'. They expected to see things differently in the future and were open to the idea that their emotional experiences would shift once they got over the chaotic implementation phase. This was partly explained by the fact that they eventually expected to improve their computer skills through practice.

NA5: "Well a lot of people were stressed and they were saying things like: "oh this is never going to work out!" A lot of people expected something different, but after we did the training sessions I think they changed their minds [...] I do not know, They imagined it was more difficult [...] You change your opinions.. At least I thought it was a lot more difficult than what it turned out to be.. I thought "Oh my god I'm never going to make it!" But when we did the training and learned how to do it I was more like "yes this is going to turn out all right", I'll try for the first time at the ward today [laughter]."

NA4: "I think that if I practice enough I will not be more stupid than the others [laughter]."

However, on another level, the respondents expected that the future would look better once implementation was complete, because of the potential for the technological development to enlighten their future. The respondents saw the technology as having to be 'good for something'; otherwise, it would not have been introduced. The nurses/nursing assistants acknowledged that they might not see the benefits of the anticipated changes in the present, but they expected to see this more clearly once the chaotic implementation phase was over. However, this was coupled with an understanding that the technological development was inevitable. As nothing could be done to stop the development, the respondents seemed to feel that they might as well try to stay positive about the future.

N4: "I'm very excited by the fact that everything is going to get electronic now. I kind of imagine that it will be chaotic in the beginning, eh ... that people will say things such as: "Ah it should have been the way it used to be, this is just a mess, it's never going to work out", but I think that if you give us a bit of time they will realise that we spend less time on papers and that kind of stuff and will get more time for patients and their relatives [...] I think it will get chaotic in the beginning, but then things will calm down.. Well everything that's new is chaotic to start with."

N5: "You cannot escape the writing, sitting in front of the machine, you have to, both in order to read and to find information, so the 'computer beast' is getting at you.[...] I think everything is going in that direction anyway, so that we just have to, you do not have a choice, no ... So, but I think it will turn out to be good, yes.. Once we have gotten into it so ...I'm thinking that, in the future, when we look back on the way we work now I'm sure we'll be like: 'wow amazing that we even managed before!'."

The rather open and optimistic attitude towards anticipated change (the respondents believed that their skills would improve and that the technological development represented something positive) is contrary to what one would expect if adopting stage models (e.g., Kübler-Ross, 1969) or managerial perspectives on change (e.g., Kotter and Schlesinger, 1992), where the idea is that people feel negatively about change almost on a general level across contexts and situations. However, optimism and positive feelings

about anticipated change within this particular context must also be seen in relation to the tendency to view the technological development as inevitable. If you think that there is nothing you can do to stop changes that are expected to take place at your work, there is little point in staying negative about and actively objecting to the changes. It rather makes sense to adjust in the best way possible.

Finally, at the same time, the technology was seen as embedding management goals for efficiency and rationality. As a consequence of this, nurses anticipated a heightened conflict between management ambitions for increasing efficiency and professional ideals of enhancing the quality of their work following the introduction of electronic care plans. This point will be further elaborated below.

#### 3.2.2 Meeting professional standards in the future

Nurses were generally very concerned about doing a 'good job' according to established professional standards and about continuing to do so following anticipated change. To a large extent, documentation work was contrasted with 'hands on' care and practical work was considered most crucial to the nursing role. For some nurses, documentation work was not even considered to be a 'real' nursing task.

The respondents perceived that with the introduction of electronic care plans, they would have to shift more of their attention to administrative work and to spend more time and energy on documentation work. This can be explained by the fact that not only was electronic care plans introduced at this particular hospital to increase the efficiency of documentation work, but, at the same time, strategies were employed at the ward to treat more patients over a shorter duration of time. Hence, the administrative workload was expected to increase, as documentation and administrative work had to be carried out for each individual patient.

The respondents expressed negative emotional responses, such as fear, in relation to the prospect that already-established nursing standards for work would deteriorate as a consequence of introducing new technology as a means to increase efficiency.

N6: "I think everyone will feel guilty, when you are on the computer right and the others are working. And you do not work! [...] No we do not feel that writing is what our job is really about."

NA4: "I do not really think we need more technology...Do you know what I'm afraid of? The nursing profession and the nursing assistant profession is about practical work, you are supposed to be there for the patient, the patient should be focussed on! I'm afraid that.. because it's becoming so much paperwork in the end so that you're stuck with it in order to manage everything and then ... the patient receives surgery, this and that and then it's less and less time for the social aspect, yes for care."

N5: "I'm a bit afraid of the computer world, that we'll be stuck in front of the screen, yes that more time will be spent on this than on our real job."

The respondents also expressed a range of negatively charged emotional responses in relation to more particular aspects of working professionally, following the introduction of electronic care plans. For example, nurses were worried that information about the patients would not be communicated properly through the new system because it was too sparse.

#### Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change

N2: "I'm a bit afraid that ... [Hesitating].. or you could say, the report we're supposed to write now is more like a care plan ... and there is no guarantee that important things will necessarily be characterised as problems if you know what I mean? [...] so where are we supposed to write that? [...] I'm a bit worried that you waste your time on unimportant things while the things that you find important, but that cannot be characterised as problems, will be forgotten."

It was also speculated that the new computerised care plans would eventually replace verbal reports (as a strategy to improve efficiency) and the respondents were pondering over the potential consequences of this for patient care.

N6: "We have the verbal report, from one shift to the other; it's being replaced by the computer, so it's not only positive ... [...] you communicate a lot when you sit like that compared to reading on the computer, it's very much about how things are said, how things are being perceived [...] It can be positive too, the extra chatting, how things are written, how things are said, that you know that the person taking over on the next shift has understood, really understood the things that are important."

Interviewer: So, are you saying you are worried that information will be lost?

N7: "Yes we're groping a bit ... [...] I feel the situation is becoming a bit insecure, but it does not have to be ... [...]I kind of feel that we're able to communicate more during a verbal report compared to computer mediated information, there are lots of things to report that cannot necessarily be characterised as problems, it can be messages, things that have happened throughout the day, thing that we do not know where to put, they can be lost."

However, on the other hand, nurses were, to some degree, also optimistic as to how the introduction of new technology could contribute to improving the quality of their work, while still remaining sceptical about the management intentions behind introducing the electronic care plan.

N8: "I'm only feeling positive about this. But I do not know, in the future ... I have a few thoughts regarding how they [management] are planning to increase efficiency. I hope they do not think the computer can take care of the patients, we still have to be with the patients, I have a few thoughts regarding this. Well I have to put it like an elderly colleague of mine: 'As soon as the computer takes care of the bedpan and the patient, I'll take my hat and leave!' It [the computer] can never replace that. Can never replace care or anything, but I hope it's a tool, that can take care of information in a good way, that we can avoid a mess of paper, that's what I'm hoping, that the computer can be a tool, it's nothing but a tool, that's the way I see it, that's my opinion."

The aspect of meeting professional standards in the future was also closely linked to how they expected to experience their everyday work situation in the future. One example was that the nurses hoped and believed that the anticipated changes would improve the quality of work but also believed that their future everyday work situation would become more demanding, as a consequence of the new quality standards. The nurses expected that they would have to go through extra 'hassle' in their everyday work to obtain the quality improvements inherent to the new computer system.

N9: "Well I think quality assurance is fantastic, but it requires more from the individual nurse [...] you become aware of your own mistakes, you work more consciously, conscious with regards to the responsibility involved [...] I think it will turn out to be really good, I've seen others doing mistakes, right, it's terrifying, I think it is very good that we control one another, but everything is very time consuming...you sign everything twice, medication, everything, everything takes up more time, but I would not be without it."

N1: "Hmm .... I used to think about it a lot in my previous job, I worked as a public health nurse, where I started using a computer. I did not want to become one of those who did not look at the patients when they arrived. Because you know, there are lots of people who refer to doctors in a negative way because they're only looking into the computer screen, right, so I did not want to become like them, I remember I thought a lot about it then. So I tried to make a routine out of it so that I was able to operate the computer and looking at the patients simultaneously, yes I managed to do it.. it worked out, but I had to become more aware, sharper and remember more ...[..] but we'd like to use it as a tool, maybe becoming even better as nurses, for the patients, that's what we want."

This potential source of conflict and ambivalence inherent in the potential for care planning to improve the quality of nursing work and the simultaneous pressure from management regarding efficiency, as well as the extra problems involved in obtaining the quality benefits of care planning, has previously been highlighted in the clinical nursing literature (see Allen, 1998). From an emotions and change perspective this shows that negative emotional experiences do not necessarily express unwillingness to change, but a wish to continue to do a good job according to already-established quality standards.

However, the nurses' everyday work situation was also considered independently of professional standards and the quality of nursing work. The actual experience of being at work was expected to change in different ways in the anticipated future and this evoked a range of different emotional responses among the respondents.

#### 3.2.3 Everyday work situation following anticipated change

Several of the nurses and nursing assistants (particularly younger and middle-aged nurses) anticipated that their everyday work situation would improve as a consequence of the anticipated changes.

One example was one of the younger nursing assistants who, based on the previous experiences at work, looked forward to the anticipated changes because the assistant was expecting to be given more responsibility and a wider range of tasks at work. However, the emotional experience was mixed or ambivalent as the assistant worried that she might not be able to deal with the new tasks.

NA5: "I really enjoy it, that we are given more responsibility [...] we're used to washing patients, working in the kitchen and stuff like that and it was the same tasks almost all the time, but now it's going to get more varied [...] I do find it a bit scary because I've never done it before, but at the same time I find it exciting. Fun. Because, the enjoyable part is when you know you're doing it well, you feel like" ah now I've done it!"."

The introduction of electronic care plans was also seen as a source of variation among some of the more middle-aged nurses. However, they emphasised how this depended on the general workload at the ward. Personality characteristics were also an element that was seen as crucial when it came to how the anticipated changes were experienced emotionally.

N8: "Well I enjoy it, I think it creates a bit of variation [...] I think it's fun, because it means something is happening, it's not a boring routine, like it tended to be in previous years. Something new is happening. But this is a small unit and I think it's harder on larger units where they have more patients [...] I can handle a bit of change, I find it exciting rather than... well I'm thinking.... doing the same routine for another 15–20 years, until I retire, doing the same things day in and day out, I think that would 'kill me', I'd rather be given some challenges."

This shows that in many cases people actually want change and see change as something positive that makes them feel more 'alive'. A boring routine with no change can actually be seen as more harmful for well-being than occasional change in work routines. Furthermore, the emotional experience of anticipating change is very much dependent on how the respondents have experienced their work situation in the past and previous change initiatives. In other words, the nurses generated views or emotional responses regarding their future on the basis of their histories (Briner et al., 2004).

N9 (quote below) did, for instance, experience the everyday workload at the unit to be too overwhelming when they first introduced computers at N9's ward two years ago. As a consequence of this, N9 decided to re-arrange work schedule to work nightshifts only. Nightshifts were generally quieter than the more busy dayshifts. N9 has continued to work nightshifts since and intend to continue to do so also in the future, considering the past experiences with change (the introduction of computers) and the changes that were anticipated to happen in the near future (the introduction of electronic care plans). N9 had made this decision despite the drawbacks of this work arrangement.

N9: "I think I consciously chose to work at night because I feel that I do not handle the stress situation when it's really busy, I feel I need more time.

Interviewer: Is this why you chose to work at night?

N9: Yes it's my way of handling it I think, I hate being a burden to others, that the others are annoyed with me [...] but there are a lot of negative aspects about working at night, you miss the social aspect, it's disadvantageous and you feel more weary [...] but it's the computer thing that has made me choose to work at night, it has given me a bit more time, I need to feel that I can choose when I'm ready to work during the day again."

First of all, this shows that even in a situation that is felt to be restricted and made more difficult, by for instance change, people use the opportunity to actively shape the boundaries of their job through job crafting (Wresniewski and Dutton, 2001). For N9, switching work arrangements did, for instance, make it possible to maintain control over the situation (more time) and to retain a positive self-image (not being a burden to others). Secondly, the fact that N9 chose to switch to the more inconvenient night shifts as a strategy to deal with change, rather than, for instance, protesting or resisting the introduction of computers, also underlines the experienced inevitability of the introduction of new technology at work. There is nothing that can be done to stop the technological development; therefore, adjusting within the boundaries of the work situation (changing the personal work schedule) is a more rational strategy than, for instance, objecting the changes.

#### 4 General discussion, limitations and future research

This study focussed on the emotional anticipation of change through investigating the nursing context in particular and had two aims: identifying nurses' different and specific emotional responses to the anticipated introduction of care plans and exploring the source of these responses. Contrary to what is normally assumed within the managerial change literature (e.g., Kotter and Schlesinger, 1992) and from the point of view of models depicting emotional reactions as occurring in stages throughout change (Kübler-Ross, 1969), an in-depth contextual approach showed that the nurses did not express general and global viewpoints or fixed and stable emotional responses. There were two dimensions to this: Firstly, the respondents expressed a range of different emotional responses, both positive and negative and they were clearly seen as caused by specific experiences, events, situations and social relationships. Secondly, the respondents typically experienced and/or expected that their emotional experiences would evolve and shift, not in neat stages, but continuously over time.

The first dimension was evident in that the same individual would often express positively and negatively charged emotions in relation to different elements of the anticipated change(s). For instance, negative emotions, such as 'fear' in relation to lacking computer skills, were balanced by more positive emotional experiences as a result of feeling supported by colleagues. This entailed that none of the respondents expressed only negative emotion terms in relation to the anticipated changes and that a range of positively charged emotion terms (such as 'excitement', 'compassion', 'joy', 'feeling cared for' and 'pride') were expressed. Furthermore, although the nurses in this study expressed a range of negatively charged feeling terms (such as 'insecurity', 'fear'. 'resignation', 'dissatisfaction', 'not feeling needed', 'worry' and 'pessimism'), none of these were about change in general or necessarily reflected the resistance that was assumed within a lot of the management-oriented change literature (see Dent and Goldberg, 1999). The respondents did not show an unwillingness to change, but were mainly concerned about continuing to work according to high professional standards following anticipated change and the extra burden involved in obtaining this goal. These findings correspond well with emotional accounts of change reported elsewhere in the literature (Kiefer, 2002a, 2002b) and show that negative emotional responses should not be seen as irrational elements within an organisation because from the individuals' point of view within a particular context they have their own logic (Lazarus, 1999). According to a transactional approach for understanding emotions (Lazarus, 1991; Lazarus and Folkman, 1984), emotions are formed by individual variables in conjunction with social and environmental events of importance. Lazarus (1999) pointed to the particular relevance of goals. If your personal goals are at stake in a particular context or situation, such as a wish to continue to fulfil professional standards following anticipated change, strong emotions are likely to occur. Furthermore, emotions, both positive and negative, may also be seen as a way of exerting control and power from the point of view of the position you are in at any time (Sturdy and Fineman, 2001). Through expressing, for instance, negative emotions in a situation of change, you are communicating some of the problems associated with change to members of management and others with power to do something about the situation. In other words, emotions and especially negative emotions, should not be viewed as an obstruction to change, but rather as enablers for dialogue. This is particularly relevant from the point of view of anticipating change, where the organisation still has time to undertake appropriate actions before it is too late.

#### Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change

The second dimension involved that the same individual often experienced and/or expected that their emotions towards anticipated changes at work would evolve and fluctuate continuously over time. Furthermore, through adopting a contextual approach, it was evident that the respondents employed their past as well as their imagined future as a way of emotionally making sense of their present reality. The problem with traditional stage models (e.g., Kübler-Ross, 1969) in this respect is that they typically isolate time and emotional responses as if they were fixed and stable units unrelated to the past and present. In other words, they focus on here and now without considering the past and future that are inevitably connected to the way we feel at any time (Briner et al., 2004). In reality, the distinction between before and after change is, therefore, not necessarily as neat and clear cut.

However, the strength of this study, that emotional responses towards anticipated change are looked at from a contextual and highly specific point of view, may also be seen as a limitation when trying to generalise findings to other contexts. For instance, in this study, imposed change and lack of resistance were found to be central issues. The nursing literature has previously pointed at the fact that this may have something to do with 'nursing culture' or power relationships within the medical hierarchy in particular (Mantzoukas and Jasper, 2004). The relationship between doctors/management and nurses typically remains an unequal one, where decisions flow from top to bottom. Research in other contexts may indicate different trends from what was suggested in this study. However, at the same time, this also underlines the importance of designing change management interventions according to the specific change situations and circumstances. Generalisations and stereotypical assumptions are unlikely to be unhelpful because peoples' emotions in relation to change are so contextually embedded.

Another shortcoming that may have made it difficult to explain the lack of resistance in this study is that it can take on a wide variety of more covert forms that were not captured because the particular focus was on the expression of emotions and not on resistance or other related areas of research. A study investigating nurses' resistance towards technology at work in particular found that nurses exerted their power through what was labelled as 'resistive compliance' (Timmons, 2003). It was argued that the most reasonable strategy for nurses unwilling to change was not to actively sabotage changes but to apply more indirect strategies such as employing a professional rhetoric to avoid changes (e.g., the computer entails working away from the patient; therefore, I avoid working on the computer because nursing is about care and not computer work). A similar rhetoric might have been adopted in this study when nurses argued that nursing was not about computer work. However, as this study was conducted before changes were actually implemented, it was impossible to conclude that this rhetoric led to behaviour that could be characterised as resistant where computer work was avoided.

The study does not provide a high level of insight into the ways in which emotions reported in the anticipation of change may potentially feed into and shape subsequent change-related emotional responses and behaviour – a further limitation. It can be argued that in the early stages of anticipating change people have not yet had a lot of opportunity to form their views and emotions in relation to others. After all, emotion may be viewed as social communication (Parkinson, 1995), whereby emotions are not understood as something internal to the individual but as continuously emerging through real-time encounters between people. In other words, we continuously over time learn about our feelings, what we feel and why, through interaction with other people. It is, therefore, likely that within a group, such as the nursing group of this study, an internal process of

social meaning creation and sense making (Weick, 1995) will continuously evolve throughout the change process and possibly contribute to the forming and re-forming of emotions. Describing and providing insight into the processes where individuals over time continuously look forwards through looking backwards in groups, as well as the emotions and behaviour implications of this, is certainly a relevant and interesting area for future research.

#### Acknowledgement

The author would like to thank Rob B. Briner and Neil D. Walshe for their helpful comments on earlier versions of this paper. Thanks also to the nurses who participated in this project.

#### References

- Albert, S., Ashforth, B.E. and Dutton, J.E. (2000) 'Organisational identity and identification: charting new waters and building new bridges', *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp.13–17.
- Allen, D. (2004) 'Re-reading nursing and re-writing practice: towards and empirically based reformulation of the nursing mandate', *Nursing Inquiry*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp.271–283.
- Allen, D. (1998) 'Record-keeping and routine nursing practice: the view from the wards', *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, Vol. 27, pp.1223–1230.
- Armenakis, A.A., Harris, S.G. and Mossholder, K.W. (1993) 'Creating readiness for organisational change', *Human Relations*, Vol. 46, No. 6, pp.681–703.
- Bridges, W. (1986) 'Managing organisational transitions', Organisational Dynamics, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp.24–34.
- Briner, R.B., Harris, C. and Daniels, K. (2004) 'How do stress and coping work? Toward a fundamental theoretical reappraisal', *British Journal of Guidance and Counselling*, Vol. 32, No. 2, pp.223–234.
- Briner, R.B. (1999) 'The neglect and importance of emotion at work', *European Journal of Work and Organisational Psychology*, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp.323–346.
- Burke, K. (2002) Organisation Change, Theory and Practice, Sage Publications, Ltd., UK.
- Conlon, D.E. and Shapiro, D.L. (2002) 'Employee postings and company responses to downsizing enquiries: Implications for managing and reacting to organisational change', Advances in Qualitative Organisation Research, Vol. 4, pp.39–67.
- Cox, J. (1997) 'Manufacturing the past: loss and absence in organisational change', Organisation Studies, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp.623–654.
- Dent, E.B. and Goldberg, S.G. (1999) 'Challenging 'Resistance to Change'', *The Journal of Applied Behavioural Science*, Vol. 35, No. 1, pp.25–41.
- Devers, K.J., Casalino, L.P., Rudell, L.S., Stoddard, J.J., Brewster, L.R. and Lake, T.K. (2003) 'Hospitals' negotiating leverage with health plans: how and why has it changed?', *HSR: Health Services Research*, Vol. 38, No. 1, pp.419–446.
- Dingwall, R., Rafferty, A.M. and Webster, C. (1998) An Introduction to a Social History of Nursing, Routledge, London.
- Fineman, S. (Ed.) (2000) Emotion in Organisations, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Fineman, S. (2005) 'Appreciating emotion at work: paradigm tensions', *International Journal of Work Organisations and Emotion*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp.4–19.
- Fineman, S. (2004) Understanding Emotion at Work, Sage Publications Ltd., UK.

- Fredrickson, B.L. (2000) 'Extracting meaning from past affective experiences: the importance of peaks, ends and specific emotions', *Cognition and Emotion*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp.577–606.
- Frijda, N.H. (1986) The Emotions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Fugate, M., Kinicki, A.J. and Scheck, C.L. (2002) 'Coping with an organisational merger over four stages', *Personnel Psychology*, Vol. 55, pp.905–928.
- Gray, E. and Watson, D. (2001) 'Emotion, mood and temperament: similarities, differences and a synthesis', in Payne, R.L. and Cooper, C.L. (Eds.): *Emotions at Work*, Guilford Press, New York, pp.157–172.
- Hellesø, R. and Ruland, C.M. (2001) 'Developing a module for nursing documentation integrated in the electronic patient record', *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, Vol. 10, pp.799–805.
- Huy, Q.N. (1999) 'Emotional capability, emotional intelligence and radical change', *Academy* of Management Review, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp.325–345.
- Isabella, L.A. (1990) 'Evolving interpretations as a change unfolds: how managers construe key organisational events', Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp.7–41.
- Jick, T.D. (1990) The Recipients of Change (teaching materials), Boston, Harvard Business School in Burke, K. (2002). Organisation Change, Theory and Practice, Sage Publications, Ltd., UK.
- Kiefer, T. (2002a) 'Analysing emotions for better understanding of organisational change: fear, joy and anger during a merger', in Ashkanasy, N.M., Hârtel, C.E.J. and Zerbe, W.J. (Eds.): *Managing Emotions in the Workplace*, M.E. Sharpe, New York, pp.45–69.
- Kiefer, T. (2002b) 'Understanding the emotional experience of organisational change: evidence from a merger', Advances in Developing Human Resources, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp.39–61.
- Kiefer, T. (2005) 'Feeling bad: antecedents and consequences of negative emotions in ongoing change', *Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, Vol. 26, pp.875–897.
- KITH (2003) Kravspesifikasjon for Elektronisk Dokumentasjon av Sykepleie, Nasjonal Standard, http://www.kith.no/upload/1101/R12-03DokumentasjonSykepleie-rev1\_1-nasjonal Standard.pdf.
- Kotter, J.P. and Schlesinger, L.A. (1992) 'Choosing strategies for change', in Gabarro, J.J. (Ed.): *Managing People and Organisations*, Harvard Business School, Boston, pp.395–409.
- Kübler-Ross, E. (1969) On Death and Dying, MacMillan, London.
- Lazarus, R.S. and Cohen-Charash, Y. (2001) 'Discrete emotions in organisational life', in Payne, R.L. and Cooper, C.L. (Eds.): *Emotions at Work*, Guilford Press, New York, pp.157–172.
- Lazarus, R.S. (1991) Emotion and Adaptation, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Lazarus, R.S. (1999) Stress and Emotion, A New Synthesis, Springer Publishing Company, Inc., UK.
- Lazarus, R.S. and Folkman, S. (1984) Stress, Appraisal and Coping, Springer Publ. Co., New York.
- Lewin, K. (1958) 'Group decision and social change', in Mewcomb, T.M., Maccoby, E.E. and Hartley, E.L. (Eds.): *Readings in Social Psychology*, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, pp.197–219.
- Mantzoukas, S. and Jasper, M.A. (2004) 'Reflective practice and daily ward reality: a covert power game', *Issues in Clinical Nursing*, Vol. 13, pp.925–933.
- Parkinson, B., Totterdell, P., Briner, R.B. and Reynolds, S. (1996) Changing Moods, The Psychology of Mood and Mood Regulation, Longman, London.
- Parkinson, B. (1995) Ideas and Realities of Emotion, Routledge, London.
- Pettigrew, A.M. (1990) 'Longitudinal field research on change: theory and practice', Organisation Science, Vol. 1, No. 3, pp.267–292.
- Piderit, S.K. (2000) 'Rethinking resistance and recognising ambivalence: a multidimensional view of attitudes toward an organisational change', *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 25, No. 4, pp.783–794.

Richards, L. (2005) Handling Qualitative Data: A Practical Guide, Sage, London.

- Robson, C. (1993) Real World Research: A Resource for Social Scientists and Practitioner-Researchers, Blackwell, Oxford.
- Rubin, H.J. and Rubin, I.S. (1995) *Qualitative Interviewing, The Art of Hearing Data*, Sage, Newbury park.

Silverman, D. (2005) Doing Qualitative Research, Sage Publications, London.

Smollan, R.K. (2006) 'Minds, hearts and deeds: cognitive, affective and behavioural responses to change', *Journal of Change Management*, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp.143–158.

Spradley, J.P. (1980) Participant Observation, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc., New York.

- Strauss, A. and Corbin, J. (1990) *Basics of Qualitative Research, Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques*, Sage, California.
- Sturdy, A. and Fineman, S. (2001) 'Struggles for the control of effect- resistance as politics and emotion', in Sturdy, A., Gruglis, I. and Willmott, H. (Eds.): *Customer Service. Empowerment* and Entrapment, Palgrave, New York, pp.135–156.

The Norwegian Health Legislation (1999) http://wwkw.lovdata.no/all/tl-19990702-064-008.html.

Timmons, S. (2003) 'Nurses resisting information technology', *Nursing Inquiry*, Vol. 10, No. 4, pp.257–269.

Weick, K.E. (1995) Sensemaking in Organisations, Sage, California.

Wresniewski, A. and Dutton, J.E. (2001) 'Crafting a job: revisioning employees as active crafters of their work', Academy of Management Review, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp.179–201.

# Paper II

Giæver, F. & Hellesø, R. (submitted). 'Negative experiences of organizational change from an emotions perspective: A qualitative study of the Norwegian nursing sector'.

## Authors

Fay Giæver PhD Student NTNU (Norwegian University of Science and Technology) Department of Psychology/Trondheim Business School 7491 Trondheim, Norway E-mail: fay.giaver@hist.no (corresponding author)

Ragnhild Hellesø Associate Professor Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Nursing and Health Sciences/NSEP, NTNU University of Oslo 1153 Blindern 0318 Oslo, Norway

## Title:

"Negative experiences of organizational change from an emotions perspective: A qualitative study of the Norwegian nursing sector".

## Abstract

This study aims to explore the negative experiences of employees following organizational change through adopting a contextual emotions perspective. Previous studies have tended to examine negative change experiences through the lens of general concepts, such as resistance, where it is often assumed that these experiences are irrational and should be ignored or managed. We therefore have limited knowledge about what kinds of specific negative emotions are actually experienced by individuals undergoing organizational change, and what the perceived causes of these experiences are. A qualitative study was conducted to explore the negative emotional experiences of a selected group of nursing staff following the introduction of a new electronic care planning system at their ward. A range of different and quite specific negative emotional experiences were identified, and they revolved around two themes in particular: managerial planning and actions; and the quality of professional work. None of the negative emotional experiences seemed to reflect a general unwillingness to change, but were related to issues considered to be of great importance to the respondents.

## Introduction

This paper will focus on and explore the negative emotional experiences reported by a selected group of Norwegian hospital staff following organizational change. One of the reasons for exploring negative emotional experiences in particular is that organizational change is generally perceived to be associated with a range of negative experiences among employees (e.g. Marks & Mirvis, 1992). These reactions have typically been conceptualized as stress (e.g. Cartwright & Cooper, 1992), resistance (Kotter & Schlesinger, 1992), and unfairness (Conlon & Shapiro, 2002). However, it has been argued that there are many limitations to the ways in which concepts such as these address negative emotional experiences, and to the assumptions that are being made (Kiefer, 2005; 2002).

In the following section, we will examine some of these limitations and offer a critical perspective on the concept of resistance in particular. The resistance concept was chosen as an example because it has been widely adopted in the change literature when addressing employees' experiences and reactions. Furthermore, we will present an argument as to why it may be a better idea to explore negative emotions through introducing the contextual emotions perspective adopted in this study. By 'context', we imply the events, situations, and social relationships that give meaning to, and explain, emotional experiences.

It is first important to define how the term 'negative emotional experiences' is understood by this particular study. In the psychology literature, a typical conceptualization of emotions involves a differentiation between moods (Parkinson et al., 1996), discrete emotions (Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001), and cognition-related affect-terms, such as emotion-laden judgements (Briner, 1999). In this study, all of these terms are applied interchangeably, because they share many similarities and may be seen as overlapping (Gray & Watson, 2001). Discrete emotions, however, are particularly relevant, as they provide insight into several dimensions of emotional experiences; such as the immediate affective experience, physiological and cognitive dimensions, emotional expressions, action tendencies, and goal structures (Frijda, 1993; Parkinson, 1995; Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001). Negative emotions in particular are believed to be triggered when something of relevance or importance is perceived to be happening (e.g. a change at work), and/or when values, needs and goals are experiences being reported in this study is determined on the basis of their subjective feel, and

on the respondents' evaluation of the antecedent conditions which aroused these emotional experiences (Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001).

## Resistance to organizational change: A limited perspective?

Given the popularity of the concept of resistance, it is striking that there is no precise definition of the thoughts, emotions, and behaviour which are involved when referring to resistance. Resistance has, quite simply, been defined as:

"Any conduct that serves to maintain the status quo in the face of pressure to alter the status quo" (Zaltman & Duncan, 1977, p. 63).

Here it remains unclear what is meant by "conduct" and "pressure", and how the nature of the relationship between the two is understood. In a similar vein, it has been pointed out that the resistance concept is too extensive and general to capture the richness and complexity of actual change experiences (O'Connell Davidson, 1994). When it comes to emotions in particular, it can be argued that resistance, like stress, does not reflect an emotion as such, but is rather an emotion-laden judgement (Briner, 1999); leaving us with little insight into the range of specific emotions being involved, their causes, and their potential consequences.

Furthermore, the resistance concept can be criticized for assuming that negative reactions are caused by employees' inherent biological dispositions or personalities (Dent & Goldberg, 1999). Lorenzi & Riley (2000), for instance, argued that:

"It seems to be part of the human makeup to be comfortable with the status quo unless it is actually inflicting discomfort" (p. 165).

Here the role played by the surrounding context, or the events, situations, and social relationships that are associated with it and which give experiences and actions their meaning, seems to be largely underestimated or ignored.

In addition, Kiefer (2002) argued that organizational and change literature generally seems to adopt a perspective which views negative change reactions (such as resistance) as irrational and dysfunctional, with negative consequences for both the individual and the organization.

This perspective demonstrates another limitation of the existing literature, as it largely ignores the possibility that negative emotions may have some positive outcomes.

Finally, the concept of resistance can be criticized for assuming a top-down perspective on employees' experiences of and reactions to change. Given the internal perspective on negative reactions, it is rather paradoxically seen as the job of the manager to fix employees' negative experiences and behaviour so that change can proceed as planned (e.g. Lorenzi & Riley, 2000). The fact that resistance may become a self-fulfilling prophecy (Smollan, 2006) is largely ignored.

## Why examine negative emotional experiences? A contextual perspective

As pointed out above, there are some limitations to the ways in which negative reactions to change have typically been addressed and conceptualized in the literature. Here we will argue that the adoption of an emotions perspective may provide more specific and in-depth knowledge about negative experiences with association to organizational change, and about their perceived causes. We are aware that there are several recent papers and studies that have stressed the fact that organizational change may also be associated with a range of positive emotional experiences (e.g. Kiefer, 2002; Giæver, 2007); and we certainly support the notion that people are likely to experience both positive and negative emotions during organizational change, and that positive emotions and their impact should not be neglected. However, we want to contribute to the argument that negative emotions, when understood in depth from a psychological point of view, cannot necessarily be seen as irrational elements having a destructive effect on the organization and the change process, and that insight into their causes may provide a valuable understanding of employees' concerns and the ways in which changes are best implemented (Sturdy & Fineman, 2001; Kiefer, 2002).

This approach is in line with the fact that, contrary to much of the change literature, which assumes that emotions are individual and irrational phenomena, many contributors to the psychologically-oriented theory of emotions suggest that emotional experiences have their own logic and may be viewed as rule-based (Lazarus, 1991). A central feature of this perspective is that there is a clear link between emotional experiences and the context in which these emotions occur. In other words, emotions are not understood as the outcome of individual or structural characteristics by themselves, but as the result of transactions or

relationships between the individual and surrounding events, situations, or social relationships; where the meaning, or logic, of an emotion is established through cognitive appraisal. This also has implications as for how to understand employees' behaviours, as emotions have action tendencies (Frijda, 1986).

Hence, individuals respond, adapt and adjust to events, situations, and social relationships in rather functional ways based on their emotional experiences. Therefore, negative emotional experiences do not necessarily have negative consequences for the individual/organization, because this depends very much on the specific emotion being experienced and the situation in which it occurred. Some empirical studies have for instance shown that the negative emotions (e.g. fear and anger) experienced by employees during organizational change were caused by the fact that their sense of efficiency and professionalism was being challenged (Kiefer, 2002; Giæver, 2007). Furthermore, these emotions led to employees working a lot harder than usual to maintain the professional standards of their job, and not to the resistance which may have been anticipated.

Following this perspective on negative emotional experiences, the following two research questions guided our study: (1) which negative emotional experiences were experienced and reported? and (2) what were the perceived causes of the emotional experiences being reported?

## Methods

The study followed a qualitative design, as this is particularly suited to obtaining an in-depth account of individuals' perspectives and unique experiences (Robson, 1993), and does more justice to the complexity of emotion (Fineman, 2005). Data reported in this paper consisted of participant observation and semi-structured interviews.

## Research context

The research reported in this study took place in a Norwegian hospital ward where a new electronic care planning system (ECP) had been introduced. The system involved the computer-mediated provision of structured and compressed nurse-related problems, combined with relevant measures, as a replacement for day-to-day unstructured pen and paper reports.

This change was potentially overwhelming, as the communication of patient information across work shifts is considered to be a vital aspect of nursing work, in addition to seeing to patients' medical, physical and psychological needs (Strauss et al., 1997). According to many sources in the nursing literature, the development and introduction of tools such as the ECP in hospitals have emerged following the trend of new public management (Glouberman & Mintzberg, 2001), where ECPs in particular have been viewed as a management tool to improve the efficiency of everyday nursing work because they save time and paper (Lee et al., 2002). This has at one level conflicted with professional ideals, and it has been argued that the idea of managerialism has distorted the original ideas of the nursing record, and that care plans in general are difficult to integrate with practical work on the wards (Allen, 2004; 1998). On another level, however, care plans have been viewed as having the potential to improve the quality of documentation, and hence the quality of care (Allen, 1998). In addition, the development of new ways of documenting has also been seen as a strategy for nurses to increase their general occupational status through making their unique contribution to the health care team more visible (Dingwall et al., 1998).

The particular ward where this study took place was also undergoing a process whereby the time allocated for verbal reports was diminished. In addition, the introduction of ECPs was coupled with some organizational re-structuring, meaning that nurses and nursing assistants had to collaborate in unfamiliar work arrangements (resembling primary care) and to undertake some new work tasks (e.g. nursing assistants taking on some traditional nursing tasks and vice versa). Nursing staff received three hours of formal computer training prior to implementation. Computer illiteracy was prevalent, and nursing assistants were generally unfamiliar with documentation work.

## Data acquisition and participants

Data collection was planned, organized and carried out by the first author. Participant observation involved attending meetings between head nurses where planned changes were discussed and information meetings for staff, as well as taking part in five out of the 28 training sessions that were organized at the ward prior to ECP implementation. Field notes were written up; however, the intention was not to obtain ethnographic data, but to gain insight into the research context (Spradley, 1980). Only the interview material underwent

formal analysis, but the field notes aided the construction of appropriate interview questions, and provided contextual information to support analysis of the interview material.

Interview participants were recruited with the help of Nurse X (a local gatekeeper). There were several reasons for this. It was, for instance, essential to have someone to arrange for respondents to take time out from the ward to participate in interviews, as constant shortage of staff was a recurring issue. However, purposive sampling (Silverman, 2005) was ensured through thoroughly communicating the aims and methodological considerations of the project to Nurse X. Fourteen nurses and six nursing assistants were recruited, and a wide age group was represented in order to attempt to capture a range of different emotional experiences. The youngest respondent was aged 21, and the oldest was 60 years old. Only one of the respondents was male.

Semi-structured interviews were carried out approximately three months after the implementation of the changes. The interview questions revolved around whether, and in what ways, the respondents had experienced the change process and the different changes in a negative way. Furthermore, they were asked to give examples of specific incidents and events, and to indicate how these made them feel. A list of emotion terms and experiences that were negatively charged was provided to stimulate a conversation that revolved around emotional experiences (e.g. negative feeling, dread, fear, and insecurity). The interviews lasted between 30 and 60 minutes and were transcribed. In addition, a summary was written up after each interview to describe the respondents' emotional experiences as they were perceived to be revealed, both directly (e.g. saying "it made me feel sad") and indirectly (e.g. a quivering voice, use of irony). This was to allow the exploration of the manifest as well as the latent content of their responses (Graneheim & Lundman, 2003).

## Data analysis

In order to respond to the two research questions, a template analysis (King, 2004) was used to define codes in the interview transcripts. This method was chosen because it is particularly suited to addressing the role played by context, allowing for multiple interpretations of a phenomenon, and because it can comfortably handle large amounts of data. The analysis proceeded in three steps. A key feature of template analysis is hierarchical coding, and the analysis often starts with organizing the data material according to some pre-defined higher order code (e.g. based on insights from the literature). Firstly, the code "negative emotional experiences" (based on the definition above) was applied to isolate relatively large chunks of text in the transcripts. Here we looked for both emotional experiences that were reported to be experienced in the past (throughout the change process) and those reported in the present (three months after the change); as well as for emotional experiences as they were directly and indirectly revealed. Secondly, the isolated paragraphs and passages were read through again, and emotion terms were identified as lower order codes. When identifying emotion codes based on paragraphs/passages where emotional content was indirectly revealed, our interpretation relied heavily on the summaries written up after interviews as well as on the field notes. Finally, the themes and issues that these emotional experiences revolved around were looked at in depth and identified. Here it was particularly helpful to look for concepts and themes mentioned frequently by the respondents: concepts and themes that emerged from comparing interviews, and concepts and themes that were indirectly revealed (Rubin & Rubin, 2005, pp. 210-211). The NVivo software (Richards, 2005) was applied to support the analysis.

## Findings

In response to the first research question, "which negative emotional experiences were experienced and reported?" the respondents reported many different negative emotional experiences, ranging from the general (e.g. feeling negatively about the situation) to the specific (e.g. feeling fear and sadness). Some of the emotion terms that we came up with were only indirectly revealed, and these included "disbelief", "not feeling needed", "feeling overwhelmed", "resignation", "anger/rage", "guilt", and "feeling incompetent". In addition, the respondents also reported a range of experiences that could be interpreted as the body-related outcomes of different emotional experiences, e.g. "crying", "sweating", "increased heart rate", and "feeling exhausted". However, most of the emotion terms that were indirectly revealed in the data material were also explicitly addressed by the respondents, and these included "negative/bad feeling", "insecurity", "fear", "worry", "feeling of loss", "frustration", "feeling sorry for/compassion", "panic", "annoyance", "sadness", "hatred", and "dread".

In response to the second research question, "what were the perceived causes of the emotional experiences being reported?" the negative emotional experiences identified above were found

to revolve around two themes in particular: managerial planning and actions; and the quality of professional work. These two themes will be outlined below.

# 1. Managerial pre-planning and actions

A range of the negative emotional experiences revolved around the ways in which the changes had been planned and carried out by the organization or ward management. There were two dimensions to this. Firstly, the negative emotional experiences revolved around poor planning and preparation in relation to the actual changes; secondly, they revolved around poor planning of and carrying out of the change process.

As regards the first dimension of this theme, the poor managerial planning and preparation for the actual changes, the respondents reported a range of negative emotional experiences related to the fact that there were still a lot of unanswered questions regarding the employment of the new ECP system, and that those in charge of the change project did not seem to have the answers to these questions. The respondents felt very much left to themselves to work out how to solve practical problems in relation to the employment of the new system:

N1: "It is still a mess! It is not very systematic because we are all doing it [writing in the ECPs] differently. We are insecure when it comes to how we are really supposed to do it; what kinds of information are we supposed to emphasize?"

N2: "We became frustrated, because how much are we supposed to write? What should we write? You know, sorting out the information you have to document, and the information you do not have to document..."

N3: "What is frustrating, I think, for everyone, is the way in which we document...it is still confusing...we are all documenting differently...and if you ask me, this is really tragic! [...] Really poor planning, really, really poor...it seems as if they [those in charge of the project] do not really know how we are supposed to do it either. [...] They [those in charge of the project/management] have not been properly prepared [...] and then they leave the responsibility to us, even though we are supposed to learn from them, and then it is not even clear how things are supposed to be done once and for all, so it is really, really bad!"

This may also partly explain why the actual change process was experienced in such a negative way; the second dimension of this theme. The respondents felt that the changes were

being implemented too quickly, that they were not properly informed and prepared prior to implementation, and that they did not receive sufficient training. The situation was experienced as particularly difficult by the nursing assistants, who were generally unfamiliar with computers and documentation work, and there was a lot of frustration and anger at the ward because this group had not been properly taken care of.

N5: "I feel that everything has been thrown at us, everything was supposed to happen so quickly, and the situation was not an easy one [...] they expect things to happen overnight, but that is not the way things work out [...] we are just being told that this is a transition phase, but that is an insufficient explanation I think, but I guess they do not have any other plan, except that they expect things will eventually get better, over time, but that does not really help when you are in the middle of a situation, that is simply not good enough, that does not help us next week, or the week after that.[...] I feel sorry for the nursing assistants, lots of them have not even been near a computer before."

NA1: "And you know I have been working for 40 years, really making an effort for this organization, I have worked hard and struggled, and then, all of a sudden, I go home with the feeling that I am not skilled to do anything anymore! [...] It happens that I get thrown in my face how stupid I am with computers, then I go down to the basement and cry...[tears welling up in her eyes, unable to speak for a while] so... hmm..."[...] I hate computers..."

N3: "The implementation has been way too bad, the information we were given beforehand was really limited, we did not know anything about the system, we did not know anything; all we knew was that we were to document on the computer, and that is it! And we only had one training session, and there we only learned where to click and stuff like that, and nothing about the new documentation model and the new way of thinking. It has been so f.... bad! I think they have done a really bad project, simply terribly bad? [...] They [nursing assistants] have been trying to say something, but they have not strongly objected, because you know, a lot of them have got the response that: "if you are not able to deal with it, then you can just start looking for a new job" [...] that is completely wrong! Because there are lots of people who have not even been near a computer before, imagine what it feels like for them.... It must be a terrible situation for them, and some of them have had trouble sleeping at night you know, they have found it dreadful going to work every day, and that is really bad I think."

However, the respondents also seemed to acknowledge that the problems associated with poor planning and preparation in relation to the actual changes and the carrying out of the change process were partly caused by the fact that management, as well as themselves, were the victims of a general trend where they were somewhat 'forced' to introduce new technology as quickly as possible to stay ahead of what was perceived to be an inevitable development. This meant that the respondents felt that they just had to make the best of the situation, because there was nothing they could do to stop or slow down this process.

N4: "We just have to find a way to use the new system, find out if we are writing too much or too little etc., after a while you find a way to deal with it, this is the future, there is nothing we can do to escape this, we just have to accept it."

# 2. The quality of professional work

The respondents' negative emotional experiences also revolved around a second theme; namely, the ways in which they experienced that the quality of their work, as well as their identity as professional nurses, was being affected. This theme was on one level related to the first theme, as the respondents felt that struggling to adapt to the new system had a negative impact upon the quality of hands-on patient care in the first implementation phase. The respondents kept hoping the situation would improve over time:

NA1: "There are things that are not done, because the new report system is too difficult [...] I very often see that the writing takes up so much time that patients who are supposed to be taken care of in the morning are not attended to until two in the afternoon [...] I guess that makes me a bit more negative."

N6: "We cannot continue to entrench ourselves in front of the computer; I am afraid something may happen to the patients, at least in this transition phase."

Furthermore, the respondents reported that they felt they had to make an extra effort to uphold the quality of patient care, despite the difficult situation, and this caused a range of negative emotional experiences:

N7: "I have noticed that some people stay at work after three [end of shift] without charging overtime, because they feel it is their own fault that they did not make it. But it is not their fault because I know they have been working hard the whole day [...] I feel sorry for them [...] in some situations it is either you or the patient who is suffering."

N8: "But then the patient is not supposed to notice, you cannot show him that you are stressed [...] I try to be very conscious about this all the time, I try to be perfectly all right, but you feel the pulse right, you are\_sweating, you spend a lot of extra energy, and you feel worn out once you have finally finished

everything right, it is at the max, max, all the time, you do not have any extra energy left, and when you go home you are exhausted, you do not really have anything left."

On another level, the respondents also questioned whether the new ECP system was really such a good idea for the future of nursing. The respondents were uncertain whether, and in what ways, the quality of patient care as well as their sense of being professional nurses would really be enhanced as a consequence of ECPs replacing the traditional way of communicating information across work shifts (unstructured reports containing more information, and verbal reports):

N6: "Sometimes I feel that...ah...that something is lost, but I do not know whether that feeling will go away [...] after a while the verbal report is expected to by replaced by the ECP; you have to rely on the computer screen, right [...] things are becoming a bit quiet in the end [...] You know, the clinical outlook, I am afraid it will drown in the middle of this, that is what I am afraid of [...] Sometimes a small comment may communicate a lot of information... you do not have to write it down, but you said it... you kind of put a thought into the other nurse's mind, and then she can keep your comment in mind [...] Will the quality really improve? That is the big question. I cannot tell, I do not know, I have a few questions..."

N9: "Well the thing is, we write less, and in one way this is easier for us, but then we are thinking, what if something happens, and the case goes to court, did we document well enough then? We feel insecure."

NA2: "There is a bit of uncertainty as to what is appropriate to document on the computer, because what you write down will be saved in the system; that is what I am still insecure about. [...] Let us say you have patients who are difficult, they do not want to cooperate, you cannot write down everything they say, it sort of feels like a fight between you and the patient, and the patient refuses to...but you have to treat him [...] Because it [the information] can be misunderstood, if the patient reads his report or if there is a case [...] We can say these things verbally, "the patient is like this and that", but we cannot write it down. We have to be careful about this, we have a few patients who refuse to cooperate, there has to be four of us to turn them around, fix their bed, mobilize and stuff like that."

#### Discussion, limitations, and future research

In this study, a range of different and quite specific negative emotional experiences were found to emerge in the event of organizational change. In line with previous studies (e.g. Kiefer, 2002) none of these emotional experiences seemed to reflect a general unwillingness to change on the part of the respondents, but were mainly about the ways in which the changes had been planned and carried out, and about the quality of their professional work following change. There are several ways to interpret this finding. As the sample of this study consisted of a group of nursing professionals, it may, for instance, be argued that the lack of resistance is due to the characteristics of this particular sample, as there is not much room for nurses to object in a culture characterized by unequal relationships where decisions usually flow from top (managers/doctors) to bottom (nurses) (Mantzoukas & Jasper, 2004). On the other hand, Timmons (2003), argued that resistance to change among nurses tends to take on more covert forms; something which may not have been captured in this particular study. However, it can still be argued that the negative emotional experiences and their perceived causes reported in this study provided a lot of in-depth insight into their experiences and the change process.

First of all, when it comes to the fact that a range of negative emotional experiences were found to relate to the ways in which the changes had been planned and handled, several recent contributions have made the same observation (e.g. Saksvik et al., 2007). However, what was particularly striking in this study was that the respondents perceived that those in charge of the project (or management) did not really know how the new system was supposed to be employed, and that, as a consequence of this, they felt left to themselves to work out how to resolve the practical problems that occurred in their everyday work. The respondents also perceived a sense of urgency in the introduction of ECPs at the ward, and the quick and unprepared-for implementation of changes was somewhat justified by management, as well as by the respondents, by a feeling that technological change was inevitable. This is in line with the work of Leonardi and Jackson (2004), who made the claim that the experience of technological progress and inevitability may not necessarily be rooted in reality, but that instead the idea of "technological determinism" is often a discourse that managers draw on tactically to justify changes that are contentious, as a strategy to hide their own role in creating a problematic change process.

In a similar vein, Fine (1996) claimed that individuals draw on external justifications and broader societal discourses when they do not know what is happening, are struggling to make sense of their work situation, and are concerned that things are changing. Following these contributions, it may be argued that the negative emotional experiences reported by the respondents in this study could not really be understood as irrational and dysfunctional reactions, but that these emotions and their perceived causes rather provided the respondents

with an accurate and appropriate understanding of the situation (Lazarus, 1991; Kiefer, 2002). Furthermore, it can also be pointed out that the negative emotional experiences being reported provided a lot of information about what could be done to alter this particular change situation (Sturdy & Fineman, 2001).

Secondly, another important source of negative emotional experiences among the respondents can be found in the problems associated with maintaining the quality of professional work following the changes that had been introduced. This clearly follows the logic of Lazarus (1991) who stated that strong negative emotional experiences occur when personal goals are at stake. As pointed out earlier, the threatening of professional goals may be due to the problematic nurse-management boundary, following trends towards new public management (Allen, 2004; 1998; Glouberman & Mintzberg, 2001). On the other hand, the fact that nursing staff claimed that the patients' safety and wellbeing was at stake following organizational change may also be viewed as the adoption of a professional rhetoric in order to avoid this change (Timmons, 2003).

However, the respondents in this study did also adopt strategies to uphold the quality of their work in a situation where changes had occurred (e.g. by working unpaid overtime) rather than trying to stage a revolt or protest, despite the extra burden that was involved in doing so. This resonates well with earlier empirical studies (Kiefer, 2002; Giæver, 2007) and is contrary to what is assumed in much of the resistance literature (e.g. Lorenzi & Riley, 2000). Finally, this also exemplifies that negative emotions may after all have some potential positive outcomes (Kiefer, 2002). In this case, there seemed to be some positive consequences for the organization (e.g. working unpaid overtime); however it is not difficult to imagine that these positive outcomes are only short-term. In the nursing literature it has, for instance, been pointed out that nurses typically individualize organizational or structural problems (Hamran, 1992), with the result that they feel personally inadequate rather than try to communicate problems to, or undertake actions towards, the organization/management who created the difficult situation in the first place. This situation is likely to be detrimental for both the individual nurses and the organization in the long term.

When it comes to the theoretical perspective of this paper, it can be argued that the focus on negative emotional experiences in particular is partially biased, as positively and negatively charged emotional experiences may not necessarily be viewed as polar opposites. Lazarus &

Cohen-Charash (2001) argued that positively charged emotional experiences are often an integral feature of, and accompany, negatively charged emotional experiences, and vice versa. Furthermore, they argued that affective tone is always uncertain depending on the individual experiencing the emotion and the specific transaction between the individual and an event. However, although we are aware that the distinction between negative and positive emotions is not necessarily that clear-cut, we still argue that the distinction can be justified, as the point of departure for this study was the respondents' subjective experiences and evaluations. Hence, our intention was not to come up with a sharply distinguished categorization of negative emotions as opposed to positive emotions. However, following the advice in Lazarus (2001), one may, in future research, want to focus more on exploring the interdependence of different clusters of emotions as well as on how discrete emotions relate to one another.

Finally, it can also be argued that both the narrow sample, consisting of a small group of nursing staff, and the exploratory nature of this research, led to problems of generalization. We therefore suggest that more research should be done in the future to determine to what extent the findings of this study can be applied to other work contexts. However, at the same time, through conducting an exploratory study in a specific work context (nursing), we also hope to underline the importance of understanding emotional experiences as they occur in specific change contexts or situations. This involves an understanding that generalizations and stereotypical assumptions regarding employees' negative emotional experiences are unlikely to be helpful, because the meaning of emotional experiences depends on the specific relationship between individuals and their surroundings.

#### References

Allen, D. (2004). "Re-reading and re-writing practice: towards an empirically based reformulation of the nursing mandate", *Nursing Inquiry*, 11, pp. 271-283.

Allen, D. (1998). "Record-keeping and routine nursing practice: The view from the wards", *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 27, pp. 1223-30.

Briner, R.B. (1999). The neglect and importance of emotion at work", *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8, pp. 323-46.

Cartwright, S. & Cooper, C.L. (1992). *Mergers and Acquisitions: The Human Factor*, Oxford: Butterworth.

Conlon, D.E. & Shapiro, D.L. (2002). "Employee postings and company responses to downsizing enquiries: Implications for managing and reacting to organisational change", *Advances in Qualitative Organization Research*, 4, pp. 39-67.

Dent, E.B. & Goldberg, S.G. (1999). "Challenging 'resistance to change', *The Journal of Applied Behavioural Science*, 35, pp. 25-41.

Dingwall, R., Rafferty, A.M. & Webster, C. (1998). An Introduction to a Social History of Nursing, London: Routledge.

Frijda, N.H. (1993). "Moods, emotion episodes and emotions", in Lewis, M. & Haviland, J.M. (eds.), *Handbook of Emotions*, New York: Guildford Press, pp. 381-403.

Frijda, N.H. (1986). The Emotions, Cambridge, MA, USA: Cambridge University Press.

Fine, G.A. (1996). "Justifying work: Occupational rhetorics as resources in restaurant kitchens", *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41, pp. 90-115.

Fineman, S. (2005). "Appreciating emotion at work: paradigm tensions", *International Journal of Work Organisations and Emotion*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp.4–19.

Giæver, F. (2007). "Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change: The case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals", *International Journal of Work Organization and Emotion*, 2, pp. 49-70.

Glouberman, S. & Mintzberg, H. (2001). "Managing the care of health and the cure of disease - Part I: Differentiation", *Health Care Management Review*, Winter, pp. 58-71.

Graneheim, U.H. & Lundman, B. (2003). "Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: Concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness", *Nurse Education Today*, 24, pp. 105-112.

Gray, E. & Watson, D. (2001). "Emotion, mood and temperament: Similarities, differences and a synthesis", in Payne, R.L. & Cooper, C.L. (eds.), *Emotions at Work*, New York: Guildford Press, pp. 157-172.

Hamran, T. (1992). *Pleiekulturen. En utfordring til den teknologiske tenkemåten*, Oslo: Gyldendal Norsk Forlag.

Kiefer, T. (2005). "Feeling bad: Antecedents and consequences of negative emotions in ongoing change", *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 26, pp. 875-897.

Kiefer, T. (2002). "Understanding the emotional experience of organizational change: Evidence from a merger", *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 4, pp. 39-61.

King, N. (2004). "Using templates in the thematic analysis of text", in Cassell, C. & Symon,G. (eds.), *Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research*, London: SagePublications.

Kotter, J.P. & Schlesinger, L.A. (1992). "Choosing strategies for change", in Gabarro, J.J. (ed.), *Managing People and Organizations*, Boston: Harvard Business School, (pp. 395-409).

Lazarus, R.S. (2001). "Relational meaning and discrete emotions", in Scherer, K.P., Schorr, A. & Johnstone, T. (eds.), *Appraisal Processes in Emotion: Theory, Research*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 37-67.

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Emotion and Adaptation, New York: Oxford University Press.

Lazarus, R.S. & Cohen-Charash, Y. (2001). "Discrete emotions in organizational life", in Payne, R.L. & Cooper, C.L. (eds.), *Emotions at Work*, New York, USA: Guildford Press, pp. 157-172.

Lee, T.T., Yeh, C.H. & Ho, L.H. (2002). "Application of a computerized nursing care plan system in one hospital: Experiences of ICU nurses in Taiwan", *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 39, pp. 61-67.

Leonardi, P.M. & Jackson, M.H. (2004). "Technological determinism and discursive closure in organizational mergers", *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 17, pp. 615-631.

Lorenzi, N.M. & Riley, R.T. (2000). "Informatics and organizational change", in Ball, M.J., Hannah, K.J., Newbold, S.K. & Douglas, J.V. (eds.), *Nursing Informatics: Where Caring and Technology Meet*, New York: Springer, pp. 163-177.

Marks, M. & Mirvis, P. (1992). "Rebuilding after the merger: Dealing with survivor sickness", *Organizational Dynamics*, 2, pp. 18-32.

Mantzoukas, S., Jasper, M. A. (2004). Reflective practice and daily ward reality: A covert power game. *Issues in Clinical Nursing* 13, 925-933.

O'Connell Davidson, J. (1994). "The sources and limits of resistance in a privatized utility", in Jermier, J.M., Knights, D. & Nord, W.R. (eds.), *Resistance and Power in Organizations*, London: Routledge, pp. 69-101.

Parkinson, B. (1995). Ideas and Realities of Emotion, London: Routledge.

Parkinson, B., Totterdell, P., Briner, R.B. and Reynolds, S. (1996). Changing Moods: The

Psychology of Mood and Mood Regulation, London: Longman.

Richards, L. (2005) Handling Qualitative Data: A Practical Guide, London: Sage.

Robson, C. (1993). *Real World Research: A Resource for Social Scientists and Practitioner-Researchers*, Blackwell, Oxford.

Rubin, H.J. and Rubin, I.S. (2005). *Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data*, Newbury Park: Sage.

Saksvik, P.Ø., Tvedt, S.D., Nytrø, K., Buvik, M.P., Andersen, G.R., Andersen, T.K., & Torvatn, H. (2007). "Developing criteria for healthy organizational change", *Work & Stress*, 21, pp. 243-263.

Silverman, D. (2005). Doing Qualitative Research, London: Sage Publications.

Smollan, R.K. (2006). "Minds, hearts and deeds: Cognitive, affective and behavioural responses to change", *Journal of Change Management*, 6, pp. 143-158.

Spradley, J.P. (1980) Participant Observation, New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc.

Strauss, A.L., Fagerhaugh, S., Suczek, B. & Weiner, C. (1997). *Social Organization of Medical Work*, New Jersey: Transaction Publisers.

Sturdy, A. & Fineman, S. (2001). "Struggles for the control of affect - resistance as politics and emotion", in Sturdy, A., Gruglis, I. & Willmott. H. (eds.), *Customer Service: Empowerment and Entrapment*, New York: Palgrave, pp. 135-156.

Timmons, S., (2003). Nurses resisting information technology. Nursing Inquiry 10, 257-269.

Zaltman, G. & Duncan, R. (1977). *Strategies for Planned Change*, New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

# Paper III

Giæver, F. (submitted). 'Looking forwards and back: The evolving emotional change-experience'.

# Author

Fay Giæver NTNU (Norwegian University of Science and Technology), Department of Psychology/Trondheim Business School, 7004 Trondheim, Norway. E-mail: <u>fay.giaver@svt.ntnu.no</u>

#### Title

## "Looking forwards and back: The evolving emotional change-experience".

#### Abstract

This paper aims to explore the emotional experience of anticipating versus retrospectively looking back on organizational change over time. This follows the insight that employees inevitably, and at any point in time, hold histories and anticipated futures; and that hence, although the anticipation of organizational change may differ from its retrospective evaluation, these experiences are likely to feed into one another over time. It is argued that previous contributions in the managerial and change literature on employees' emotional experiences over time, such as stage models and emotional change curves, adopt a limited perspective through undermining the role played by context or person-situation interactions. A qualitative study from the Norwegian hospital environment is presented, where a selected group of nursing staff were interviewed regarding their emotional experiences of change at two points in time; one month prior to the anticipated implementation of a new electronic care planning system, and one year after. A wide range of different emotional experiences, both positive and negative, were reported at both points in time. These emotional experiences related to quite specific aspects, situations, and relationships associated with the changes and the change process, and did not evolve according to a clear and systematic pattern over time. Hence, from a managerial perspective, it is argued that the adoption of simple explanations and/or general models is unlikely to be helpful; rather, it is essential to understand emotional experiences on the basis of the particular change context of which they are a part.

Keywords: Emotion, organizational change, context, anticipation, retrospection.

## Introduction

As employees increasingly find themselves in a work environment of ongoing organizational change (Albert et al., 2000; Kiefer, 2005), they not only experience change in the present, but also find themselves in a situation of simultaneously anticipating future change events as well as retrospectively looking back on change events that have happened in the past. Therefore, the insight that people inevitably, and at any point in time, hold histories and anticipated futures (Cox & Hassard, 2007) may be particularly applicable to understanding employees' experiences and actions in today's changing organizations.

In a work environment characterized by organizational change, it may be particularly relevant to explore employees' emotional experiences, as emotions are assumed to be triggered when something of personal significance is perceived to interrupt with or improve a smoothly flowing situation (Ben-Ze'ev, 2001); when a situation or event is experienced to be of relevance or importance to the individual, such as when values, needs and goals are affected (Lazarus, 1991); or when an event is seen as critical and/or substantial (Cox, 1997).

This paper is particularly concerned with anticipative versus retrospective emotional changeexperiences, as it can be argued that organizational change is likely to be interpreted as more or less significant, important, or critical at different times in the change process; and hence that different emotional experiences may emerge at different times as change unfolds (Isabella, 1990; Fineman, 2004). It has, for instance, been argued that anticipations are associated with experiences that are still ongoing and enquiring, whereas retrospections entail that the sense-making process has somewhat come to an end, and that global evaluations of past situations and events have had a chance to be formed (Fredrickson, 2000). Contrasting anticipative and retrospective emotional change-experiences may therefore provide insight into, and explain, the ways in which these experiences potentially differ, as well as the process whereby the expectation of particular changes feeds into the evaluation of these changes in retrospect.

This paper presents a qualitative study from the Norwegian hospital environment, where a selected group of nursing staff were interviewed regarding their anticipative versus retrospective emotional change-experiences. The term 'anticipative emotional change-experiences' is adopted here to refer to the emotional experience associated with imagining a

future situation or scenario at work where a change event has occurred, and envisioning how this event will impact upon one's everyday work situation. The term 'retrospective emotional change-experiences', on the other hand, refers to the emotional experience associated with the evaluation of change events that have occurred in the past, and how these events are believed to affect one's everyday work situation.

The intention of the study was to provide in-depth insight into employees' emotional experiences over time, with the aim of indicating some implications for the management of organizational change processes. It will be argued that the existing literature on emotional change-experiences as they occur over time is limited in its lack of acknowledgement of context. 'Context' has been defined in many ways (Johns, 2006); but the central idea is that external events, situations, and relationships (context) are seen as being part and parcel of, and hence giving meaning to, individual experiences and responses (Jaeger & Rosnow, 1988).

The managerial and change literature on emotional change-experiences over time has typically emphasized universal explanations. It has been assumed that emotional responses occur in predictable and distinct stages, where the initial news of change is experienced negatively (e.g. resistance); that this experience is followed by an additional 'dip', characterized by an increased frequency and intensity of negative experiences/reactions and decreased work performance; and finally that a sense of normality, growth and increased efficiency will be resumed as change is eventually embraced by employees (Elrod & Tippett, 2002).

Such 'stage models' or 'change curves' are largely inspired by the literature on death and dying (e.g. Kübler-Ross, 1969; Fink, 1967); and it is proclaimed that the human experience of organizational change is very similar to the experience of a profound crisis in life such as terminal illness or bereavement. The bereavement literature maintains that the grieving process involves the stages of shock/denial (as the news of loss is received), anger, bargaining/attempts to postpone the inevitable, depression, and acceptance (Kübler-Ross, 1969); or shock, defensive retreat, acknowledgement, and adaptation and change (Fink, 1967). A central notion is that each stage has to be worked through in order to reach the next stage(s); and that, although the experience of death and dying may represent a profound crisis, associated with pain and anxiety, this experience may, after a while, as the different stages are

worked through, also represent an opportunity for growth and the chance of reaching a positive life experience.

There are several examples of the ways in which these ideas have been transferred to the context of organizational change. For instance, Deal and Kennedy (1982) suggest that managers should initiate certain rituals to recognize and overcome the loss involved in organizational change in order for employees to be able to move forward and embrace the new situation. On the other hand, Bridges (1986; 2003) argues that organizational change will fail or succeed on the basis of whether employees go through the different emotions associated with the psychological phases of ending and letting go, the 'neutral' zone and making a new beginning.

'Stage models' or 'change curves' pay a lack of or limited attention to the role played by context in at least four ways. Firstly, one may ask whether it is really feasible to draw a comparison between experiences of bereavement or dying, and the experience of organizational change. Although work may be very important to people, and give their lives meaning and a sense of purpose, it can after all be expected that the emotional experience associated with, for example, the death of a spouse or facing incurable cancer, is very different to, and may be experienced more strongly than, organizational change. Hence, the experience of death and dying may not necessarily be transferred directly to other contexts, such as the context of work.

Secondly, it can be argued that that, in the real world, consisting of messy and complex relationships, emotional experiences do not emerge as 'one-off' phenomena, consisting of neat and clear-cut reactions that follow an almost recipe-based predictable curve. Empirical studies have, for instance, reported that employees experience mixed (positive and negative) emotions in relation to organizational change events (Kiefer, 2002a; 2002b). Furthermore, it can be argued that an individual's experiences at one point in time build on previous emotional experiences, as well as continuously evolving in relation to external events, situations, or social relationships. One example is emotional experiences that take on an accelerating nature throughout a change project, following the experience of employees that their management has adopted a prejudiced opinion regarding their responses to the change initiative. As a consequence, employees may become resentful, which may in turn reinforce

managers' initial beliefs, further increasing the intensity of employees' responses, and so on (Smollan, 2006; Morrisen & Milliken, 2000).

Thirdly, stage models also seem to adopt a very narrow perspective on change, depicting it as an objective phenomenon with a clear beginning and end; something which employees are affected by or respond to in rather mechanical and passive ways. This ignores the fact that employees may also be seen as active creators, through their interpretations and actions, of the work environment which they inhabit (Isabella, 1990; Wrzesniewski & Dutton, 2001). Hence, organizational change cannot be viewed as a phenomenon that is clearly isolated and distinguishable from the employees who actually make this change happen.

Fourthly, stage models have also been criticized for being too simplistic and optimistic (Jick, 1990). For instance, these models or curves implicitly or explicitly assume that change is generally for the better or equals progress. Hence, employees' emotions are assumed to change from negative to positive as they understand and embrace the inherent possibilities in change, regardless of what this change is and/or what it involves.

Finally, it should also be pointed out that there are very few studies that have actually investigated employees' emotional change-experiences over time empirically. One exception is Fugate et al. (2002), who examined how employees coped over four stages of a merger. Here it was hypothesized that the frequency and intensity of negative emotions would increase throughout the change process; but this hypothesis was not supported, as there were no significant changes in negative emotions over the four investigated stages of change.

This study therefore aimed to explore emotional change-experiences as they occurred over time through adopting the contextually-informed emotions perspective of Lazarus and colleagues (Lazarus, 1999; 1991; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) on employees' anticipative versus retrospective change-experiences. According to this perspective, emotions are understood as the outcome of transactions or relationships between the individual and his/her external environment. This transaction or relationship is established as individuals cognitively appraise, and give meaning to, events, situations, and social relationships; based on their perceived significance as well as on the individual's goals, beliefs, and values. One important implication is that cognitive appraisals are based not only on present circumstances, but also

on the history/background of an individual; as well as on his/her anticipated future contribution to forming the meaning of an experienced event or situation.

A fairly broad conceptualization of emotional experiences was employed, including moods (Parkinson et al., 1996), discrete emotions (Lazarus & Cohen-Charash, 2001), and affect terms such as emotion-laden judgements (Briner, 1999); in order to capture a wide range of emotional experiences among potential respondents, and because these terms share many similarities, and may be seen as overlapping phenomena (Gray & Watson, 2001).

The study was guided by the following research questions:

- 1. How did the emotional experiences in the two contrasting perspectives of anticipating and retrospectively looking back on change compare?
- 2. How could the ways in which the emotional experiences evolved from anticipation to retrospection be explained in the context of change?

# **Research context and methodology**

The present study was part of a larger research project, and the research reported in this paper is a follow-up study of findings that have been reported elsewhere (present author, 2007).

Data reported in this particular paper consist of conversations with Nurse X, a local gatekeeper from the ward nursing management; participant observation; the reading of organizational documents (e.g. minutes of meetings); and semi-structured interviews with a selected group of nursing staff at two points in time. The first interview took place one month prior to the introduction of change (anticipation), and the second interview was conducted approximately one year after the changes had occurred (retrospection).

Participant observation involved attending meetings between head nurses where the planned changes were discussed; attending information meetings for staff; taking part in five out of the 28 training sessions that were organized at the ward one month prior to the implementation of changes; and participant observation at the ward one week into implementation. Field notes were written up after conversations with Nurse X and participant observation; however, the

main purpose was not to obtain ethnographic data, but to gain insight into the research context at a preparatory stage (Spradley, 1980), as well as to aid the construction of context-sensitive interview questions and the interpretation of the interview data.

#### The changes and their rationale

This research was carried out in a large hospital ward, consisting of five relatively independent sections, where a total of 160 nursing staff were facing the prospect of being the first ward at this particular hospital to implement a new electronic care planning system (ECP). The adoption of the ECP involves the computer-mediated provision of structured and compressed nurse-related problems, combined with relevant measures, as a replacement of day-to-day unstructured pen and paper reports; something which also involves the potential for diminishing the time spent on verbal reports in favour of reading and writing on the computer. There was also some organizational re-structuring at the ward, as this was necessary in order to utilize the benefits of the new ECP system. This meant that nurses and nursing assistants had to collaborate across professional boundaries in unfamiliar work arrangements according to a more holistic system for care (primary care). Nursing staff received three hours of formal ECP training prior to implementation.

Several reasons have been stated for developing and introducing tools such as the ECP in hospitals. In the nursing literature, and elsewhere, it has been argued that tools such as the ECP have emerged following the trend of new public management, where they have been viewed as instruments for management to improve the efficiency of everyday nursing work, because they save time and paper (Glouberman & Mintzberg, 2001; Lee et al., 2002). This has resulted in many conflicts between nurses and managers, as well as within the nursing profession. On one level, it has been argued that managerialism has distorted the professional ideals associated with the nursing record, and that care plans in general are difficult to integrate with practical work on the wards (Allen, 2004; 1998). On another level, however, the introduction of care plans has been seen as a way to improve the quality of documentation, and hence the quality of care (Allen, 1998). In addition, the development of new ways of documenting has also been seen as a strategy for nurses to increase their general occupational status through making their unique contribution to the health care team more visible (Dingwall et al., 1998). Finally, there is the notion of technological progress being reflected in national policy documents, where it seems to be implicitly assumed that technological development is not only inevitable, but also represents a better future for society and for the

quality and efficiency of hospital work (e.g. Nasjonal helseplan, 2007-2010; St. mld. nr. 25, 2005-2006).

Apart from the ECP implementation, it was also expected that some sections of the ward were to move into new buildings within the next year due to a major refurbishment project at the hospital. Hence, since nursing staff were re-interviewed one year after the ECP implementation and the associated organizational re-structuring, some of these staff had moved into new buildings. There had also been some additional and unexpected changes due to the ways in which the financial situation had developed at the hospital throughout the year. These changes, with various implications for the different departments of the ward, involved a range of cost-saving strategies at the ward level, and were associated with a certain fear of job loss. These additional and unexpected changes were not directly related to the introduction of the ECP, but did represent a contextual backdrop to the ECP implementation.

#### Sample

Twenty respondents were identified and recruited for the first interview (anticipation) with the help of Nurse X, a local gatekeeper from the ward management. There were several reasons why the help of a local gatekeeper was necessary. It was, for instance, essential to have someone to arrange for nursing staff to take time out of the ward to participate in interviews, as constant shortage of staff was a recurring issue. Nurse X also provided essential information about the project and the ward that was somewhat 'off the record'. It was, for instance, revealed that a group of older nursing assistants particularly struggled with the changes, as they were generally unfamiliar with documentation work, and practically computer illiterate. As a consequence of this information, an attempt was made to include both nurses and nursing assistants in the sample in order to be able to capture several perspectives on the changes and the change process. The identified respondents were then reinterviewed (retrospection) one year after implementation; but unfortunately only eleven respondents were able to participate, due to a range of reasons such as nurses having quit their job, moved to another ward, retired, or being on long-term sick leave. The overall group of twenty respondents consisted of fourteen nurses and six nursing assistants, selected from all the different sections of the ward, and representing a wide age group. The sample of eleven respondents participating in the retrospective interview consisted of eight nurses and three nursing assistants, and a wide age group was still represented.

#### The interviews

Both interviews consisted of relatively open-ended questions where the respondents were asked to reflect on the changes that were anticipated/had already taken place, and their emotional experiences in relation to these changes. The interviews revolved mainly around the ECP implementation and the associated organizational re-structuring; however, in the retrospective interviews, the other changes (e.g. moving into new buildings) were more prominent for some of the respondents, and therefore came up more frequently. The interviews lasted between 30 and 60 minutes, and were transcribed by the author.

#### Analysis

Template analysis (King, 2004) was adopted to analyse the interview material. As template analysis often starts with organizing the data material according to some pre-defined higher order descriptive categories, for instance, based on insights from the academic literature or research questions, the two terms (1) anticipative emotional change-experiences and (2) retrospective emotional change-experiences were adopted in order to draw out and isolate the most relevant parts of the interview material. As mentioned earlier, a range of emotional experiences associated with other changes not directly related to the ECP introduction came up in retrospective accounts. These experiences were distinguished in a third category ("other changes") in order to explore how they potentially related to the emotional experience of the ECP implementation.

The three identified categories were then analysed in depth in order to draw out emotional experiences as lower order codes (e.g. joy, not feeling needed, anger). Here, both the respondents' own reflections and explicit statements regarding their emotional experiences (e.g. saying "it makes me happy"), as well as interpretations of emotional displays made by the researcher (e.g. a quivering voice) were included. This was to allow for the exploration of the manifest as well as the latent content of the respondents' responses (Graneheim & Lundman, 2003).

Finally, the emotional experiences, identified as codes, were further explored to look for emergent themes that could describe what these emotional experiences were about. This was done in order to be able to compare the two datasets (anticipation versus retrospection), and to explore potential patterns over time that could describe the emotional experiences as they evolved from anticipation to retrospection. The NVivo software (Richards, 2005) was applied to assist analysis.

# Findings

In response to the first research question: *How did the emotional experiences in the two contrasting perspectives of anticipating and retrospectively looking back on change compare*?, a range of emotional experiences could be drawn out of the interview material (see Table 1 below).

# Table 1.

Anticipative emotional change-experiences	Retrospective emotional change-experiences
associated with ECP implementation	associated with ECP implementation
Uncertainty/"wait and see"	Uncertainty/"wait and see"
Feeling like withdrawing/avoiding	Feeling like withdrawing/avoiding
Positive feeling	Positive feeling
Negative feeling	Negative feeling
Joy	Joy
Compassion	Compassion
Feeling motivated	Feeling motivated
Resignation	Resignation
Disbelief	Disbelief
Feeling of loss	Feeling relaxed
Confusion	Feeling annoyed
Insecurity	Feeling confident
Fear	Compassion
Feeling stressed	Feeling OK
Excitement	Feels strenuous
Feeling overwhelmed	Frustration
Feels difficult	
Worry	Emotional change-experiences associated with
Disinterest	other changes (from a retrospective point of
Aversion	<u>view):</u>
Pessimism	Negative feeling
Норе	Positive feeling
Feeling cared for	Resignation
Sceptical	Joy
Feeling of being a burden to others	Feels strenuous

Pride	Loss
Not feeling needed	Feeling surprised/disappointed
Looking forward to	Frustration
	Uncertainty/"wait and see"
	Feeling annoyed
	Anger

When comparing the respondents' anticipative versus retrospective accounts, and exploring the similarities and differences between them in depth, two issues emerged. Firstly, it was evident that at both points in time a wide range of different emotional experiences, both positive and negative, were reported; and this was something which was manifested not only between but also within individuals. On one level, this implied that there was no clear pattern in which the respondents' overall emotional experiences went, for instance, from being negative to positive over time. On another level, however, it was evident that there was a continued, and sometimes increasing, presence of negative emotional experiences among the respondents as the change project evolved over time. Furthermore, it was evident that these experiences did not only relate to the additional, and much more recent, changes that had been introduced at the hospital (e.g. moving into new buildings), but could also be tied directly to the ECP and the ways in which it had been implemented.

Secondly, the anticipative and retrospective emotional change-experiences were also similar in many respects (e.g. resignation and uncertainty/"wait and see"). Here it was particularly striking to note that the respondents somehow seemed to have resigned themselves to the changes, or that they experienced a feeling of having no choice but to give in to the changes even before they had been introduced (anticipation); and that this experience was associated with positively as well as negatively toned emotional experiences. Furthermore, it was also somewhat conspicuous to note that the process of meaning creation with regards to the changes had still not come to an end one year after the changes had been implemented, as the respondents still reported uncertainty and a tendency to "wait and see" at the retrospective stage.

The two issues identified above were to a large extent related, and were further explored in relation to the second research question: *How could the ways in which the emotional experiences evolved from anticipation to retrospection be explained in the context of change*?

It was evident that, in anticipating the ECP implementation, the respondents expressed different (both positive and negative), and sometimes ambivalent and hesitant, emotional experiences in relation to the envisioned change process and the professional and practical aspects of their work. Major concerns related to being able to continue to work according to, or even improve on, already established standards for nursing in the future, without too much of an extra burden in terms of everyday work; and for nursing management to take proper care of the weakest group of nursing assistants throughout the change process. With regards to the changes and their implications for work, there was a general conception among the respondents that change in general, and technological change in particular, was inevitable, while at the same time representing a better future; albeit the respondents did not always seem certain in what ways. This was associated with the simultaneous experience of resignation and uncertainty/tendency to "wait and see"; or with the feeling that nothing could be done to escape the changes, and that they were therefore somewhat better off trying to stay positive about them, and hope that the future that might surprise them in positive, albeit uncertain, ways. Here the respondents also relied on management, assuming that they followed a wellprepared and thought-through plan; and hence that the nursing management saw advantages with the new system that were still unclear to staff, but that would eventually become clear in the future as they got into the new system.

N5 (anticipation): "You cannot escape the writing, sitting in front of the machine; you have to, both in order to read and find information, so 'the computer beast' is getting at you [...] I think everything is going in that direction anyway, so that we just have to, you don't have a choice, no [...] But I'm sure it will work out OK, it's just that you're thinking, you know things may happen, I'm worried that the new system will turn out to be too vulnerable, but I'm sure it will work out OK, I'm sure they [management] have a back-up plan [...] Well, as I said, I feel positively about it, but I'm afraid the system will turn out to be too vulnerable, but I hought-through, I know they're using it in other countries. [...] I'm excited to start [using the new system] [...] I don't know exactly how it is going to turn out...So...but I think it will turn out to be good, yes...Once we have gotten into it so...I'm thinking that, in the future, when we look back on the way we work now, I'm sure we'll be like: "Wow, amazing that we even managed before!"

The perception that the ECP implementation process was seen as inevitable could partly be explained by the fact that the ECP was eventually expected to be introduced throughout the hospital as a whole to fulfil the overall aim of 'going paperless'. For instance, the new hospital buildings had less room for paper storage; something which expedited the process of implementing the ECP at the ward under consideration; some sections of which were

expected to move to the new buildings within the next few months. As a consequence, it was not only the nursing staff that were to some extent victims of imposed change, but also the nursing managers at the ward. Furthermore, the nursing managers were facing a situation where the ECP had to be implemented rather quickly; something which was repeatedly communicated to staff through statements such as "this is the future", "we do not have a choice", and "if it makes you feel any better, this (the quick implementation of the ECP) means we'll get a head start".

However, conversations with Nurse X also revealed that the nursing management was motivated by the somewhat unofficial, and under-communicated, aim of being the first ward at the hospital to introduce the ECP, as this was expected to be associated with considerable positive attention and prestige; hence the ECP had to be introduced as soon as possible, before any of the other wards decided to do the same thing. On the other hand, it was also revealed that the nursing management genuinely seemed to believe in the potential of this new technology, and that it would represent progress in terms of the quality and efficiency of nursing work. Hence the assertion of the inevitability of technological development was not merely adopted as a strategy by management to justify the changes, and the somewhat quick implementation process, to the staff.

From a retrospective point of view, the respondents reported that, one year after implementation, they were still not clear about how to utilize the new system professionally and practically in their everyday work; something which they blamed on poor managerial preplanning with regards to the actual changes, and a rushed implementation process in which the weakest group of staff (the older nursing assistants) had not been properly supported by management. This led to the continued, and for some respondents escalating, presence of negative emotional experiences from anticipation to retrospection; as well as a persistent tendency to "wait and see" and experience uncertainty.

N3 (retrospection): "People are afraid, I think, of not documenting enough; we should have had more training throughout... I don't think we've been followed up properly [...] It has been way too bad, they [management] do have a responsibility; if they are to introduce a new system, they have to set aside time for that, and it is not a new phenomenon, because you see lots of companies, they invest thousands, millions, in new technology, and then they forget about the people, well there's not really a point to new equipment then...and this is a mistake that is being made again and again, and I find it really, really

strange that they don't see the importance of this [...] the situation has been horrible for many people; I think it is bad, really, really bad! I am really, really critical about that part!"

N1 (retrospection): "We document too little, because we don't know exactly how to do it; I think we should have had more training, because we still feel uncertain about what we should write and what we shouldn't write."

In relation to this, it was particularly conspicuous to note that nursing managers were themselves not clear about the details regarding the practical utilization of the new system prior to implementation. Conversations with Nurse X and participant observation revealed that, as implementation was about to commence, nursing management discovered a range of unanticipated flaws in the existing paper documentation system that did not translate to the electronic version, and consequently had to be dealt with. However, as this turned out to be a very complex issue, and since it would be difficult to predict the best way of dealing with these flaws while at the same time keeping to the scheduled timetable for implementation, it was decided to deal with potential problems as they emerged throughout the implementation process. This turned out to be a strategy that meant that the nursing staff had to figure out potential problems by themselves, as they were the ones involved in the daily ward activities. It was decided to ignore critical comments and focus on the positive elements of the changes.

"Nursing staff have to realise that this is a process; we don't have all the answers either. 'The road is made while walking it'." (Nurse X, during conversation).

"It's natural to feel this way now, but in 2 to 3 months you probably will not even think about it" (teacher in training session).

"Any negative reaction that receives attention will be reinforced." (Nurse X during conversation).

This approach led to a lot of frustration among staff throughout the change process, but at the same time there also seemed to be a continued recognition among the respondents that the changes emerging out of the general technological development in society, such as the ECP implementation, had to be dealt with one way or the other, regardless of what management did or did not do. Furthermore, although the respondents experienced a range of negative emotional experiences, there was no indication that they openly criticized and/or actively sabotaged managerial actions and change initiatives.

NA1 (retrospection): "Well, you just have to throw yourself into it, nothing else to do about that as far as I've understood... [...] Well, it's something new every day, it's just the course of time [...] what can I say...Does it get any better? [work situation as a consequence of the changes] well it's the ravages of time..."

N3 (retrospection): "Paradoxically we never say anything, why don't we? Why don't we, all of us, a massive group, object to this? Typical for a female work environment, I'd say. Nobody says anything, we just sit there and moan, accept everything; it could never have happened in a male work environment! They would not have tolerated this! [...] It's sick! I've tried asking many of my colleagues, we have to do something! But I can't do it on my own! Well, people are afraid, but what are they afraid of? [...] It's ridiculous!"

In addition, the continued presence of negative emotional experiences from a retrospective point of view was also due to all of the other changes that had been introduced at the hospital (e.g. cost-saving strategies at the ward); something which directly or indirectly affected their emotional experience of the ECP implementation in a negative direction.

N3 (retrospective): "There is always something additional, it means you never get on top of things. The turnover is very high, people quit, and then there are new people coming in, it's an eternal circle, very exhausting... [...] It doesn't make you want to try something new. You're not inspired enough, because you feel that you get nothing in return for all the extra hassle you put into your daily routine. It makes people really frustrated."

NA1 (retrospective): "Well, there is a certain atmosphere at the ward...Is it you or is it not you? But they have promised that nobody will lose their jobs... [...] You feel heavy inside; it doesn't directly affect your work, but you are affected, and your behaviour at work will be affected one way or the other, no doubt about that."

## Discussion

The emotional experiences reported in this study were found to be highly multifaceted at both points in time (anticipation and retrospection), and related to how the changes/change process were perceived to affect professional and practical aspects of everyday work; the ways in which the changes/the change process had been planned and handled by management; and finally to wider societal trends such as the situation of continuous change and technological

trends. Hence, the emotional experiences did not evolve according to a predetermined emotional curve independent of external events, situations, and relationships, as assumed in some of the management and change literature (e.g. Bridges, 2003). Here it can be pointed out that the original bereavement literature (e.g. Kübler-Ross, 1969) actually emphasized that people do not necessarily go through all of the stages; neither do their experiences/responses necessarily follow a particular order. In other words, it was acknowledged that people can experience a whole range of emotions at the same time and at any stage of the mourning process.

Contrary to what is assumed in stage models or emotional change curves, the respondents in this study reported a continued presence of negative, hesitant, and resigned emotional experiences over a long period of time, as these experiences did not seem to deteriorate even one year after the changes had been implemented. This is in line with the findings in Fugate et al. (2002), who suggested that the unchanging nature of negative emotions over time could be due to employees feeling exposed to threat, and as a consequence relying on well-learned or dominant responses. Research following the threat-rigidity thesis has found that threat prompts people to behave rigidly; something which leads to restricted responses and strategies (see e.g. Staw et al., 1981).

It can be argued that the respondents in the present study felt overwhelmed by the chaotic and somewhat uncertain situation, especially considering all the other changes that were being introduced at the hospital overall, and that they therefore relied more heavily on the norms and values of nursing culture. Several contributors to the nursing literature have pointed out that the culture of nursing is typically characterized by unequal power relationships where decisions flow from top to bottom (Mantzoukas & Jasper, 2004); that nurses, despite being part of a very collectively-oriented culture, tend to individualize organizational or structural problems (Hamran, 1992); and that overt resistance to change is very rare (Timmons, 2003); something which may explain the fact that, although negative responses in this study were persistent over time, they did not lead to any overt reactions.

Following the threat-rigidity thesis, it may be argued that the findings would have been different if the respondents of this study had been followed over an even longer period of time, and if the situation had been more settled at the time of the retrospective interview. On the other hand, it may be argued that most change processes are continuously chaotic and characterized by a range of uncertainties; and that the present study, by taking into account the wider context of organizational change, paints a more realistic picture of the scope and complexity of change processes as they emerge over time; where neither the change process, nor the employees' emotional experiences throughout this process, can be expected to follow a clear and predetermined pattern.

The study does show that both managers and staff draw on external explanations and wider societal discourses (e.g. the discourse of technological progress) when trying to understand their current situation; something which is characteristic of individuals that are struggling to make sense of what is happening around them (Fine, 1996). In addition, the study also shows that managers to some extent actively applied the understanding that change was inevitable and/or represented progress in their communication to staff. Leonardi & Jackson (2004) make the related claim that the notion of 'technological determinism' does not necessarily represent reality, but may be seen as a discourse that managers draw upon as a strategy to justify technological innovations that are dubious and to hide their own role in creating a problematic change process.

#### Conclusion

The findings of this study contribute to underlining the point already been made by Kiefer (2002a; 2002b) that general "recipe based" models or simple explanations are not necessarily applicable, or even helpful, when it comes to understanding employees' emotional change-experiences as they occur over time, because they are inevitably part and parcel of the local change context. The study also suggested that although emotional change-experiences are bound to relate to quite concrete and specific aspects of employees' everyday work situation they can also be expected to revolve around wider societal trends that are comprehended on a more abstract level. Due to the inherent complexity of emotional change-experiences, and their perceived causes, over time managers should continuously attempt to understand and deal with these experiences are seen from an employee' point of view. Furthermore, managers should continue to remain conscious about the ways in which they unavoidably operate as salient and powerful actors in their interaction with employees throughout the change process, and hence that they may be seen as the very causes of employees' emotional responses (Smollan, 2006).

#### References

Albert, S., Ashforth, B.E. & Dutton, J.E. (2000). "Organisational identity and identification: Charting new waters and building new bridges", *Academy of Management Review*, 25, pp. 13-17.

Allen, D. (2004). "Re-reading nursing and re-writing practice: Towards an empirically based reformulation of the nursing mandate", *Nursing Inquiry*, 11, pp. 271-283.

Allen, D. (1998). "Record-keeping and routine nursing practice: The view from the wards", *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 27, pp. 1223-1230.

Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2001). The Subtlety of Emotions, London: The MIT Press.

Bridges, W. (2003). *Managing Transitions: Making the Most of Change*, USA: Da Capo Press.

Bridges, W. (1986). "Managing organisational transitions", *Organisational Dynamics*, 15, pp. 24-34.

Briner, R.B. (1999). "The neglect and importance of emotion at work", *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8, pp. 323-346.

Burke, K. (2002). Organisation Change, Theory and Practice, UK: Sage Publications, Ltd.

Cox, J. (1997). "Manufacturing the past: Loss and absence in organisational change", *Organisation Studies*, 18, pp. 623-654.

Cox, J. & Hassard, J. (2007). "Ties to the past in organization research: A comparative analysis of retrospective methods", *Organization*, 14, pp. 475-497.

Deal, T. & Kennedy, A. (1982). Corporate Cultures, Reading MA: Addison-Wesley.

Dingwall, R., Rafferty, A.M. & Webster, C. (1998). An Introduction to a Social History

of Nursing, London: Routledge.

Elrod, P.D. & Tippett, D.D. (2002). "The 'death valley' of change", *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 15, pp. 273-291.

Fine, G.A. (1996). "Justifying work: Occupational rhetorics as resources in restaurant kitchens", *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41, pp. 90-115.

Fineman, S. (2004). Understanding Emotion at Work, London: Sage Publications.

Fink, S.L. (1967). "Crisis and motivation: A theoretical model", *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, vol. 48.

Fredrickson, B.L. (2000). "Extracting meaning from past affective experiences: The importance of peaks, ends, and specific emotions", *Cognition and Emotion*, 14, pp. 577-606.

Fugate, M., Kinicki, A.J. & Scheck, C.L. (2002). "Coping with an organisational merger over four stages", *Personnel Psychology*, 55, pp. 905-928.

Glouberman, S. & Mintzberg, H. (2001). "Managing the care of health and the cure of disease - Part I: Differentiation", *Health Care Management Review*, Winter, pp. 58-71.

Graneheim, U.H. & Lundman, B. (2003). "Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: Concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness", *Nurse Education Today*, 24, pp. 105-112.

Gray, E. & Watson, D. (2001). "Emotion, mood and temperament: Similarities, differences and a synthesis", in Payne, R.L. & Cooper, C.L. (eds.), *Emotions at Work*, New York: Guilford Press, pp. 157-172.

Hamran, T. (1992). *Pleiekulturen. En utfordring til den teknologiske tenkemåten*, Oslo: Gyldendal Norsk Forlag.

Isabella, L.A. (1990). "Evolving interpretations as a change unfolds: How managers construe key organizational events", *Academy of Management Journal*, 33, pp. 7-41.

Jaeger, M.E. & Rosnow, R.L. (1988). "Contextualism and its implications for psychological inquiry", *British Journal of Psychology*, 79, pp. 63-75.

Jick, T.D. (1990). *The Recipients of Change* (teaching materials), Boston, Harvard Business School, in Burke, K. (2002), *Organisation Change, Theory and Practice*, UK: Sage Publications, Ltd.

Johns, G. (2006). "The essential impact of context on organizational behaviour", *Academy of Management Review*, 31, pp. 386-408.

Kiefer, T. (2005). "Feeling bad: Antecedents and consequences of negative emotions in ongoing change", *Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, 26, pp. 875-897.

Kiefer, T. (2002a). "Understanding the emotional experience of organizational change: Evidence from a merger", *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 4, pp. 39-61.

Kiefer, T. (2002b). "Analysing emotions for better understanding of organizational change: Fear, joy and anger during a merger", in Ashkanasy, N.M., Hârtel, C.E.J. & Zerbe, W.J. (eds.), *Managing Emotions in the Workplace*, New York: M.E. Sharpe, pp. 45-69.

King, N. (2004). "Using templates in the thematic analysis of text", in Cassell, C. & Symon, G. (eds.), *Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research*, London: Sage Publications.

Kübler-Ross, E. (1969). On Death and Dying, London: MacMillan.

Lazarus, R.S. (1999). Stress and Emotion: A New Synthesis, UK: Springer Publishing Company, Inc.

Lazarus, R.S. (1991). Emotion and Adaptation, New York: Oxford University Press.

Lazarus, R.S. & Cohen-Charash, Y. (2001). "Discrete emotions in organizational life", in Payne, R.L. & Cooper, C.L. (eds.), *Emotions at Work*, New York: Guildford Press, pp. 157-172.

Lazarus, R.S. & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, Appraisal and Coping,* New York: Springer publ. co.

Lee, T.T., Yeh, C.H. & Ho, L.H. (2002). "Application of a computerized nursing care plan system in one hospital: Experiences of ICU nurses in Taiwan", *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 39, pp. 61-67.

Leonardi, P.M. & Jackson, M.H. (2004). "Technological determinism and discursive closure in organizational mergers", *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 17, pp. 615-631.

Mantzoukas, S. & Jasper, M.A. (2004). "Reflective practice and daily ward reality: A covert power game", *Issues in Clinical Nursing*, 13, pp. 925-933.

Morrison, E.W. & Milliken, F.J. (2000). "Organizational silence: A barrier to change and development in a pluralistic world", *Academy of Management Review*, 25, pp. 706-725.

Nasjonal helseplan (National Health Plan) (2007-2010): http://www.regjeringen.no/upload/HOD/Sykehus/Nasjonal helseplan Sartrykk.pdf

Parkinson, B. (1995). Ideas and Realities of Emotion, London: Routledge.

Parkinson, B., Totterdell, P., Briner, R.B. & Reynolds, S. (1996). *Changing Moods: The Psychology of Mood and Mood Regulation*, London: Longman.

Parkinson, B. (1995). Ideas and Realities of Emotion, London: Routledge.

Present author, (2007). Understanding emotional responses to anticipated change: The case of introducing electronic care plans in hospitals. *International Journal of Work Organization and Emotion*, 2, pp. 49-70.

Richards, L. (2005). Handling Qualitative Data: A Practical Guide, London: Sage.

Rubin, H.J. & Rubin, I.S. (1995). *Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data*, Newbury Park: Sage.

Smollan, R.K. (2006). "Minds, hearts and deeds: Cognitive, affective and behavioural responses to change", *Journal of Change Management*, 6, pp. 143-158.

Spradley, J.P. (1980). Participant Observation, New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc.

Staw, B., Sandelands, L. & Dutton, J. (1981). "Threat-rigidity effects in organizational behaviour: A multilevel analysis", *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 26, pp. 895-910.

St. mld. nr. 25 (2005-2006): <u>http://www.regjeringen.no/Rpub/STM/20052006/025/PDFS/STM200520060025000DDDPDF</u> <u>S.pdf</u>

Timmons, S. (2003). "Nurses resisting information technology", *Nursing Inquiry*, 10, pp. 257-269.

Wrzesniewski, A. & Dutton, J.A. (2001). "Crafting a job: Revisioning employees as active crafters of their work", *Academy of Management Review*, 26, pp. 179-201.

# Appendix

Letter from co-author



# UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

FACULTY OF MEDICINE

**Recipient:** To Whom It May concern P.O.Box Postcode, Town Nation Institute of Nursing and Health Sciences

P.O. Box 1153 Blindern N-0318 Oslo

> Tel: +47 22 858 410 Fax: +47 22 858 411

Date: 15. April 2009 Your ref.: Our ref.:

http://www.med.uio.no/ish

# Declaration describing the independent research contribution of the candidate

The work of writing the paper "Negative experiences of organizational change from an emotions perspective: A qualitative study from the Norwegian nursing sector" was carried out by Fay Giæver. Associate professor Ragnhild Hellesø contributed in discussions and provided feedback on the different versions.

Yours sincerely

Pagnhelattelle Associate professor